## PRE-EXISTING INFLAMMATION PRODUCES DEPRESSION FOLLOWING

## SPINAL CORD INJURY

## A Dissertation

by

## KIRALYN BRAKEL

## Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	Michelle A. Hook
Committee Members,	Farida Sohrabji
	James W. Grau
	Mary Meagher
Head of Department,	Michael Smotherman

August 2020

Major Subject: Neuroscience

Copyright 2020 Kiralyn Brakel

### ABSTRACT

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a significant, but understudied, consequence of spinal cord injury (SCI). Approximately 11-24% of SCI patients experience MDD, compared to 8% in the general population, yet there are no therapies specific for SCI patients. Previously, we have shown that one-third of spinally injured rats exhibit behavioral, physiological, and immunological correlates of depression. This is concomitant with the human population, and, moreover, indicates that a biological mechanism is responsible for the rise in depression after SCI. As increased inflammation is strongly associated with depression in both animal and human studies, it is likely that the immune activation inherent to SCI fosters future depression. To address this hypothesis, the experiments presented here explored the impact of inflammation on depression in a rat model of SCI. The first experiment evaluated the protective effects of minocycline, an anti-inflammatory drug, on the development of depression. The results indicated that inflammation after injury may not influence depression, but that higher inflammatory profiles before injury predicted depressive outcomes. The next experiment explored the sufficiency of pre-existing inflammation for the development of depression after injury. Pre-treatment with the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 produced a significant elevation in incidence of depression following SCI. Finally, I investigated the hypothesis that pre-existing inflammation may lead to glucocorticoid resistance, dysregulation of the immune response after injury, and subsequent depression. Refuting this hypothesis, I found that subjects with pre-existing inflammation did not have higher corticosterone levels post-injury, although they did have elevated depression-like behaviors. Together, the findings here suggest that pre-existing inflammation predicts susceptibility to depression following a major stressor, such as SCI. These results underscore the importance of a deeper understanding of the relationship between stress and inflammation, and the impact of pre-existing differences on psychiatric health care.

# DEDICATION

To Dr. Steiner, Dr. Van Zant, and Professor Pytel, who shaped the foundations of my journey in science.

And to Ellen, who convinced me to apply to Texas A&M. If it weren't for you, I wouldn't be writing this dissertation.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee chair, Dr. Hook, and my committee members, Dr. Sohrabji, Dr. Grau, and Dr. Meagher, for their guidance and support throughout the last five years. I am grateful for the support of Sylvia Bernal and the faculty and students of the TAMIN department the Department of Neuroscience and Experimental Therapeutics, whose collaborations have frequently saved the day. I also thank all of the members of the Hook lab, past and present, for their continual help. Dr. Miriam Aceves, Josie Rau, Ravali Dundumulla, Mabel Terminal, Alex Stefanov, and many excellent undergrads, you are invaluable, and I could not have completed this work without you.

Finally, I thank my family and friends who have supported me personally and professionally. My parents for giving me the foundations for success in all things. Kelsey for having all the answers (and tele-necropsies). Ellen and Lauren for advice, friendship, and baked goods. And most definitely Nate, for making marriage always a pleasure and never a chore. You have all been here when I needed you most.

#### CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

## Contributors

This work was supervised by a dissertation committee consisting of Professor Michelle Hook (chair) and Professor Farida Sohrabji of the Department of Neuroscience and Experimental Therapeutics, and Professor James Grau and Professor Mary Meagher of the Department of Psychology.

The lesion analysis and neurogenesis data presented in Experiment 1 (Chapter III) was obtained with Aryana Garza and Grace Yoo, as independent undergraduate research projects under the supervision of Dr. Michelle Hook. The rtPCR data presented in Experiment 3 (Chapter V) was obtained with help from Nihal Salem, a graduate student of Dr. Rajesh Miranda of the Department of Neuroscience and Experimental Therapeutics. All other work for the dissertation was completed by the student independently.

## Funding

Graduate study was supported by the Texas A&M Graduate Merit Fellowship. This research was also supported by funding from Mission Connect, a project of the TIRR Foundation, and the Gillson Logenbaugh Foundation.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
------

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF TABLES	xii
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Depression following spinal cord injury SCI and inflammation Inflammation and depression after SCI	1 
Molecular mechanisms of inflammation-driven depression	8
Hypothalamic nituitary adrenal (HPA) axis hyperreactivity	10
Neurogenesis	19
Therapeutic strategies for depression after SCI	
Specific Aims	24
CHAPTER II GENERAL METHODOLOGY	28
Subjects	
Surgery	
Assessment of depression-like behavior	29
Sucrose Preference	29
Social Interaction	31
Open Field Activity	31
Burrowing	31
Forced Swim	31
Assessment of locomotor recovery	32
Assessment of sensory reactivity	33

Girdle Test	33
Mechanical nociceptive reactivity	33
Thermal nociceptive reactivity	34
Serum Collection	34
Tissue collection	35
Cytokine, BDNF, and serotonin assays	35
Histological lesion reconstruction	36
Immunofluorescent staining for neurogenesis	38
RNA extraction and rtPCR	39
Statistics	40
CHAPTER III MINOCYCLINE AND DEPRESSION AFTER SPINAL CORD	1.0
INJURY	42
Introduction	42
Methods and results	44
One-third of SCI rats develop depression	45
Minocycline does not impact water consumption or incidence of depression Locomotor recovery	46 48
Minocycline treatment increased pain reactivity thresholds	48
Neither depression nor minocycline affected lesion size	50
Subjects that develop depression have elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles	52
Serotonin is decreased in brains of depressed subjects	55
Neurogenesis	55
Discussion	56
CHAPTER IV IL-6 PRE-TREATMENT INCREASES DEPRESSION	
FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY	65
Introduction	65
Methods and Results	68
IL-6 increases incidence of depression	68
Sensory recovery	71
Cytokines	74
Serotonin and BDNF	74
Discussion	77
CHAPTER V STRESS BEFORE SCI AND THE GLUCOCORTICOID RESPON	<b>√SE 8</b> 4
Introduction	84
Methods and results	87
Depression occurred in 50% of contused animals regardless of stressors	88
Glucocorticoid response in depressed animals	88
Depressed rats exhibit less BDNF	91

Elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines in depression	
Sensory reactivity	
Discussion	96
CHAPTER VI DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	103
Depression in a rodent model of SCI	103
Inflammation and depression	
Inflammation's influence before injury	
Mechanisms of pre-existing inflammation-associated depression	111
Clinical significance	
Conclusion	113
REFERENCES	114

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Effects of spinal cord injury on inflammation9
Figure 2. Kynurenine pathway11
Figure 3. Glucocorticoid receptor and inhibition15
Figure 4. Behavioral testing schedule
Figure 5. Dendrogram of depression clusters46
Figure 6. Depression-like behaviors are apparent in a subset of SCI animals47
Figure 7. Minocycline does not affect depression-like behaviors
Figure 8. Locomotor recovery in minocycline and depression groups
Figure 9. Sensory reactivity in minocycline groups
Figure 10. Sensory reactivity in depression groups
Figure 11. Lesion analysis in minocycline and depression groups53
Figure 12. Inflammation is elevated in depressed patients
Figure 13. Brain serotonin and BDNF levels in depression groups56
Figure 14. Neurogenesis is decreased in depressed subjects
Figure 15. Depression behaviors in sham and contused rats
Figure 16. Depression behavior among IL-6 pre-treatment groups72
Figure 17. Locomotor recovery among IL-6 pre-treatment groups73
Figure 18. Sensory reactivity of sham and contused rats74
Figure 19. Sensory reactivity of IL-6 pre-treatment groups75
Figure 20. IL-6 levels in pre-treated rats76
Figure 21. BDNF expression in depression and IL-6 pre-treatment groups77
Figure 22. Serotonin expression in depression and IL-6 pre-treatment groups78 x

Figure 23. Depression behavior after SCI	89
Figure 24. Stress increases corticosterone	90
Figure 25. Corticosterone in depressed rats	91
Figure 26. BDNF and serotonin in depressed rats	92
Figure 27. Glucocorticoid receptor expression in depressed rats	92
Figure 28. Depressed subjects exhibit higher inflammation before SCI	94
Figure 29. TNF correlates with glucocorticoid expression	95
Figure 30. Sensorry reactivity in depressed rats	95

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Glucocorticoid re	ceptor primer sequen	ces	40
----------------------------	----------------------	-----	----

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW<sup>1</sup>

#### **Depression following spinal cord injury**

While paralysis or loss of limb function is the most recognizable consequence of a spinal cord injury (SCI), SCI also affects psychological wellbeing. Approximately 22.2% of patients with SCI suffer from major depressive disorder (MDD) (Williams and Murray, 2015), an incidence nearly three times greater than the 8.1% in the general US population (Brody et al., 2018). An additional 16-34% of SCI patients report significant clinical symptoms of depression but do not meet the criteria for MDD (Bombardier et al., 2012; Krause et al., 2000; Migliorini et al., 2009).

The impact of depression on both physical and psychological health after SCI is also substantial. Depression is associated with an increased risk of suicide (Cao et al., 2014; Craig et al., 2015; DeVivo et al., 1991; Soden et al., 2000), an increased incidence of urinary tract infections and pressure ulcers, longer hospitalization stays, less adherence to rehabilitation protocols, lower community involvement, and greater unemployment (Elliott and Frank, 1996; Fuhrer et al., 1993; Herrick et al., 1994). However, despite its prevalence and its significant impact on quality of life, there has been relatively little research conducted on the etiology of depression after SCI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Portions of this chapter are reprinted with permission from "SCI and depression: Does inflammation commandeer the brain?" by Kiralyn Brakel & Michelle Hook, 2019. Experimental Neurology, 320, Article 112977, Copyright 2019 by Elsevier Inc.

Injury characteristics *per se* do not appear to affect mental health scores (Abrantes-Pais et al., 2007; Charlifue et al., 2011; Leduc and Lepage, 2002; Tramonti et al., 2014), but psychosocial changes are associated with the development of depression. As in the general population, individuals with poor social relationships are more likely to experience mental health problems than those with satisfactory social relationships (de la Vega et al., 2018; Dodd et al., 2015; Kraft and Dorstyn, 2015; Müller et al., 2012; Tough et al., 2017; Zürcher et al., 2019). Environmental barriers (i.e. lack of physical accessibility) and low access to assistance (e.g. health care and home caregiver services) are significant obstacles for social participation after SCI (Hammel et al., 2015; Tsai et al., 2017). Loss of employment, insurance, and income after SCI, together with the high costs of ongoing medical care and accommodations necessary to adapt with disability, can also lead to a decline in socioeconomic status (Fyffe et al., 2011; Paul et al., 2013). In the United States, even among people with SCI that do return to work, women, minorities, and those that have not completed a college degree earn less, further contributing to financial strain (Krause and Broderick, 2004; Krause and Pickelsimer, 2008; Krause and Saunders, 2009; Krause and Terza, 2006). Not surprisingly, individuals with financial strain are also more likely to report general mental health problems and depressive symptomatology after SCI (Fekete et al., 2014; Krause et al., 2000; Lim et al., 2017; Zürcher et al., 2019). Personal and environmental changes such as these are meaningful risk factors for development of depression following SCI.

Resilience (the process of positive behavioral and psychological adaptation in the context of significant adversity) is vital for protection against depression after SCI, but it

can be weakened by a number of psychosocial and biological factors (Catalano et al., 2011; Dodd et al., 2015; Min et al., 2014; Todd and Worell, 2000). For example, personality and the ability to apply active coping strategies (problem solving, seeking support, exercising) have been shown to boost resilience, but work in animals models suggests that neurobiological processes, especially inflammation, reduce resilience and increase susceptibility to depression (Cairns et al., 2014; Gardner et al., 2009; Hodes et al., 2014; Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016; Menard et al., 2017; Oshio et al., 2018; Riolli et al., 2002; Wood et al., 2015). Because inflammation is a hallmark of SCI and has been strongly associated with susceptibility to stress, it may provide the link between SCI and subsequent depression.

### **SCI and inflammation**

Inflammation resulting from SCI has been well described (Davies et al., 2007; Popovich et al., 1997). Immediately following injury, peripheral macrophages infiltrate into the spinal cord, and resident, resting microglia transform into activated microglia (Popovich et al., 1997). Inflammation persists as neutrophils, microglia, and macrophages are attracted to the injury site, where they attempt to remove dead cells and promote healing. While acute inflammation can have beneficial effects, the chronic inflammation that develops with SCI has serious negative outcomes, including neuropathic pain, metabolic disorders, and even, ironically, immune system impairment (Allison and Ditor, 2015a; Sun et al., 2016).

Importantly, inflammation is not confined to the primary site of injury, or even the spinal cord. After SCI, the brain also expresses pro-inflammatory cytokines associated

with activated microglia (Wu et al., 2014a). These microglia release cytotoxic and proinflammatory agents, producing neurotoxicity and causing cell death and related behavioral changes (Takeuchi, 2010; Wu et al., 2014a). Activated microglia have been identified in the thalamus, hippocampus, and frontal cortex in a rodent model of SCI; they activate as soon as 7 days after injury and remain so for at least 10 weeks post-SCI (Wu et al., 2014a; Wu et al., 2014b).

Further, the inflammatory response after SCI is not limited to the central nervous system (CNS). Emerging evidence indicates that activated, inflammatory microglia can migrate in and out of the spinal cord after a spinal nerve avulsion, carrying debris from the injury site to both the periphery and brain (Green et al., 2019). Additionally, SCI can lead to gut dysbiosis and bacterial translocation across the gut wall. Bacterial translocation, in turn, results in heightened immune activity in gut-associated lymphoid tissue and, subsequently, systemic immune activity and inflammation (Kigerl et al., 2016). Persistent peripheral inflammation does develop in a subset of patients after SCI. In fact, 1 year after injury, more than half of people living with SCI display elevated serum IL-2 and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) levels, while exhibiting no differences in antiinflammatory cytokine levels (Hayes et al., 2002). Interestingly, even among SCI patients who are asymptomatic for other complications (pressure ulcers, pain, or urinary tract infections), there is a subset of individuals that have IL-6 levels about equal to those of patients with ongoing complications contributing to inflammation (Davies et al., 2007). These data indicate that there is a population of SCI patients who experience elevated inflammation, regardless their injury status. However, we do not know if these individuals with high pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles also experience significantly different clinical outcomes. Given the association between depression and inflammation, as discussed below, it would be important to know whether high inflammatory profiles affect psychological wellbeing.

#### Inflammation and depression after SCI

As we learn more about depression, we have begun to realize that it is not a disease merely of the brain or the mind. In the past few decades, considerable evidence has suggested a connection between inflammation and depression. Pro-inflammatory cytokine upregulation has been described in both peripheral tissue and the central nervous systems of depressed individuals (Lindqvist et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012; Loftis et al., 2010; Maes et al., 1997; Maes et al., 1995; Maes et al., 1993; Myint et al., 2005; Pandey et al., 2012). Chronic inflammation has been noted in many cases of major depression, and depression itself is often comorbid with diseases characterized by chronic inflammation or injury to the CNS. For example, there can be up to 50% lifetime prevalence of depression among patients with multiple sclerosis (Siegert and Abernethy, 2005), patients with psoriasis, inflammatory bowel disease, and arthritis also have increased likelihoods of developing depression (Jensen et al., 2016; Marrie et al., 2017; Olivier et al., 2010; Siegert and Abernethy, 2005). Further, interferon- $\alpha$  (IFN- $\alpha$ ) immunotherapies for diseases such as cancer and hepatitis C cause a significant increase in depressive symptoms in patients, with up to 50% developing major depression (Capuron et al., 2009; Capuron et al., 2002). Similarly, in animal models, central or systemic administration of pro-inflammatory cytokines produces a "sickness" behavior that is characterized by behavioral and physiological changes associated with depression (Anisman et al., 2005). These depressive-like symptoms can last for several weeks after administration (Anisman and Merali, 2003; Schmidt et al., 2003), long after the levels of exogenously applied cytokines have subsided. Symptoms of this inflammatory treatment are attenuated by the clinically-relevant antidepressant, fluoxetine (Merali et al., 2003). These data indicate a causative, rather than merely a correlative, relationship between pro-inflammatory cytokines and depression.

Animal studies have also found that depression after SCI is associated with increased inflammation. A clip compression injury resulted in elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6) in both blood plasma and the spinal cord of spinally injured female rats with depression-like symptoms (decreased sucrose preference and social interaction), compared to sham and injury-naïve rats, for up to 28 days post injury (do Espírito Santo et al., 2019a). Others have found behavioral deficits and signs of an activated immune response in the brain after SCI in mice. In a comprehensive evaluation of cerebral inflammation after SCI, Wu et al. (2014b) analyzed cognition, depressive-like behaviors (as measured by tail suspension test and sucrose preference test), cerebral microglial activation, and cell cycle activity in spinally injured mice. They found that spinally injured mice showed more depression-like behavior than their uninjured counterparts and that administration of CR8, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor and cell-cycle inhibitor, decreased microglial activation, reduced neuronal cell death, and reversed the depression behaviors (Wu et al., 2014b).

Using a comprehensive behavioral ethogram and statistical analyses, our laboratory was one of the first to describe depression behavior in a subset of SCI rats (Luedtke et al., 2014). Using hierarchical clustering, we are able to identify specific subjects that show depression-like behavior after SCI, allowing us to more effectively explore individual differences between depression susceptible and resilient animals. Luedtke et al. (2014) found that 35% of spinally injured rats developed depression symptoms in the month following a T12 contusion injury, a percentage concomitant with the human population (Williams and Murray, 2015). Subsequently, we have found that "depressed" and "not-depressed" SCI rats differ in their molecular responses to injury (Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016). Inflammatory cytokines increased in both the serum and the hippocampi of depressed SCI rats, compared to both the intact controls and the not-depressed SCI rats. By 24 days post-injury, SCI rats exhibiting depression-like behaviors had higher IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-17A in their serum and higher IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF $\alpha$  in their hippocampi, indicating that depression after SCI is associated with increased inflammation, even relative to not-depressed SCI subjects. These studies show that even in the absence of external psychological stressors, inflammation is associated with depression after SCI.

One of the few studies examining the interaction between inflammation and depression after SCI in humans investigated the therapeutic impact of an antiinflammatory diet (Allison and Ditor, 2015b). Participants eliminated inflammationinducing foods, such as refined wheat and sugar, from their diets and introduced antiinflammatory supplements, such as curcumin, omega-3 fatty acids, and antioxidants. One month after the start of treatment, patients on the diet had lower IL-1 $\beta$  and lower scores on the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale than they did before the start of treatment. Though the treatment itself did not target one, specific, inflammatory mechanism of depression, this study measured kynurenine and tryptophan levels in patients' serum, which are products of an inflammation-driven alternative tryptophan pathway. The changes in patients' depression scores were positively correlated to the changes in kynurenine and the tryptophan/kynurenine ratios in these patients. These findings support both the inflammatory theory of depression and the tryptophan/kynurenine pathway as a mechanism of action, which will be discussed below.

## Molecular mechanisms of inflammation-driven depression

Pharmacological studies have shown that interventions targeting inflammatory pathways significantly alter the expression of neurotransmitters implicated in depression. Peripheral inflammatory signals may impact brain function in several ways. As shown in Figure 1, peripheral inflammatory signals modulate serotonin (5-HT) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) pathways, and activate the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Anisman, 2009; Audet and Anisman, 2013; Maes et al., 2011; Miller and Raison, 2016; Raison et al., 2010; Zhu et al., 2010). The link between decreased serotonin and depression is well-established, and this system is already targeted by standard antidepressants (Coppen and Doogan, 1988; Fakhoury, 2016; Kambeitz and Howes, 2015). More recent data, however, have shown that BDNF is also associated with depression, most likely through its ability to promote neurogenesis. BDNF expression and protein levels are lower in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampi of individuals who die



#### Figure 1. Effects of spinal cord injury on inflammation.

Spinal cord injury (SCI) has major effects throughout the body and influences inflammatory response in multiple systems. Under normal conditions, the hypothalamus creates corticosterone releasing hormone (CRH), which releases adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) in the pituitary gland, which acts on the adrenal gland to release cortisol. In immune cells, cortisol binds to the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) to inhibit nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) and promote negative feedback of the stress response. Inflammation or gut dysbiosis from SCI disrupts the HPA axis and initiates immune response in monocytes via cytokine receptors or toll-like receptors (TLR), increasing NF- $\kappa$ B production, which prevents transcription of anti-inflammatory factors and promotes transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Pro-inflammatory cytokines can travel directly to the brain, where they continue to stimulate the HPA axis. Monocytes also travel to the brain via circulation and then release inflammatory factors that convert resting microglia into their active, inflammatory state.

by suicide than in age- and sex-matched controls (Dwivedi et al., 2003). BDNF levels also inversely correlate with the degree of clinical impairment, as well as with reductions of hippocampal volume, and they normalize with successful antidepressant treatment (Huang et al., 2008; Shimizu et al., 2003). Importantly, there is evidence that SCI itself reduces BDNF in both the spinal cord and hippocampus (Fumagalli et al., 2009; Garraway et al., 2011; Hajebrahimi et al., 2008; King et al., 2000; Liebl et al., 2001). While dysregulation of other neurotransmitters, such as dopamine, have also been associated with depression in other models, the literature reviewed here will focus on serotonin and BDNF, as both have been heavily implicated in depression and SCI. The following sections review the molecular mechanisms that may underlie the development of depression in conditions characterized by inflammation, such as SCI.

## Cytokine mediated effects on depression via the kynurenine cycle

The kynurenine pathway of tryptophan metabolism has been heavily implicated as a causal factor in the development of inflammation-induced depression. As shown in Figure 2, cytokine-induced activation of the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) decreases serotonin and BDNF levels, in part by diverting the metabolism of tryptophan (the primary precursor of serotonin) into kynurenine, decreasing serotonergic availability (Maes et al., 2011; Müller, 2016; Raison et al., 2010). Cytokines like IL-1 $\beta$  and IFN- $\gamma$  can also increase kynurenine 3-monooxygenase (KMO) levels in microglia and neurons (Connor et al., 2008; Corona et al., 2010; Gonzalez-Pena et al., 2016; Guillemin et al., 2003; Laumet et al., 2017). KMO is a key enzyme for the metabolism of kynurenine into 3-hydroxy-kynurenine (3-HK). 3-HK is then transformed into quinolinic acid (QUIN) by



#### Figure 2. Kynurenine pathway.

The amino acid tryptophan is an essential precursor to serotonin. However, it can also be converted to kynurenine, most commonly in the liver, through tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO), or, throughout the rest of the body and especially the central nervous system, through indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). Kynurenine is further metabolized into kynurenic acid, an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) antagonist or into quinolinic acid, an NMDAR agonist, which can produce neurotoxicity and decrease brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in the brain. Cortisol can activate TDO, while proinflammatory cytokines activate both IDO and kynurenine monooxygenase (KMO). Anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-4, can inhibit IDO. *Red text: neurotoxic, red arrows: activation, blue dashes: inhibition.* 

kynureninase and 3-hydroxyanthralinic acid dioxygenase (Schwarcz and Stone, 2017). QUIN, which is excitotoxic, over-activates the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor (Heyes et al., 1992; Heyes et al., 1991; Schwarcz et al., 1983), and, together with cytokine-induced reductions in astrocytic glutamate reuptake and stimulation of astrocytic glutamate release, leads to excessive glutamate both within and outside the synapse (Bryleva and Brundin, 2016). Excessive glutamate binding to extrasynaptic NMDA

receptors can, in turn, lead to increased excitotoxicity and decreased BDNF (Santana-Martínez et al., 2018).

Dysregulation of kynurenine metabolism is linked to depression at multiple levels. In rodents, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) administration induces expression of IDO, IFN-γ, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\beta$ , while also decreasing sucrose preference and increasing immobility in the forced swim and tail suspension tests (O'connor et al., 2009). IDO is the rate-limiting step of kynurenine production, and its upregulation leads to decreased serotonin and increased neurotoxic factors. O'Connor and colleagues found that administration of 1-methyltryptophan, a competitive IDO inhibitor, blocked the development of depression after LPS administration (O'connor et al., 2009; Salazar et al., 2012). Similarly, the attenuated *Mycobacterium bovis*, bacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) increased expression of IDO, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  in the brain and produced depression-like behavior (Moreau et al., 2008). O'Connor et al. (2009) showed that the depressive phenotype and kynurenine dysregulation produced by BCG is absent in IDO and IFN- $\gamma$  knockout mice.

KMO activity is also significantly increased following a peripheral immune challenge with LPS (Parrott et al., 2016b). Targeted deletion of the KMO gene prevented the expression of depression-like behaviors on the tail suspension test and increased spontaneous alterations on the Y-maze (a measure of working memory) after LPS administration, suggesting that hippocampus-dependent behaviors may be particularly vulnerable to neurotoxic dysregulation of kynurenine metabolism (Parrott et al., 2016a). Similarly, Laumet et al. (2017) showed that KMO activity is necessary for the development of depression after a spared nerve injury. They found that inhibition of KMO activity reverses depression-like behavior in the forced swim test after injury (Laumet et al., 2017). Interestingly, Wang et al. (2017) also found an association between polymorphisms of the *KMO* gene and the incidence of postpartum depression symptoms in women. Heightened KMO activity, arising from KMO rs1053230 G/A genetic variations, were associated with a higher serum 3-HK/KYN ratio and increased susceptibility to develop depression (Wang et al., 2017). KMO appears to be a pivotal mediator of depression-like behaviors.

Increased KMO activity leads to elevations in neurotoxic metabolites including QUIN. This metabolite is produced by microglia and macrophages, and it exerts neurotoxic effects through multiple different mechanisms, including activation of the NMDA receptor (Guillemin, 2012). Suicide victims have increased levels of QUIN in their brains, and patients with major depression have increased microglial production of QUIN in the subgenual anterior cingulate cortex, a brain region implicated in the neurobiology of depression and often targeted for deep brain stimulation therapy (Harrison et al., 2009; Steiner et al., 2011). Additionally, QUIN can decrease BDNF in the brain by activating the inflammatory Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway (Santana-Martínez et al., 2018). Depression after SCI may depend on cytokine-mediated decreases in BDNF expression. Notably, current anti-depressants do not target BDNF. It has been proposed, however, that the rapid action of ketamine, an NMDAR antagonist which acts as an antidepressant in treatment-resistant patients may be mediated by the release of BDNF in the prefrontal cortex (Lepack et al., 2014; Murrough, 2012). Together, these results

illustrate the impact inflammatory cytokines can have on vital mechanisms involved in brain function and homeostasis.

#### Hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis hyperreactivity

Acute spinal cord injury not only increases inflammation, it also increases the glucocorticoid expression. In humans, urinary cortisol remains elevated for months after SCI (Campagnolo et al., 1999; Cruse et al., 2000). Similarly, after thoracic contusion injuries, rats and mice have elevated serum corticosterone levels (Gaudet et al., 2018; Gezici et al., 2009; Lucin et al., 2007; Popovich et al., 2001). Circulating corticosterone is elevated for 24 h after SCI and remains above control levels for up to 1 month postinjury in a rodent T8 contusion model (Popovich et al., 2001).

Typically, corticosteroids act as part of a homeostatic mechanism designed to control inflammation and regulate cell stress responses (Fig. 1). Glucocorticoids bind to glucocorticoid receptors (GR) in the cell cytosol, causing morphological change, phosphorylation of the receptor, and translocation into the cell nucleus, where the receptor regulates the expression of target genes (Fig. 3). GR translocation is necessary for the inhibition of nuclear factor-kappaB (NF- $\kappa$ B) and the transcriptional repression of inflammatory genes controlled by NF- $\kappa$ B (Bekhbat et al. 2017). Transactivation of anti-inflammatory genes by the GR, such as the I $\kappa$ B proteins, also suppresses the nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B and inflammation (Newton et al., 2007). Activation of the GR plays a significant role in modulating the effects of stress on the immune system.

Depression, however, has been associated with glucocorticoid resistance (the inability of glucocorticoids to exert their effects on target tissues), which undermines the



#### Figure 3. Glucocorticoid receptor and inhibition.

A) Cortisol binds to the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), which causes dissociation of the heat shock protein and phosphorylation of GR. GR then translocates into the nucleus, where it dimerizes and acts as a transcription factor for a number of genes, such as inhibitor  $\kappa$ - $\beta$  (I $\kappa\beta$ ), and directly binding to and inactivating NF- $\kappa$ B. B) IL-1 binds to its receptor and activates mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) kinases (MKK), which results in the activation of Jun amino-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 kinase, both of which can phosphorylate GR further and inactivate it. JNK can also phosphorylate cJun, allowing it to create a heterodimer with cFos and interact with the GR. C) TNF- $\alpha$  binds to its receptor and activates I $\kappa$ B kinase  $\beta$ , which phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B and allows NF- $\kappa$ B to enter the nucleus and bind to GCR, inactivating both molecules. D) IFN- $\alpha$  binds to its receptor and causes Janus kinase (JAK) phosphorylation, which then phosphorylates signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) proteins, which inhibit GR activity in the nucleus. glucocorticoid-mediated inhibition of inflammatory processes. Under stressful conditions, the hypothalamus releases corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH), which induces the pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH). ACTH subsequently travels to the adrenal glands and causes them to release glucocorticoids (cortisol in humans or corticosterone in rodents). Binding to their receptors in the HPA axis, endogenous glucocorticoids serve as potent negative regulators of HPA axis activity (De Kloet et al., 1998). When the HPA axis fails to induce negative feedback, however, it continues producing cortisol. In patients with major depression, numerous studies have shown loss of glucocorticoid-mediated negative feedback (Gold et al., 1988; Heuser et al., 1994; Holsboer and Barden, 1996). For example, Heuser et al. (1994) found that administering dexamethasone, an exogenous glucocorticoid, lowered levels of circulating cortisol and ACTH in healthy controls but had no effect in depressed patients. A significant percentage of depressed individuals also have higher levels of cortisol throughout their bodies, in urine, cerebrospinal fluid, plasma, and serum. They also have larger, hyperactive pituitary and adrenal glands, indicating that they are producing excess glucocorticoids and that they may not be able to effectively metabolize these glucocorticoids (Nemeroff and Vale, 2005; Pariante and Miller, 2001).

Several mechanisms have been identified as contributors to the development of glucocorticoid resistance. Depressed patients and people subject to early childhood stress (a predictor for future depression) tend to have mutations in their GR genes, and they have decreased levels of the active GR isoform (GR $\alpha$ ) compared to non-depressed controls (Alt et al., 2010; Bet et al., 2009; Carvalho et al., 2014). Inflammatory cytokines also have a

direct impact on GR function. A number of studies have demonstrated that treatment with pro-inflammatory cytokines, like IL-1 and IL-6, decreases GR function, which reduces sensitivity to the functional effects of glucocorticoids and lowers GR affinity for its ligand (Maddock and Pariante, 2001; Miller et al., 1999; Pariante et al., 1999). Additionally, stimulating IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, or IL-10, as well as IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  or IFN- $\gamma$ , activates the Jak-STAT pathway, and IL-1 or TNF- $\alpha$  activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. Both pathways ultimately produce more inflammatory products and phosphorylate the GR at key residues to prevent its action in the nucleus (Fig. 3) (Pace et al., 2007). The large body of work indicating GR inhibition upon the addition of inflammatory molecules link cytokine activity with glucocorticoid resistance.

Interestingly, it has recently been proposed that dysfunctional glucocorticoids not only signal less effectively, but that they may also produce a pro-inflammatory response (Frank et al., 2011; Horowitz and Zunszain, 2015). Glucocorticoid signaling has been demonstrated to enhance inflammation under both stress (Blandino Jr et al., 2009; Frank et al., 2010; Frank et al., 2012; Kelly et al., 2018; Munhoz et al., 2006; Smyth et al., 2004) and central nervous system injury conditions (Dinkel et al., 2002; Sorrells et al., 2013). Glucocorticoids can upregulate the expression of the TLR2 and TLR4, which are activated by pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules (PAMPS) and damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPS), and initiate signaling cascades that lead to the synthesis and release of inflammatory mediators (Hermoso et al., 2004; Weber et al., 2013). Busillo et al. (2011) also showed that glucocorticoids positively regulate the expression of the NLRP3 inflammasome in macrophages, sensitizing macrophages to extracellular ATP and increasing the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL- $1\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6 (Busillo et al., 2011). Therapies that address glucocorticoid resistance will be pivotal in the treatment of depression, and particularly in decreasing vulnerability of stress-induced relapse.

The switch from anti- to pro-inflammatory glucocorticoid activity has also been linked to other molecules, besides cytokines, upregulated by SCI. Frank et al. (2015) suggested that stress-induced elevations in central glucocorticoids result in activation of GRs and, through an unknown mechanism, increase the secretion of High-Mobility Group Box 1 (HMGB1) which then primes the NLRP3 inflammasome. HMGB1 is significantly increased in both the acute and chronic phases of SCI (Chen et al., 2011; Kigerl et al., 2018; Papatheodorou et al., 2017), and it is a potent systemic inflammatory cytokine, that can selectively bind multiple receptors (e.g. RAGE and TLRs) to activate many cell types, including macrophages and monocytes to produce cytokines (Andersson et al., 2000; He et al., 2012; Tang et al., 2014). After injury, elevations of HMGB1 may not only increase inflammation and susceptibility to depression but may also maintain the inflammatory response. Further, macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), which is also elevated in rodent models and in humans in the acute and chronic stages of SCI (Bank et al., 2015; Koda et al., 2004; Stein et al., 2013; Su et al., 2017), can counter-regulate the effects of glucocorticoids (Aeberli et al., 2006; Calandra et al., 1995; Pariante et al., 1999). Intriguingly, corticotropin releasing hormone, which induces pituitary ACTH secretion, also stimulates MIF secretion from the anterior pituitary (Calandra et al., 1995; Nishino et al., 1995; Tierney et al., 2005; Waeber et al., 1999). Calandra et al. (1995) showed that MIF then dose-dependently decreases the glucocorticoid inhibition of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-8 secretion by LPS-stimulated human monocytes. Once secreted, MIF exhibits a broad range of immune and inflammatory activities, including the induction of inflammatory cytokines (Calandra and Roger, 2003). Elevated levels of MIF have also been associated with depressive symptoms (Bay-Richter et al., 2015; Edwards et al., 2010; Musil et al., 2011; Xu et al., 2018). These data suggest that the molecular changes induced by SCI may increase susceptibility to depression via glucocorticoid dysregulation and inflammation.

The apparent need for GRs to regulate inflammation after SCI, and the prevalence of glucocorticoid system dysfunction in a portion of the depressed population, presents a unique explanation for depression after SCI. SCI acts as an acute and chronic stressor that activates the immune response and engages the glucocorticoid system. Individuals with pre-existing glucocorticoid dysfunction or inflammation-induced glucocorticoid resistance, may be more susceptible to depression that results from inflammation.

## Neurogenesis

Adult neurogenesis, the process by which the mature brain develops new neurons, may also play a role in depression. The neurogenesis hypothesis of depression states that neurogenesis is, at least partly, responsible for the hippocampal volume loss and gray matter structural changes found in many patients with major depression (Kempermann and Kronenberg, 2003). Neurogenesis is a slow process, so changes in cell proliferation are unlikely to be responsible for immediate/short-term decline or recovery from depression. However, neurogenesis can be affected by all of the molecular mechanisms discussed so far (serotonin, BDNF, glucocorticoid signaling, and inflammation), and it may be indicative of reduced brain plasticity, which has been proposed as a mechanism of depression. According to this theory, depression may arise from the brain's inability to adapt and respond to changes in its environment, getting "stuck" in mental ruts. Decreased neurogenesis represents just one element of brain plasticity; full exploration of plasticity's role in depression goes beyond the scope of this work.

Decreased neurogenesis has been observed in multiple models of stress and depression, but anti-depressants consistently restore normal neurogenesis, giving rise to its validity as at least a marker, and possibly causative agent, of depression. For example, Malberg and Duman (2003) observed decreased BrdU (a marker for proliferating cells in the CNS) labeling in the hippocampi of rats susceptible to inescapable shock stress. When they administered the antidepressant fluoxetine during the inescapable shock, neuronal proliferation was protected, and the associated depression behavior was attenuated (Malberg and Duman, 2003). Many other researchers have seen similar results: Three to six weeks of physical restraint stress significantly reduces cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus of rats (Pham et al., 2003), and repeated social defeat stress elevates serum corticosterone levels, while decreasing hippocampal granule cell proliferation and survival (Czéh et al., 2002).

As mentioned, neurogenesis is closely related to serotonin and BDNF regulation in the brain. As a neurotrophin, one of BDNF's primary roles is to promote neurogenesis. It binds to cell-surface receptors, commonly TrkB, and initiates signal cascades that result in the activation of genes involved in neural plasticity, stress resistance, and cellular survival (Bathina and Das, 2015). Overexpression of BDNF in the hippocampus has been shown to both increase neurogenesis and decrease anxiety-like behaviors in mice, similar to the activity of fluoxetine (Quesseveur et al., 2013). Conversely, reductions of BDNF, whether through genetic manipulation or other means, decrease differentiation and maturation of neuronal precursors in the dentate gyrus (Waterhouse et al., 2012). Further, BDNF itself may be an anti-depressant; in a rat model of learned helplessness, BDNF infusion directly to the dentate gyrus reduced depression-like behaviors to a degree similar to standard anti-depressants (Shirayama et al., 2002).

Similarly, serotonin, which has marked anti-depressant effects, can also influence neurogenesis. However, serotonin has a more complicated relationship with neurogenesis than BDNF. It has been shown to both increase and decrease hippocampal neurogenesis, and it has been proposed that serotonin's oppositional effects are due to its interactions with multiple types of 5-HT receptors (Brezun and Daszuta, 1999; Klempin et al., 2010; Song et al., 2016). Significantly, though, standard anti-depressants, such as sertraline, venlafaxine, and escitalopram, and especially those that work on the serotonin system, like fluoxetine, consistently promote neurogenesis while reducing depressive symptoms (Anacker et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2005; Mahar et al., 2014; Peng et al., 2008; Santarelli et al., 2003; Sen et al., 2008; Shimizu et al., 2003). Santarelli et al. (2003) showed that multiple common antidepressants increase neuronal proliferation and reduce anxiety/depression-like behavior. They further showed that these results were blocked in 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> (the serotonin receptor primarily affected by fluoxetine) knockout mice, showing

that the serotonergic effects are necessary for the restoration of neurogenesis and the reduction of depression behavior (Santarelli et al., 2003).

Finally, inflammation can decrease neurogenesis. IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  have all been shown to decrease hippocampal neuronal proliferation and differentiation (Kim et al., 2016). IL-1 $\beta$  activates NF- $\kappa$ B, which then blocks the transcription of genes necessary for neurogenesis. Applying an NF- $\kappa$ B antagonist blocks the negative effects of restraint stress *in vivo*, and it rescues neurogenesis after application of IL-1 $\beta$  to hippocampal neurons *in vitro* (Koo et al., 2010). Similarly, an NF- $\kappa$ B antagonist restores hippocampal cell proliferation after systemic inflammation, while blocking IL-6 *in vitro* promotes proliferation (Monje et al., 2011; Monje et al., 2003). From these data, it is clear that neurogenesis interacts with many of the same molecular mechanisms that we attribute to depression and that it plays an important role in recovery from and possibly resilience to depression.

#### Therapeutic strategies for depression after SCI

Despite the prevalence of depression after SCI, little research has been published on therapeutic strategies for these patients. One literature review, published in 2004, found only nine empirical articles addressing treatments specific to patients experiencing depression after SCI (Elliott and Kennedy, 2004). Disappointingly, more recent years have not produced many more empirical studies. This dearth of information is distressing, as depression is so widely reported in the SCI community.

Currently, there are no specific treatments for depression after SCI, beyond those available to the general population. In the general population, tricyclics, norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are partially effective, but for 1/3 of patients, depression is still refractory. Among SCI patients, SSRIs are used most consistently (Fann et al., 2011), although there have historically been some concerns that they may cause spasticity, possibly through interaction with the 5-HT receptors that maintain motoneuron stability (Elbasiouny et al., 2010; Harvey et al., 2006; Murray et al., 2010; Stolp-Smith and Wainberg, 1999). However, even when taking SSRIs, many patients still experience meaningful depression (Fann et al., 2011). Few antidepressant clinical trials have been conducted specifically for SCI patients. Those that have, report slight improvements but, ultimately, only partial remission of depression symptoms (Fann et al., 2015). Empirical studies of other therapies, such as cognitive behavioral therapy, psychoeducation, and coping methods, show that they are typically effective during active rehabilitation but that patients relapse after discontinuing therapy (Dorstyn et al., 2010); (Mehta et al., 2011; Perkes et al., 2014). Well-defined treatment options for depression after SCI are clearly lacking, as are effective mental health followup for individuals no longer in a clinical treatment facility. There is a need for alternative antidepressants for use independently or in conjunction with previously established therapies.

In sum, the data suggest that standard antidepressants still have a remarkably low success rate, indicating that SCI introduces an additional layer of complexity to depression. I hypothesize that the chronic inflammation inherent to SCI contributes to the development of depression in this model, decreasing serotonin, BDNF, and neurogenesis. Some research has already demonstrated success in managing depression, in the general population, with anti-inflammatory drugs or cytokine inhibitors (Abbasi et al., 2012; Akhondzadeh et al., 2009; Brunello et al., 2006; Johansson et al., 2012; Maciel et al., 2013; Makunts et al., 2018). Given the high levels of baseline inflammation after SCI, this may be an effective strategy. Further understanding of the role of the inflammatory system and the molecular mechanisms mediating depression after SCI is imperative to effectively treat this affective disorder and improve quality of life for people living with spinal injury.

### **Specific Aims**

While some elements of depression after SCI might be similar to those associated with depression in the general population, depression after SCI is complicated by both the chronic psychosocial stressors associated with the injury and ongoing alterations of the inflammatory response in a subset of individuals. Data suggest that inflammatory cytokines and the glucocorticoid system play an important role in the propagation of depressive symptoms after CNS trauma, but research has yet to elucidate a mechanism. In the aims presented in Chapters III-V, I have worked to uncover this mechanism by manipulating inflammation before and after SCI in a rat model.

We have previously shown that SCI in rats causes an increase in depression-like behavior and that a subset of SCI animals displaying depression-like symptoms have higher expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Luedtke et al., 2014; Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016). This powerful model system enables us to identify molecular changes that are critical to SCI-induced depression, beyond what is seen in SCI *per se*. I hypothesize that suprathreshold inflammation leads to the development of depression and that reducing inflammation in the acute phase of SCI will decrease the development of
depression after injury. Minocycline is an FDA-approved tetracycline antibiotic with antiinflammatory properties, capable of crossing the blood brain barrier (Elewa et al., 2006). Importantly, it has also been shown to be neuroprotective, promote neurogenesis, and reduce depression-like behaviors in extant models (Camargos et al., 2020; Elewa et al., 2006; Li et al., 2016; Mejia et al., 2001; Ulndreaj et al., 2017). Minocycline works through a number of mechanisms, including reducing activation of microglial cells (Elewa et al., 2006; Garrido-Mesa et al., 2013; Hinwood et al., 2013). As microglial activation is a critical source of secondary inflammation immediately after SCI, reducing microglial production of inflammatory cytokines should reduce inflammation-induced depression after SCI. My first experiment (Chapter III) tests this hypothesis. Subjects were given minocycline in their drinking water for the first two weeks post-SCI, the time at which SCI-mediated inflammation is highest and may be most likely to cause depressive symptoms. I then evaluated depression behavior and serum cytokine levels for 30 days post-injury, using behavioral, molecular, and histological assays to determine the incidence of depression-like behavior and the efficacy of minocycline.

Intriguingly, I found that depression was not only associated with increased proinflammatory cytokine expression (particularly IL-6) post-injury, but it was also upregulated in the depressed SCI rats *before* injury, despite the fact that depression-like behavior developed only after injury. Others have also reported high IL-6 levels in the serum and plasma of patients and animals that are susceptible to developing depression. Mice that are vulnerable to developing depressive behaviors after repeated social defeat stress have elevated levels of plasma IL-6 immediately after their first defeat, whereas resilient animals do not, and their blood monocytes produce more IL-6 when stimulated with LPS, even before the social defeat (Hodes et al., 2014). Additionally, psychological stressors increase production of IL-6 from peripheral immune cells, and CSF IL-6 levels correlate with the intensity of depression in suicide attempters (Lindqvist et al., 2009). IL-6 is a critical component in the pro-inflammatory cycle and has been strongly associated with depression. It is necessary for immune defense, but prolonged production of it contributes to numerous diseases. Given these data, I hypothesized that elevating IL-6 prior to injury would increase susceptibility to depression after a stressor such as SCI. To test this hypothesis, I administered three different doses of IL-6 systemically for a week before SCI (Chapter IV). I then evaluated depression, pain, locomotor recovery, and brain BDNF and serotonin levels for one month post-injury, comparing and determining the percent of each IL-6 dose group that developed depression-like symptoms.

Lastly, I expanded my investigation to include the glucocorticoid system. Most of the molecular elements of depression influenced by inflammation (serotonin, BDNF, neurogenesis, etc.) act in conjunction with glucocorticoids. Glucocorticoid reception is an integral part of the homeostatic response to stress. People and animals experiencing depression often have disrupted responses to glucocorticoids (cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rats). Instead of initiating the expected negative feedback loop, excessive glucocorticoids stimulate further inflammation and stress signals. This is especially relevant to spinal cord injury, because there is evidence that SCI can disrupt otherwise normal glucocorticoid receptor levels and functions (Yan et al., 1999). It is likely that preexisting glucocorticoid receptor expression and functionality plays a major role in predisposition for the development of depression. In my third aim, I investigated whether cortisol levels after a minor stressor were associated with inflammation and predicted disposition to developing depression after SCI. To do this I evaluated corticosterone, glucocorticoid receptor levels, and serum cytokine levels in depressed versus not-depressed animals before and after SCI. As in previous aims, I collected baseline measurements of depression, pain behaviors, and serum cytokines. Two days before SCI, I subjected half of the subjects to a forced swim stress test as a minor, acute stressor. I then evaluated their pain and depression levels for a month following SCI and determined their depression grouping.

#### CHAPTER II

### GENERAL METHODOLOGY

#### **Subjects**

All subjects were young adult (2-3 months old, 275-300 grams), male, Sprague Dawley rats. The rats were single housed on a 12-hour light-dark cycle, with access to food and water ad libitum. Following surgery, subjects' bladders were manually expressed in the morning and evening until they regained full bladder control (operationally defined as three consecutive days with an empty bladder at the time of expression).

All of the experiments reported here were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee at Texas A&M University and all NIH guidelines for the care and use of animal subjects were followed.

# Surgery

Rats were given a moderate spinal cord injury with an Infinite Horizons impactor device (PSI, Fairfax Station, VA, USA). Subjects were anesthetized with 2-3% isoflurane. Once a surgical level of anesthesia was reached (absence of hindlimb pinch reflex or corneal reflex), the subject's back was shaved and disinfected with iodine and ethanol. A 5 cm incision was made through the skin on top of the spinal cord. Two incisions were made along the spinal column, spanning about 2 cm rostral to caudal, on either side of the T12 dorsal spinous process. Connective tissue and muscle surrounding the vertebrae were carefully cleared to allow room to clamp the vertebral column, and a laminectomy was performed at the T12 vertebra, exposing the L1-L2 spinal cord. The vertebral column was stabilized and clamped in place with mounted forceps, and a 150 kiloDyne force (1 sec dwell time) was delivered to the dorsal aspect of the exposed spinal cord. The wound was closed with Michel clips. After injury, rats received 3 ml of saline subcutaneously, to replace fluid loss, and 100,000 units/kg of penicillin G (i.p.) to prevent infection. Sham surgeries also involved incisions, a laminectomy, and clearing of the connective tissue around the spinal column, but the subjects did not receive a contusion with the impactor device. All subjects recovered for 24 hours in a warm environment, with food and water available ad libitum. The Michel clips were removed approximately 14 days after injury.

## Assessment of depression-like behavior

Before injury, and in the weeks following, subjects were assessed with a battery of behavioral tests for depression (Fig. 4). The tests are briefly described below.

# Sucrose Preference

Anhedonia was measured with the sucrose preference test. Prior to testing, subjects acclimated to a 2% sucrose solution until 75% sucrose preference was established. For the initial acclimation, they were given access to a 2% sucrose solution instead of water overnight. Then, for two additional acclimation periods and for testing, subjects were presented with two bottles, containing 2% sucrose or water, in their home cages for 2 hours. The positions of the bottles were reversed after one hour to control for any cage-side preference. Bottles were weighed before and after the two-hour test, and sucrose preference was calculated as the percent sucrose consumed out of the total liquid (sucrose plus water) consumption. A decrease in sucrose preference is indicative of anhedonia, or a loss of interest in previously pleasurable activities (Liu et al., 2018).



#### Figure 4. Behavioral testing schedule.

Behavioral testing for all experiments followed the same general schedule. Subjects were acclimated to the open field (OF)/social (SOC) arena, sucrose preference (SP) test, and burrowing tubes for a week and a half. Baseline testing was conducted the week before contusion injury. Depression behavior tests, pain sensitivity, and serum collection was conducted over 2-3 testing periods post-injury. Tissue was collected the day after the final test (forced swim test). Exp. 1: Minocycline was administered for 14 days immediately following SCI. Exp. 2: IL-6 was administered for 1 week following BL testing. Testing was repeated during IL-6 administration. Exp. 3: Forced swim stress test was administered again after BL testing, 2 days before SCI.

## Social Interaction

In the social interaction test, the subjects were placed in a 90x60x20 cm black box with a novel, uninjured rat of the same age and approximate weight. The time that the SCI (or sham) subject spent initiating social contact (sniffing, grooming, or pursuing the other animal) was measured and calculated as a percent of the total 5-minute test session.

### **Open Field Activity**

Open field activity is a common measure of psychomotor retardation or fatigue. In this test, the subject was placed in a 90x60x20 cm black box and allowed to explore for 5 minutes. Total distance traveled and total time spent in the center of the arena (defined as  $\geq$ 10 cm from a wall of the arena) during the 5-minute test session was measured using video tracking software (Ethovision).

# Burrowing

Burrowing was used as another measure of fatigue and anhedonia. A 10 (inner diameter) x 30 (length) cm capped PVC pipe filled with wood chips was placed into the subject's home cage for two hours. All tubes were filled to an equal level with loosely packed woodchips. The percent of the wood chips displaced by burrowing was measured as: Percent Burrowed = ([weight of the tube prior to test - weight of tube after test  $\div$  (weight of tube prior to test – weight of tube empty)] x 100).

# Forced Swim

For the forced swim test, the rat was placed into a clear plastic container (73 cm long x 40 cm wide x 46.4 cm high) filled with 28 cm of 23°C water and video recorded for 10 min. In *post hoc* video analyses, scorers blind to the subject's treatment measured

the time the rat spent immobile, operationalized as floating in the water without struggling and making only the necessary movements to keep its head above water. Greater immobility is associated with stress-induced and anti-depressant-reversible depression (Slattery and Cryan, 2012).

#### Assessment of locomotor recovery

The recovery of hindlimb function was scored using the Basso, Beattie, and Bresnahan (BBB) scale (Basso et al., 1995). A numerical assignment on this scale corresponds to specific milestones in locomotor recovery. For example, 0 indicates no hind limb movement, 1 is slight movement of one or two joints, 10 is occasional stepping with no coordination, and 21 is perfect stepping with perfect coordination between the fore- and hindlimbs (i.e. uninjured stepping). After injury, the locomotor capacity (BBB) of subjects was observed for 5 minutes and scored by a trained observer on days 1-7, 9, 11, 13, 15, 18, 21, 24, and 27 post-SCI. BBB scores were transformed to help assure that the data were amendable to parametric analyses (Ferguson et al. 2004). This transformation pools BBB scores 2-4, removing a discontinuity in the scale, and scores 14–21, which are very seldom used under the present injury parameters. By pooling these scores, an ordered scale was created that is relatively continuous, with units of approximately equivalent intervals. Meeting these criteria allows for application of metric operations (computation of mean performance across legs), improves the justification for parametric statistical analyses, and increases statistical power.

#### Assessment of sensory reactivity

### Girdle Test

At-level allodynia was assessed using the girdle test. Animals were acclimated to the testing room for 10 minutes. During testing, the subjects were loosely held to ensure they were calm and did not vocalize due to stress. A von Frey filament (Semmes–Weinstein Anesthesiometer, Stoelting Co., Chicago, IL) with a bending force of 204.14 mN (26g force) was applied to a 4 x 11 grid across the girdle region of each subject. Because animals do not normally vocalize with this stimulus, a vocalization response indicates that a noxious stimulus was experienced. Vocalization responses were recorded and mapped onto a grid map for each animal. Number of vocalizations (Nv) were reported as a percent of the total stimulation events, given the following formula: (Nv x 100)/total number of filament applications (44).

# Mechanical nociceptive reactivity

Subjects were placed into restraining tubes (7.00 cm [internal diameter]×20.00 cm [length]) to allow their legs to hang freely from the tube. After 15 min of acclimation to the tube alone, mechanical reactivity was assessed using von Frey stimulation. Nylon monofilaments (Semmes–Weinstein Anesthesiometer, Stoelting Co., Chicago, IL) of increasing strength were applied sequentially at approximately 2 s intervals to the L5 dermatome on the plantar surface of the hind paws. Stimuli were presented until subjects exhibited a motor withdrawal (spinal) and vocal (supraspinal) response. If one or both responses (motor and vocal) were not observed, testing was terminated at a force of 300 g. Each subject was tested twice on each foot in a counterbalanced ABBA order.

#### Thermal nociceptive reactivity

Thermal reactivity was assessed with the tail flick test. Subjects were restrained in plexiglass tubes (7.00 cm [internal diameter]×20.00 cm [length]) and placed on the tail-flick apparatus (IITC Life Science Inc., Woodland Hills, CA, USA). Their tails were positioned in the 0.5 cm deep groove on the apparatus so that the area 1.5 inches from the tip of the tail was directly under a thermal light source. The light was set at an intensity that produced a 3-4 sec latency to flick the tail away from the radiant heat source in an uninjured rat, with an 8 second cut-off in the event that the rat did not flick its tail. During testing, two tests occurred at 2-minute intervals, and the average tail flick latency across the tests was recorded.

# **Serum Collection**

Blood was collected via saphenous vein draw during the last two hours of the light cycle for serum cytokine assays. Prior to collection, the leg (alternated across collections) was shaved to expose the saphenous vein. The animal was then gently restrained in a towel while the leg was disinfected and treated with topical lidocaine. The saphenous vein was firmly held above the collection site and punctured with a 20-gauge needle. Blood was collected in 300  $\mu$ l serum microvettes (Sarsvedt) coated with clotting factors. Samples were allowed to clot for 30 - 60 min, per manufacturer instructions, and then centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 15 min at 4°C. The serum fraction was pipetted into 30  $\mu$ l aliquots and stored at -20 to -80 °C for later use in cytokine assays.

### **Tissue collection**

At the end of each experiment, subjects were euthanized with pentobarbital (100 mg/kg, i.p.). All tissue collection occurred after the animal reached deep, unresponsive level of anesthesia. Tissue was either fixed for histological spinal cord lesion analysis, or it was collected fresh for protein and RNA analysis. For fixation, subjects were perfused intracardially with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). A 1.5 cm section of cord, surrounding and including the contusion site, was extracted and placed in ice-cold 4% PFA for 24 hours, for further fixation. It was then transferred to 30% sucrose for cryoprotection and preservation before freezing and sectioning for histology.

For fresh tissue, the spleen was removed, weighed, and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Then the brain was extracted and the frontal cortex, hypothalamus, and left and right hippocampi were dissected out and snap frozen separately in liquid nitrogen. The frozen tissue was stored at -80°C until it was processed for assays.

## Cytokine, BDNF, and serotonin assays

Serum collected prior to injury (baseline) and after injury was used in a multiplex assay (RECYMAG65K27PMX, Millipore) to assess 27 unique cytokines and chemokines. All samples were run in duplicate, following the manufacturer's instructions.

The frontal cortex and hippocampus samples were homogenized in lysis buffer (500  $\mu$ l in Experiments 1 and 3, 400  $\mu$ l in Experiment 2, composed of: 100 mM Tris, 1 M NaCl, 4 mM EDTA, 2% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium azide, 5  $\mu$ l/ml phenylmethyl-sulphonyl fluoride, and protease inhibitor cocktail [Thermo Scientific, 78442]) and allowed to sit on ice for 10 min before centrifugation at 20,000 rpm for 20-30 min. A BCA

total protein assay was performed on the resulting supernatant, and then the samples were diluted in lysis buffer to equivalent total protein levels based off of the results. The protein samples were aliquoted and stored at -80 °C for later use.

A rat BDNF ELISA (CYT306, Millipore) was used to detect BDNF levels in the right hippocampus and frontal cortex. Samples in this assay were diluted to 0.25 mg/ml total protein with the included sample diluent (50 µg of total protein was used), and manufacturer instructions were followed.

A serotonin (5-HT) ELISA (IBL-America, IB89540) was used to detect 5-HT levels in the right hippocampus and frontal cortex. In Experiment 1, samples were diluted 1:30, and in Experiments 2 and 3, samples were diluted to 0.17 mg/ml total protein with the included sample diluent, and manufacturer instructions were followed.

### **Histological lesion reconstruction**

Histological analyses were conducted to examine spinal lesion size and extent. Spinal cord segments stored in 30% sucrose were embedded in sectioning compound and frozen at -80 °C for cryostat sectioning. Tissue was sectioned from the rostral to the caudal end in 20  $\mu$ m thick sections, and every 10th slice was preserved for staining. All sections were stained with cresyl violet for Nissl substance and luxol fast blue for myelin (Basso et al., 1995; Beattie, 1992).

The total cross-sectional area of the cord and spared tissue was assessed at the lesion center (averaged across three sections -600, 0, and +600  $\mu$ m from the lesion center) using MicroBrightField software (MBF Bioscience, Williston, VT). Four indices of lesion magnitude were derived: lesion; residual gray matter (GM); residual white matter (WM);

and width. To determine the area of lesion, an experimenter blind to the experimental treatments traced around the boundaries of cystic formations and areas of dense gliosis. Nissl-stained areas that contained neurons and glia of approximately normal densities denoted residual GM. WM was judged spared in myelin-stained areas lacking dense gliosis and swollen fibers.

The total area of each cross-section was derived by summing the areas of damage, GM, and WM. Width was determined from the most lateral points along the transverse plane. These analyses yielded six parameters for each section: WM area, GM area, spared tissue (white + gray), damaged tissue area, net area (white + gray + damage), and section width. To control for variability in section area across subjects, we applied a correction factor derived from standard undamaged cord sections, taken from age-matched controls. This correction factor is based on section widths and is multiplied by all area measurements to standardize area across analyses (Ferguson et al., 2004). By standardizing area across sections, we were able to estimate the degree to which tissue was "missing" (i.e., tissue loss from atrophy, necrosis, or apoptosis). An accurate assessment of the degree to which a cord has been affected includes both the remaining "damaged" tissue as well as resolved lesioned areas (Ferguson et al., 2004). When we sum the amount of missing tissue and the measured damaged area, we derive an index of the relative lesion (percent relative lesion) in each section that is comparable across sections. We also compute the relative percent of GM and WM remaining in each section, relative to intact cords.

#### Immunofluorescent staining for neurogenesis

In Experiment 1 (Chapter III), neurogenesis was evaluated in the hippocampi of depressed and not depressed subjects. After perfusion and whole brain collection described above (see Tissue collection), the brains were embedded in sectioning compound and frozen. The whole brain was sectioned into twelve serial sets of free floating, coronal sections (50  $\mu$ m thick), using a freezing microtome.

Four sections of the rostral hippocampus were selected for each subject and stained with goat anti-DCX C-18 and DCX N-19 (sc-8066 and sc-8067, respectively, Santa Cruz Biotechnology). The sections were washed 3 times in 0.01 M PBS and then transferred to the primary antibody solution (0.2% DCX N, 0.2% DCX C, 0.5% Tween, 5% normal horse serum, in 0.01 M PBS). They incubated at room temperature with rotation for 23 hours. The sections were washed again and incubated in secondary stain (0.5% donkey anti-goat IgG 555, 5% Tween, 5% normal horse serum, in 0.01 M PBS) for 1.2 hours. Sections were then rinsed and mounted on slides. They were allowed to dry overnight and coverslipped with Vectashield anti-fade mounting medium (H-1400, Vectashield, Burlingame, CA).

DCX positive cells in the upper and lower blades of the dentate gyrus of each section were counted using Stereo Investigator (MBF life sciences) using a 25% sampling rate, a 70x70  $\mu$ m frame, and a dissector height of 15  $\mu$ m. The cell count per area for upper and lower blades was calculated separately for each subject and the mean value for the upper blades and lower blades (across 4 sections) was found for each subject.

#### **RNA extraction and rtPCR**

Quantification of the glucocorticoid receptor in Experiment 3 (Chapter V) was conducted using quantitative real time rtPCR. RNA was extracted from approximately 30 mg of frozen hippocampus tissue homogenates using a RNeasy Mini kit (74104, Qiagen,). It was then DNased with 2  $\mu$ l TURBO DNase, 5  $\mu$ l buffer, and 38  $\mu$ l water for every 5  $\mu$ l of RNA (80-200 ng). During DNasing, the samples were heated to 37 °C for 30 min, then another 1  $\mu$ l of DNase was added, and they were incubated for another 30 min at 37 °C.

After DNasing, the samples were cleaned with RNA Clean and Concentrate (R1013, Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). cDNA was produced from 100 ng of RNA with a qScript cDNA synthesis kit (101414-100, QuantaBio), using 4  $\mu$ l of the included buffer, 1  $\mu$ l of reverse transcriptase (replaced by water in negative controls), and water to bring the total volume to 20  $\mu$ l after the appropriate volume of RNA was added. The cDNA was amplified using thermocycler settings: 25 °C for 5 min, 42 °C for 30 min, 85 °C for 5 min, and 4 °C hold.

PCR primers for the alpha and beta isoforms of the glucocorticoid receptor, as well as a common sequence to identify all forms of the glucocorticoid receptor, were obtained from Life Technologies (DuBois et al., 2013). See Table 1 for the primer sequences. qPCR reactions were prepared in triplicate with 0.5  $\mu$ l of the forward primer, 0.5  $\mu$ l of the reverse primer, 5  $\mu$ l of PerfeCTa SYBR Green FastMix (101414-284, QuantaBio), 2  $\mu$ l of water, and 2  $\mu$ l of sample cDNA. The reaction was run on a ViiA7 qPCR machine (Applied Biosciences) at 50 °C for 2 min, 95 °C for 10 min, ([95 °C for 15 sec, 57 °C for 30 sec, 65 °C for 30 sec] x 50 cycles), 95 °C for 15 sec, 60 °C for 1 min, and 95 °C for 15 sec.

Primer	Sequence
GR alpha Forward	GCGACAGAAGCAGTTGAGTCAAC
GR alpha Reverse	CCATGCCTCCACGTAACTGTTAG
GR beta Forward	GCGCTTGAGGCTAAGATAGTC
GR beta Reverse	CCCATGTTTCTGCCTCTTTCTTTG
GR common Forward	GCCCTGGGTTGGAGATCATAC
GR common Reverse	CATGCAGGGTAGAGACATTCTC

 Table 1. Glucocorticoid receptor primer sequences

# **Statistics**

To identify changes in depressive behavior caused by SCI, in each experiment, we first calculated change from baseline scores. For each of the behavioral tests of depression, scores collected from all post-injury testing periods (days 9-10, 19-20, 28-30) were subtracted from the baseline scores collected immediately prior to the spinal contusion injury. A hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA) was then used to group subjects into cohorts based on their change from baseline scores, from either the last testing period (Aim 1) or an average of the last two testing periods (Aims 2 and 3), across the tests of depression-like behavior described. As described in Luedtke et al. (2014), an HCA was performed using Ward's method, applying squared Euclidean distance as the distance measure. The number of appropriate clusters was obtained by looking for a break in the agglomeration coefficient change and by observing the dendrogram, which visually depicts the distance between linked clusters. After identifying the number of clusters depicted in the dendrogram, the HCA was repeated using the same parameters but requesting a single

solution of two clusters. A new variable, cluster membership, was generated for all subjects.

Analysis of variance (ANOVA), 2-way ANOVAs, or t-tests (as appropriate) were used to compare the change from baseline scores across the identified clusters, on each of the behavioral tests of depression and sensory tests. Repeated measures ANOVAs were used to compare BBB scores, as a measure of locomotor recovery, across days, as well as corticosterone levels across time (Aim 3). A repeated measures ANOVA was also used to examine the effects of depression or drug doses on spared or damaged tissue across the lesion site (Aim 1).

#### CHAPTER III

### MINOCYCLINE AND DEPRESSION AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY

#### Introduction

SCI is an inflammatory disease, marked by an increased immune reaction in the spinal cord, periphery, and even the brain (Davies et al., 2007; Popovich et al., 1997; Wu et al., 2014a; Wu et al., 2014b). This immune reaction is primarily mediated by macrophages and microglia, the immune cells of central nervous system. While the immune response is critical for the resolution of the primary injury after SCI, an extended inflammatory response can lead to secondary tissue damage and immune dysregulation throughout the entire body, which has been associated with elevated pain, decreased locomotor recovery, and even depression (Allison and Ditor, 2015a; Anisman, 2009; Beumer et al., 2012; Cruse et al., 2000).

Numerous lines of evidence implicate inflammation in the development of depression. As discussed previously (see Chapter I), elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines are not only observed in depressed patients, cytokines can also induce depression when administered therapeutically for other illnesses, such as cancer and hepatitis infection (Capuron et al., 2009; Capuron et al., 2002). Further, elevated inflammation has been observed in rodent models of SCI-induced depression, indicating that its mechanism is likely ubiquitous across species (Boadas-Vaello et al., 2018; do Espírito Santo et al., 2019b; Farrell and Houle, 2019; Li et al., 2017; Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016).

Recognizing the potential of targeting inflammation as an antidepressant therapy, researchers have begun to investigate the efficacy of anti-inflammatory treatments (Allison and Ditor, 2015b; Farrell and Houle, 2019; Raison et al., 2013). For example, in a rat model of depression after SCI, Farrell and Houle (2019) targeted tumor necrosis factor (TNF), an inflammatory factor often found elevated in depression, with XPro1595, a soluble TNF inhibitor. Contrary to the expected decrease in depressive behavior, they found that the incidence of depression increased with TNF inhibition (Farrell and Houle, 2019). They suggested that inhibition of soluble TNF in the periphery may shift signaling from the TNF receptor to TNFR2, which could result in Th17 lymphocyte infiltration into the CNS and subsequent depression (Farrell and Houle, 2019). The relationship between depression and inflammation is clearly nuanced, necessitating more research.

In a clinical trial, Allison and Ditor (2015) investigated the effects of an antiinflammatory diet on depression in people with SCI. One month after eliminating inflammation-inducing foods and introducing anti-inflammatory supplements to their diets, patients had lower serum IL-1 $\beta$  expression and lower scores on the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale than they did before the start of treatment. However, this study had a small sample size (20 individuals) and did not directly target any specific inflammatory pathways. Further, they found quite small effects of inflammation on depression, with only IL-1 $\beta$  being significantly correlated to depression scores. It is likely that multiple cytokines act in concert to induce depression. Despite these limitations, this study suggests that reducing overall inflammation after SCI may have a positive impact on psychological wellbeing. To test this hypothesis, the current experiment used minocycline, a tetracycline antibiotic known for its anti-inflammatory properties and ability to cross the blood-brain barrier, to reduce inflammation in a rodent model of SCI and evaluate its effects on depression. Minocycline has been heavily investigated as a neuroprotectant after stroke, traumatic brain injury, and SCI, with promising results in all three fields (Camargos et al., 2020; Elewa et al., 2006; Li et al., 2016; Mejia et al., 2001; Ulndreaj et al., 2017). Minocycline produces an anti-inflammatory effect in the CNS by reducing microglial activation, preventing microglia from contributing to deleterious inflammation. Because minocycline targets inflammation in the CNS, and because it is well tolerated, it is a potential anti-inflammatory agent for SCI-induced inflammation and depression. We hypothesized that oral administration of minocycline for two weeks after spinal cord injury, the time period of the greatest inflammatory response, would reduce the incidence of depression-like symptoms and decrease the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the serum of rats with SCI.

### Methods and results

Male Sprague-Dawley rats were given a moderate contusion injury and assessed with the tests of depression-like behavior, motor function and pain reactivity, as described in Chapter II (General Methodology). On the day following the spinal contusion injury, the subjects' home-cage water bottles were replaced with bottles containing 0, 0.33, or 1 mg/ml of minocycline (n=11 in each group, minocycline hydrochloride; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) dissolved in filtered water. Minocycline treatment lasted for 14 days, and the minocycline was replaced every 7 days, to maintain its stability at room temperature (Pearson and Trissel, 1993).

As outlined in Figure 4, serum, depression behavior, and pain behavior were collected before injury and for 32 days post-injury. At the end of the 32-day assessment period, subjects were humanely euthanized with pentobarbital (100 mg/kg, i.p.), and their brains and spinal cords were collected postmortem, as described in Chapter II (General Methodology). In this experiment, half of the subjects (n=18) were perfused intracardially with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for histological spinal lesion reconstruction and assessment of neurogenesis in the hippocampi.

Fresh brain and spinal tissue were collected from the other half (n=15) of the subjects. The frontal cortex, hypothalamus, and left and right hippocampi were dissected out of the brain and snap frozen separately in liquid nitrogen. The frozen tissue was stored at -80°C until it was processed for serotonin and BDNF ELISAs.

Statistical testing was conducted as described in the General Methodology. Three subjects were dropped from the analyses for failure to reach minimum baseline sucrose preference (70%).

# One-third of SCI rats develop depression

Based on the hierarchical cluster analyses (Fig. 5) and *post hoc* t-tests, 33% of the subjects exhibited depression-like behavior. Depression-like behaviors did not differ across clusters prior to injury (Fig. 6F). However, after injury, the depressed subjects displayed lower open field activity compared to their not-depressed counterparts (Days 20





Hierarchical cluster analysis separated the subjects into two groups, using their scores from sucrose preference, open field activity, and social activity in the third testing period (days 29-30 post injury). The depressed cluster is outlined in red.

and 29 post-injury, t(28)=-2.52, p=0.018; t(28)=-4.38, p<0.001, respectively, Fig. 6A). They also showed lower social interaction on days 9 and 29 (t(28)=-3.14, p=0.004; t(28)=-5.17, p<0.001, respectively, Fig. 6B). There was a trend for higher immobility on the forced swim test, but it was not statistically significant (Fig. 6E).

Minocycline does not impact water consumption or incidence of depression

There was no significant difference in the amount of water (with or without minocycline) consumed across the 14 days of administration (F(2,27)=1.97, p=0.159).





Throughout recovery, animals that clustered in the depressed group explored an open field arena less than their not-depressed counterparts (A). They also initiated social interaction with a novel conspecific less than their not-depressed group (B). While they did not differ significantly on any other behaviors (C-E), there was a trend towards higher immobility on the forced swim test (E). All behaviors but forced swim are presented as change-from-baseline. There were no behavioral differences between the groups before SCI (F). \* p<0.05

During the first week of minocycline administration, all minocycline dose groups consumed similar amounts of liquid, resulting in an average of  $10.5 \pm 1.2$  mg of minocycline per day for the low dose group and  $28 \pm 3.9$  mg/day for the high dose. Similarly, in the second week post-injury, the average minocycline intake was  $13.5 \pm 0.4$  mg/day for the low dose group and  $33 \pm 4.1$  mg/day for the high dose.

Despite adequate consumption of minocycline, there was no substantial effect of treatment on depression-like behavior. Subjects in the high dose group did burrow more than either of the other two groups on Day 9 post-injury (F(2,27)=6.85, p=0.004, Fig. 7D), and they exhibited higher social activity than the controls on Day 20 post-injury (F(2,27=4.28, p=0.024, Fig. 7B). However, after hierarchical clustering, which used the scores collected by the time the drug had cleared the system at Day 30, subjects from the three drug dose groups split evenly between the "depressed" and "not depressed" groups, indicating that, overall, minocycline treatment did not have a lasting effect on the development of depression-like behavior (Fig. 7F).

# Locomotor recovery

Minocycline treatment did not affect locomotor recovery across the 30 days post injury (F(2,27)=0.92, p=0.409, Fig. 8A). Similarly, there was no effect of depression on recovery as assessed with the BBB scale (F(1,28)=1.94, p=0.175, Fig. 8B).

### Minocycline treatment increased pain reactivity thresholds

Minocycline administration decreased pain in the weeks following SCI, and the high dose of minocycline had a long-term analgesic effect. Animals that received the higher dose of minocycline had a longer latency to flick their tail away from a heat source





The high dose minocycline group exhibited more social interaction on Day 19 (B) and more burrowing on Day 10 (D). There were no differences between the dose groups on other indices of depression (A,C,E) or on incidence of depression grouping (F). \* p<0.05



**Figure 8.** Locomotor recovery in minocycline and depression groups. BBB locomotor scoring shows little difference among minocycline dose groups (A) or between depressed and not-depressed SCI rats (B). All groups achieved stepping by Day 9, when behavioral testing began.

(measured as change from baseline) compared with the low dose minocycline or controls (Days 11, 22, 28; F(2,27)=9.86, p=0.001; F(2,27)=10.09, p=0.001; F(2,27)=5.44, p=0.01, respectively, Fig. 9B). The vocalization and motor response thresholds on the tactile reactivity test also increased for the high dose group on Days 4 (vocal), 11 (motor), and 22 (motor), indicating lower sensitivity to mechanical stimuli (F(2,27)=4.79, p=0.017; F(2,27)=7.64, p=0.002; F(2,27)=3.99, p=0.03, respectively, Fig. 9C-D).

Sensory and pain scores did not differ between depressed and not-depressed animals, indicating that pain was unlikely to have played a role in the development of depression-like symptoms (Fig. 10).

# Neither depression nor minocycline affected lesion size

Commensurate with the locomotor data, there were no differences in lesion size, gray matter, and white matter sparing between the depressed and not-depressed groups.



Figure 9. Sensory reactivity in minocycline groups.

All scores are presented as change-from-baseline. The high dose minocycline group increased their latency on the tail flick test, on days 11, 22, and 28 post-injury, compared to both the low dose and controls (B). The low dose minocycline group withdrew their paws at lower levels of pressure on the Von Grey tactile test (C), and the high dose group vocalized at higher pressures than did the low dose group (D). \*p<0.05

Additionally, despite its potentially neuroprotective properties, minocycline did not impact lesion size or spared white matter. However, the high dose minocycline group had less spared gray matter than the vehicle controls, across the center of the lesion (F(2,14)=6.06, p=0.013, Fig. 11).



**Figure 10. Sensory reactivity in depression groups.** All scores are presented as change-from-baseline. Sensory and pain scores did not differ between depressed and not depressed groups

# Subjects that develop depression have elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles

To explore the relationship between inflammation, depression, and minocycline activity, serum cytokine levels were measured before, and 10 days after, injury using a 27-plex magnetic bead assay (RECYMAG65K27PMX, EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA). None of the cytokine levels in the minocycline groups differed from those of the vehicle controls at either timepoint, indicating that oral minocycline did not impact peripheral inflammation after injury.





Panels A-C show spared white matter, gray matter, and percent damage across the extent of the lesion, among the minocycline groups. The high dose minocycline group had less gray matter sparing than the the dose (B). They did not differ in white matter sparing or percent damage (A, C). Panels D-F show the same measures for depressed and not depressed groups. Depressed and not-depressed groups did not differ in histological indices of spinal cord damage. \*p<0.05





Cytokine levels are significantly higher in depressed compared with not-depressed subjects prior to and 10 days after SCI. IL-6, IL-1a, IL-13, and IL-18 are elevated before injury (A-B, F-G). IL-6, TNF-a, IL-4, IL-5, and IP10 are elevated 10 days after injury (A, C-E, H). Individual differences in baseline cytokine levels (1.5-2.2X greater in depressed subjects) may predict vulnerability to the development of an affective disorder. \* p < 0.05

However, we saw differences in cytokine levels between the depressed and notdepressed groups *both before and after injury*. Of the 27 cytokines and chemokines measured, 6 cytokines and chemokines were upregulated at 10 days post-injury in the depressed group: IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IP-10, IL-4, and IL-5 (t(19)=2.62, p=0.017; t(21)=2.39, p=0.026; t(22)=3.23, p=0.004; t(22)=2.59, p=0.017; t(22)=2.63, p=0.015, respectively, Fig. 12). Intriguingly, these animals also exhibited pro-inflammatory profiles before injury, with upregulated IL-6, IL-1  $\alpha$ , IL-13, and IL-18 (t(15)=3.24, p=0.006; t(20)=2.55, p=0.019; t(20)=2.35, p=0.029; t(16)=2.61, p=0.019, respectively, Fig. 12).

# Serotonin is decreased in brains of depressed subjects

Commensurate with behavior, there was a significant effect of depression group on serotonin levels in the frontal cortex (t(11)= -2.33, p=0.007). As shown in Figure 13,subjects that displayed depression-like behavior had lower serotonin expression levels than their not-depressed counterparts. There was a similar trend toward decreased serotonin in the hippocampus, but it was not significant with the small sample size (Fig. 13). BDNF levels did not differ between depressed and not-depressed groups (Fig. 13).

# Neurogenesis

Neurogenesis was assessed in the upper and lower blades of the dentate gyrus by stereological counting of immature neurons stained for doublecortin (DCX). One subject was removed from the analysis because of its poor tissue quality and staining. One-tailed t-tests comparing depression groups showed that the depressed subjects had fewer DCX



**Figure 13. Brain serotonin and BDNF levels in depression groups.** Depressed subjects displayed lower serotonin in the frontal cortex and trended towards lower serotonin in the hippocampus (A). There were no differences in BDNF levels. \* p<0.05

positive cells in the upper blade of the dentate gyrus than the not-depressed subjects (t(13)=-1.77, p=0.0494, Fig 14A).

Additionally, there was a clear trend for higher neurogenesis in the minocycline treated animals, with the high minocycline dose subjects exhibiting the greatest number of DCX stained immature neurons (F(2,12)=2.02, p=0.175, Fig. 14B).

## Discussion

The experiments reported here assessed the incidence of depression after SCI and the efficacy of minocycline for protection against depression and inflammation. In an effort to reduce acute, SCI-associated inflammation, minocycline was orally administered for 14 days post-SCI. Approximately one-third of the subjects displayed depression-like behavior in the month following injury. This is commensurate with both human data (Williams and Murray, 2015) and our previous findings in the rodent model of depression after SCI (Brakel et al., 2019; Luedtke et al., 2014; Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016).



#### Figure 14. Neurogenesis is decreased in depressed subjects.

Depressed subjects had lower DCX expression in the upper blade of the dentate gyrus (A). There was a trend for greater DCX expression in the 1 mg/ml minocycline dose group (B). Representative images from the upper blade of the dentate gyrus illustrate the differences between the depressed and not depressed groups. \* p<0.05

Also consistent with the literature, depression was associated with increased peripheral inflammation post-injury and decreased serotonin levels in the prefrontal cortex. Intriguingly, pro-inflammatory cytokine expression was not only elevated post-injury in rats that developed depression-like behaviors, but also *prior* to injury. Inflammation may be a cause of, or a biomarker for, predisposition to depression. Contrary to my original

hypothesis, however, minocycline treatment did not affect peripheral cytokine levels or protect against the development of depression-like behavior.

The anti-inflammatory efficacy of the minocycline treatment may have been affected by the dose or route of administration. Because the subjects received the minocycline through their drinking water, we could not control the exact dose each animal received or whether they drank immediately before behavioral testing and serum collection. As the half-life of minocycline in rats is only a few hours (Elewa et al., 2006), it is possible that the subjects did not ingest a biologically relevant amount in an appropriate time frame to have anti-inflammatory effects. Moreover, although sufficient to reduce inflammation in milder inflammatory conditions, the dose of minocycline used may not have been sufficient to reduce the robust inflammation inherent to SCI. This hypothesis is supported by the spinal lesion analysis. Although minocycline has been repeatedly shown to be neuroprotective (Camargos et al., 2020; Elewa et al., 2006; Li et al., 2016; Mejia et al., 2001; Ulndreaj et al., 2017), we saw no effect of minocycline on lesion size or locomotor recovery after SCI, indicating that our dose or route of administration may not have been biologically meaningful. An alternate intraperitoneal route of administration may be more appropriate in this model, using doses that have been reported to reduce lesion size in an SCI model.

Indeed, while others have seen anti-depressant effects of chronic, oral, minocycline administration, at doses consistent with those used in the current study, they have also found limited effects on inflammation (Burke et al., 2014; Camargos et al., 2020; Hinwood et al., 2012; Hinwood et al., 2013; Molina-Hernández et al., 2008). In a rodent

stress model, Hinwood et al. (2013) found that chronic, oral minocycline reduced microglial branching, size, and process length in the frontal cortex. They did not, however, find any alterations in pro-inflammatory markers or cytokines in their stressed groups, indicating that the interaction between inflammation and minocycline was quite low (Hinwood et al., 2013). In an olfactory bulbectomy (OB) rat model of depression, combined with spinal nerve ligation, Burke et al. (2014) also found that chronic (14 days), oral minocycline treatment decreased depression behavior and decreased pain reactivity (increased paw withdrawal latency in an acetone reactivity test). Intriguingly, the minocycline treatment did not decrease microglial expression, and, in fact, appeared to increase both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine levels in the prefrontal cortex of the OB rats following the spinal nerve ligation (Burke et al., 2014). This finding contrasted with the effects seen in non-OB rats, who also underwent spinal nerve ligation, and in whom minocycline reduced pro-inflammatory markers. Measuring minocycline levels in the prefrontal cortex with mass spectrometry, Burke et al. (2014) verified that supraspinal levels of the minocycline were similar in sham and OB rats. Collectively, therefore, neither Hinwood et al. (2013), Burke et al. (2014), nor ourselves found strictly anti-inflammatory effects of oral minocycline in any of our stress/depression models. Burke found that chronic minocycline treatment actually increased inflammation, Hinwood found that it prevented microglial activation, but did not impact cytokine expression, and we found no impact on cytokine expression. One potential explanation is that while minocycline may decrease microglial activation, it may increase the activity of other immune cells. Minocycline has been shown to increase cytokine release from monocytes pretreated with lipopolysaccharide, but not phytohemagglutinin, indicating that minocycline's action may depend on the type of cellular stressor it is paired with (Kloppenburg et al., 1996). These data suggest that minocycline may have differential effects in the presence of a depressionlike phenotype.

In the SCI depression phenotype, extended minocycline treatment may also have counterintuitively contributed to inflammation. Because minocycline is an antibiotic, extended oral administration may disrupt the natural gut flora. Disrupted gut flora, combined with SCI-induced gut dysbiosis, can lead to more inflammation (Brakel and Hook, 2019). While not statistically significant, serum cytokines collected at Day 10, which was while minocycline was present, were slightly higher in the minocycline groups than in the controls, indicating that we may have inadvertently reduced natural gut flora and increased inflammation in the treated animals. Further, these rats (and those in the following experiments) also received penicillin immediately following SCI and for at least one day following injury. Even brief doses of antibiotics can significantly deplete the gut microbiota (Becattini et al., 2016; Park et al., 2019). It is possible that our antibiotic administration, though short, disrupted the gut microbiota enough to produce inflammation and depression. In fact, SCI itself may have impacted gut dysbiosis and inflammation. Others have shown that SCI patients have lower microbiota diversity, and mice with spinal contusion injuries exhibit significantly modified taxa in their gut microbiota compared to uninjured controls (Kigerl et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2018). Further, gut dysbiosis is associated with inflammation for over a month after SCI (Myers et al., 2019). Superimposing antibiotic treatment onto an already disrupted gut microbiome
may have further exacerbated intestinal and peripheral inflammation. Research on the impact of long-term minocycline treatment on gut dysbiosis is still incipient, but it is highly worth pursuing.

Interestingly, although the effects of minocycline on depression or peripheral inflammation were minimal, this treatment did appear to reduce pain in the weeks following SCI. The high dose of minocycline increased the rat's latency to flick their tails away from aversive heat, and it increased the forces at which they vocalized on the Von Frey tactile response test. The difference in tail flick response persisted for a month after injury, indicating that minocycline may have a chronic effect. Others have also found that minocycline reduces long-term pain, though most deliver the drug i.p. rather than orally (Cho et al., 2011; Li et al., 2016; Marchand et al., 2009). Alternatively, the protection against pain may come from loss of gray matter. The high dose minocycline subjects had lower amounts of spared gray matter. If sensory neurons from the dorsal horn were completely lost, afferent pain signaling from the spinal cord would also be reduced.

Despite the absence of effects of minocycline, we did replicate and extend our previous findings on depression in the rodent SCI model. We found that subjects that displayed depression-like behavior had higher pro-inflammatory cytokine expression before and after SCI, had decreased serotonin in the frontal cortex and decreased neurogenesis in the hippocampus. Depressed subjects exhibited less neurogenesis in the upper blades of their hippocampi than not-depressed subjects. This finding concurs with previous literature showing that stress and depression correlate with decreased hippocampal neurogenesis (Czéh et al., 2002; Malberg and Duman, 2003; Pham et al., 2003). Malberg et al. (2003), for example, found that inescapable foot shock produced depression behaviors and decreased neurogenesis in rats. Because decreased neurogenesis has been observed in multiple models of stress and depression, it is likely that stress universally decreases neurogenesis, and the depression elicited from SCI may be quite similar to that caused by other stressors. Additionally, we saw a trend for a dose-dependent effect of minocycline on neurogenesis. Oral minocycline, at a dose similar to ours, has been previously shown to increase hippocampal neurogenesis in adult mice (Kohman et al., 2013). Minocycline has also improved neuronal proliferation and differentiation in other models of stress and depression. Intriguingly, we saw increased neuronal proliferation in minocycline-treated rats, despite the fact that moderate to severe SCI *per se* causes decreased hippocampal neurogenesis (Jure et al., 2017). These facts indicate that, while minocycline may not have decreased proinflammatory cytokine expression, it may have still been an effective supraspinal neuroprotectant.

Replicating our previous studies (Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016), we also observed elevated TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 in the depressed subjects compared to not-depressed subjects after injury, but, surprisingly, we saw no effect of injury itself on cytokine levels. Peripheral proinflammatory cytokines were not elevated ten days after injury compared to baseline levels. This is particularly interesting, because the general consensus in the literature is that SCI causes persistent inflammation. Elevated levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-1RA, and IL-2 have been seen in serum of SCI patients years after their injuries (Davies et al., 2007; Hayes et al., 2002). We suggest that in the absence of confounding secondary infections, pressure sores, and other SCI-related inflammatory complications, elevations in peripheral inflammation may be transient. Indeed, in the spinal cord, elevations in proinflammatory cytokines seem to be transient. Time-course studies of SCI-induced inflammation in rodents has shown an increase in TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-1 $\beta$  during the first few hours after an injury, but levels return to baseline after 24 hours (Yang et al., 2005). Altinors et al. (2009) also found elevated TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-1 $\beta$  in serum 24 and 48 hours after spinal ischemia, but they did not explore later time points (Altinors, 2009). Serum IL-6, especially, elevates 24 hours after contusion injury in rats but returns to BL levels after 7 days (Yang et al., 2018). In the current study, it is likely that by 10 days post-injury, peripheral inflammation had returned to baseline in most subjects, resulting in no distinct differences between the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines. The chronically high inflammation that Davies et al. and Hayes et al. observed in their human patients may be due to long-term physiological modifications brought about by living with an SCI. Future studies would benefit from comparing peripheral inflammation in the hours after SCI with that of the later days.

The current study also revealed an unexpected finding of elevated baseline proinflammatory cytokine expression in depressed subjects, *before SCI and before the subjects exhibited depression-like symptoms*. Prior to injury, there were no behavioral differences between the depressed and not-depressed subjects, but IL-6, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-13, and IL-18 were elevated in the depressed group. Similar evidence has also been presented in human and animal studies. In fact, in a landmark study (The Whitehall Study), Gimeno et al. (2009) found pre-existing differences in IL-6 expression among people that were susceptible to the development of depression. The Whitehall Study (Gimeno et al., 2009) followed hundreds of white-collar office workers for twelve years, collecting data on their mental health status as well as their peripheral blood cytokine profiles. The study found that baseline levels of C reactive protein and IL-6 predicted depressive symptoms that manifested up to 12 years later. Studies looking at both juvenile and aged populations have found similar results: IL-6 measured in 9 year-old children was predictive of depression and other mental disturbances 9 years later, and both IL-6 and CRP measured in adults over 60 were predictive of depression identified 5 years later (Khandaker et al., 2014; Zalli et al., 2016). These inflammatory molecules are clearly ubiquitous across populations and are important to the development of depression. In a mouse model of social defeat stress, Hodes et al. (2014) also found that leukocytes from mice susceptible to mild social defeat stress, which does not typically produce depression-like behaviors, produced more IL-6 when stimulated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) than those from resilient mice. Additionally, when IL-6 activity was blocked with a monoclonal IL-6 antibody or eliminated through an IL-6 knockout, mice subjected to social defeat stress were less likely to develop depression-like behaviors.

These data suggest that ongoing IL-6 activity is necessary for susceptibility to depression. Collectively, these results raise an intriguing hypothesis that pre-existing peripheral inflammation might predispose an individual to develop depression symptoms after a traumatic event. Minocycline may not be sufficient to reduce depression or inflammation after a traumatic CNS event, such as SCI. However, the current experiment shows that inflammation prior to injury may predispose individuals to depression post-injury.

#### CHAPTER IV

# IL-6 PRE-TREATMENT INCREASES DEPRESSION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY<sup>2</sup>

# Introduction

Our previous results (Chapter III) suggest that inflammation post-injury may not be critical for the expression of depression-like symptoms. While depressed subjects had higher pro-inflammatory cytokine levels at Day 10 post-injury, they also had increased cytokine levels prior to injury, and cytokine expression levels were not substantially different from pre- to post-injury. In fact, our data suggest that in many studies, the inflammation associated with post-stress depression may actually reflect pre-existing differences in inflammation. Pre-existing inflammation may in turn be a cause, or consequence, of molecular changes that increase susceptibility to depression after exposure to a significant stressor.

A number of studies suggest that there is an interaction between resilience and inflammatory processes. For example, when compared with individuals that adopt active coping strategies, individuals with passive coping strategies have greater plasma concentrations of interleukin-6 (IL-6) following a 3 min simulated public speaking challenge (Carroll et al., 2011). Feelings of helplessness and anxiety during a social stress

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Portions of this chapter are reprinted with permission from "SCI and depression: Does inflammation commandeer the brain?" by Kiralyn Brakel & Michelle Hook, 2019. Experimental Neurology, 320, Article 112977, Copyright 2019 by Elsevier Inc.

test are also associated with sensitization to common allergens (e.g., house dust mite, ragweed, tree mix, grass mix) and greater release of IL-6 from stimulated primary blood leucocytes (Kiecolt-Glaser et al., 2009). Further, Maes and colleagues found that psychological stressors increase the production of IL-6, IL-1ra, and IFN- $\gamma$  from cells in the peripheral blood of a student population, particularly those who identified as stressed (Maes et al., 1997; Maes et al., 1995; Maes et al., 1993; Maes et al., 1998). In susceptible people, stress seems to increase inflammation.

Susceptibility to depression may also be predicted by inflammatory cytokines, particularly IL-6. In white collar workers with no serious health complications, serum IL-6 and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels predicted symptoms of depression that developed 12 years after the serum samples were collected (Gimeno et al., 2009; Zalli et al., 2016). Similarly, Khandaker and colleagues (2014) measured serum IL-6 and CRP levels in 9-year-old children and found that those with the top-third of IL-6 values were more likely to be depressed at 18 years of age. In an aging population (>55 years old), these same inflammatory markers predicted depression 5 years after sample collection (Gimeno et al., 2009; Zalli et al., 2016). Interestingly, others have shown that baseline inflammatory biomarkers also correlate with the effectiveness of antidepressant treatments. Patients with high baseline levels of CRP respond better to the TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitor infliximab or the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) escitalopram, while those with lower CRP respond better to the tricyclic nortriptyline (Raison et al., 2013; Uher et al., 2014). These results indicate that a patient's inflammatory profile not only impacts their susceptibility

to depression, but also their response to treatment. This suggests a connection between inflammation and neuromodulation.

Similar associations between depression susceptibility and IL-6 have been seen in animal models. Mice that are vulnerable to developing depression-like behaviors 10 days after experiencing repeated social defeat stress have elevated levels of plasma IL-6 immediately after their first defeat, whereas resilient animals do not (Hodes et al., 2014). This suggests that minor stressors can expose pre-existing differences in individuals. These pre-existing differences are seen in immune reactivity, as whole blood monocyte cultures collected from susceptible rats before social defeat produce more IL-6 when exposed to an immune stressor, such as lipopolysaccharides, than do cultures from resilient mice (Hodes et al., 2014). Strikingly, if bone marrow from a stress-susceptible mouse is transplanted into a naive recipient, that mouse also becomes susceptible to even a mild stressor (Hodes et al., 2014). These data suggest that IL-6 may not only be a biomarker of susceptibility but may also drive an individual's response to a stressor.

In the previous experiment (Chapter III), rats that developed depression after SCI also had elevated serum IL-6 before injury. These data, added to the reviewed literature, support the hypothesis that pre-existing inflammation, particularly IL-6, is associated with depression following a stressor. Based on the studies of Hodes et al. (2014), I hypothesize that elevated IL-6 prior to SCI may not only predict depression, but may also cause depression. In the following experiment, I elevated IL-6 levels in a group of animals by administering exogenous IL-6 intraperitoneally (i.p.) for a week prior to spinal contusion

injury. I then assessed post-injury depression in the IL-6 treated animals and vehicle-treated controls.

## **Methods and Results**

In this experiment, rats received a moderate contusion (n=54) or sham (n=15) injury and were assessed with the tests of depression-like behavior, motor function, and pain reactivity, described in Chapter II (General Methodology). To increase pre-injury IL-6 levels, the rats were given an i.p. injection 0, 1.6, or 3.2  $\mu$ g of recombinant rat IL-6 protein (506-RL/CF, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), suspended in 1X PBS, daily for 7 days immediately prior to injury.

Depression behavior and pain reactivity were assessed before IL-6 administration, after IL-6 administration, and for 23 days post-injury, as shown in Figure 4. At 24 days post-injury, subjects were humanely euthanized with pentobarbital (100 mg/kg, i.p.). Fresh brain tissue was collected postmortem and snap frozen for BDNF and serotonin ELISAs, as described in Chapter II (General Methodology).

Statistical testing was conducted as described in the General Methodology. Eight subjects were removed from the study. One subject died after surgery, 4 contused subjects were removed from the analyses for failure to reach minimum baseline sucrose preference (80%), 2 for BBB scores >8 on Day 1 post-injury, and 1 for failure to recover above a BBB score of 1.

# *IL-6 increases incidence of depression*

As might be expected, injury condition significantly affected open field activity. There was a main effect of injury on days 9 and 19 post-surgery (F(1,55)=7.06, p=0.01;





Throughout recovery, animals that clustered together as "depressed" had lower sucrose preference than not-depressed or sham animals (A). They also burrowed less and initiated less social interaction than the not-depressed and sham groups (B-C). While they did not differ significantly on open field activity, there was a significant effect of surgery (D). The depressed group also exhibited higher immobility than the shams on the forced swim test (E). All behaviors are presented as change-from-baseline. There was no difference in locomotor recovery between the depressed and not-depressed contused groups (F). \* p<0.05

F(1,55)=6.69, p=0.01, respectively). On both days, the contused subjects moved less than the shams (Fig. 15D). There was also a main effect of surgery on burrowing behavior on days 10 and 20 post-injury (F(1,55)=5.50, p=0.02; F(1,55)=4.91, p=0.03). Again, the contused subjects displayed decreased burrowing activity compared to shams (Fig. 15B).

Because the sham subjects differed from the contused animals so definitively, only contused subjects were included in depression clustering. Additionally, because open field activity was associated with locomotor recovery, it was not included as a factor in the cluster analysis. These measures ensured that the hierarchical cluster analysis divided subjects based on their depression-like behavior only and not their recovery of locomotor function. Using the subjects' scores averaged across the last two testing periods (Days 9-10 and Days 19-20) from the array of depression tests (social activity, sucrose preference, burrowing, and forced swim test), hierarchical cluster analysis divided the contused subjects into two groups. Comparisons of the clusters and the sham subjects across the individual tests revealed differences in sucrose preference, social interaction, burrowing, and immobility on the forced swim test (Fig. 15). One cluster of SCI subjects (depressed) displayed increased depression-like behavior relative to the other SCI cluster (notdepressed) and sham controls. ANOVAs and post hoc Tukey tests determined that the depressed group had lower sucrose preference than the not-depressed group at Days 9 and 19 post-injury (F(2,57)=5.04, p=0.01; F(2,57)=5.73, p=.005, respectively, Fig. 15A). They also had lower sucrose preference than the shams on Day 9 post-injury (F(2,57)=5.04, p=0.01, Fig. 15A). On the burrowing task, ANOVAs showed differences among the three groups (F(2,57)=7.98, p=0.001; F(2,57)=8.76, p<0.001, Fig. 15B). Post hoc tests determined that subjects in the depressed cluster burrowed less than the not-depressed subjects on Days 10 and 20 and less than the shams on the same days. The depressed group also had lower social interaction than the not-depressed group on Days 9 and 19 (F(2,57)=3.68, p<0.03; F(2,57)=5.76, p=0.005, respectively, Fig. 15C), and spent more time immobile on the forced swim test than the shams (F(2,57)=3.59, p=0.03, Fig. 15E). Open field activity and locomotor recovery did not differ across the depression groups.

Comparing the incidence of depression across the IL-6 dose groups, 67% of the moderate-dose IL-6 subjects clustered in the depressed group. This incidence is significantly higher than the predicted 30% ( $X^2(1,8)=6$ , p<0.05, Fig. 16F) that we have previously observed in SCI rats (Brakel et al., 2019; Luedtke et al., 2014; Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016). Similar to previous results, 35% percent of the PBS-treated and 46% of the high-dose IL-6 animals clustered in the depressed group (Fig. 16F). Further comparisons revealed a main effect of IL-6 dose on social behavior by 9 days post-injury (F(2,55)=5.325, p=0.008, Fig. 16C). *Post hoc* tests showed that the moderate IL-6 dose group (1.6 µg/day for 7 days) displayed decreased social behavior compared to the control or high-dose (3.2 µg/day for 7 days). There was also a trend for both IL-6 dose groups to have higher immobility on the forced swim test by the end of the experiment (Fig. 16E), but it was not statistically significant. Locomotor recovery did not differ among the IL-6 dose groups (Fig. 17).

# Sensory recovery

Two-way ANOVAs were conducted evaluating the effects of surgery and IL-6 dose on pain and sensory recovery. There was a main effect of surgery on at-level pain





The subjects that received the moderate dose of IL-6 exhibited decreased social activity compared to the high dose and control groups (C). While there were not significant differences among the groups on the other behavioral tests, there was a trend for the IL-6 treated animals to have higher immobility on the forced swim test (E). Sixty-seven percent of the moderate dose IL-6 animals clustered in the depressed group, which was significantly more than the predicted 33% (F). \* p<0.05



**Figure 17. Locomotor recovery among IL-6 pre-treatment groups.** There is no difference of locomotor recovery among the IL-6 dose groups. Both groups achieved stepping by Day 9, when behavioral testing began.

throughout recovery; the shams vocalized less than the contused subjects on the girdle test (Day 4: F(1,55)=12.9, 9=0.001; Day 11: F(1, 55)=8.1, p=0.006; Day 21: F(1,55)=4.1, p=0.05; Fig. 18A). There was also an effect of surgery on motor and vocal response in the Von Frey tactile testing on Days 4 and 21 post injury: the contused subjects had increased mechanical reactivity thresholds relative to the shams, indicating loss of hindlimb motor control and sensitivity (Day 4 motor: F(1,55)=67.8, p<0.001; Day 4 vocal: F(1,55)=26.3, p<0.001; Day 21 vocal: F(1,55)=7.1, p=0.01, Fig 18C-D).

Neither depression, nor IL-6 pre-treatment greatly impacted at-level pain or hindlimb tactile reactivity, although the depressed group vocalized less on the girdle test on Day 4 than the not-depressed group (F(2,57)=11.96, p<0.001, Figs. 18C-D and 19C-D). Two-way ANOVAs showed a main effect of IL-6 dose on tail flick latency on day 11 (F(2,55)=8.4, p=0.001, Fig. 19B). *Post hoc* comparisons showed that the animals with the medium dose of IL-6 (1.6  $\mu$ g/day) had a higher latency to flick their tails compared to the high dose group and controls.





# Cytokines

Serum cytokine levels were measured before injury, during IL-6 administration, and 10 days after injury (Fig. 20). IL-6 levels seemed to elevate after systemic IL-6 administration in the medium dose (1.6  $\mu$ g/day) and then remained elevated after injury, although there was no statistical significance across the groups.

# Serotonin and BDNF

BDNF levels in the frontal cortex and hippocampus were compared among depressed groups and IL-6 dose groups using ELISA assays, as described in the General



**Figure 19. Sensory reactivity of IL-6 pre-treatment groups.** There was no effect of IL-6 on at-level pain (A). The moderate IL-6 dose group showed elevated latency to flick their tails away from a painful light by day 11 post-injury, and the high dose group decreased their latency by the end of the experiment (B). There were no differences in tactile reactivity post-injury (C-D). \* p<0.05

Methodology (Chapter II). Due to the large number of subjects in this study and the longitudinal demands of behavioral characterization, the subjects were run in multiple cohorts, spaced a few weeks to a few months apart. Unexpectedly, there were large differences in BDNF and serotonin between cohorts, even when the assays were run on the same day using ELISA plates and kit components from the same lot. The values were converted to log<sub>2</sub> values to reduce the variability, but ANOVAs still detected significant differences between the third and the first two cohorts in the BDNF assays and between



Figure 20. IL-6 levels in pre-treated rats.

While not statistically significant, the moderate IL-6 dose resulted in elevated serum IL-6 levels after one week of administration (BL2). All dose groups had slightly elevated IL-6 at 10 days post-SCI.

the second cohort and the other two in the serotonin assays. Because of this complication, the significantly different cohorts were analyzed and graphed separately (Fig. 21).

A depression effect was seen on BDNF in the frontal cortex; the depressed group had lower BDNF expression than the not-depressed group (t(36)=2.85, p=0.007, Fig. 21A). There were no differences in BDNF expression among shams and contused subjects (Fig. 21B). The high-dose contused IL-6 animals also exhibited lower BDNF expression in the hippocampus than the other two contused dose groups (F(2,35)=5.04, p=0.012, Fig. 21C).

Surprisingly, there were no differences in serotonin levels between depressed and not-depressed groups in either cohort set in the hippocampus or frontal cortex. However, both depressed and not-depressed contused subjects displayed lower serotonin in the hippocampus than the shams (F(2,43)=12.62, p<0.001, Fig. 22A). Two way ANOVAs showed no main effects of dose or injury across the IL-6 groups (Fig. 22C-D).



**Figure 21. BDNF expression in depression and IL-6 pre-treatment groups.** Depressed subjects from cohorts 1&2 displayed decreased BDNF in their frontal cortex compared to not-depressed subjects (A). High IL-6 pre-treatment was associated with lower hippocampal BDNF (C). \*p<0.05

#### Discussion

Elevation of serum IL-6 prior to SCI was sufficient to increase the incidence of depression in this rodent model. SCI rats treated with a moderate dose of IL-6 for 7 days prior to injury had elevated serum IL-6 expression relative to vehicle-treated controls. Post-injury hierarchical clustering, based on an array of depression behaviors, also revealed that two-thirds of the moderate-dose IL-6 group were characterized as depressed. In previous experiments, about one-third of SCI rats developed depression-like behaviors



Figure 22. Serotonin expression in depression and IL-6 pre-treatment groups. There was an effect of surgery on serotonin levels in the hippocampus in cohorts 1&3 (A). No other changes in serotonin were observed. \*p<0.05

(Brakel et al., 2019; Luedtke et al., 2014; Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016), which corresponds with the incidence in the human population (Williams and Murray, 2015). A two-fold increase in the percent depressed represents a meaningful deviation from the expected incidence, and it indicates that IL-6 does play a role in establishing a predisposition for depression.

As previously discussed, associations between elevated IL-6 before a stressor and depression following the stressor have been observed in both humans and animals (Gimeno et al., 2009; Hodes et al., 2014). In large populations, IL-6 has been predictive

of present and future depression (Baune et al., 2012; Gimeno et al., 2009; Khandaker et al., 2014; Zalli et al., 2016). In a 6-year study in the Netherlands, Lamers et al. found that baseline IL-6 levels were positively correlated with recurring depression in previously depressed patients, but not with onset of major depression in previously healthy individuals (Lamers et al., 2019). Another study evaluated depression symptoms and inflammation in middle-aged twins (Huang et al., 2019). They found that IL-6 levels at the first testing timepoint predicted depression symptoms at follow-up seven years later (Huang et al., 2019). These studies indicate that IL-6 may be a meaningful predictor of future depression.

The existing literature, combined with the results presented in this chapter, also indicates that IL-6 alone, or combined with a stressor, is capable of producing depression. Hodes et al. (2014) administered IL-6 to mice before mild social defeat stress, which increased their vulnerability to depression after the test. Similarly, Rizzo et al. (2012) noted elevated depression-like behavior in mice that were centrally administered IL-6. Further, these effects were reversed with the addition of an IL-6 monoclonal antibody, showing that it was, indeed, the exogenous IL-6 administration that caused the observed behavioral changes (Rizzo et al., 2012).

While IL-6 activation before a stressor is sufficient to increase susceptibility to depression, it does not necessarily explain the increased incidence of depression after SCI specifically. The proportion of people with elevated cytokines is likely the same in people with SCI as exposed to any other stressor. Indeed, even a subset of people without injury or infection have cytokine levels comparable to those of people with chronic SCI (Davies

et al., 2007). It is possible that injury-induced IL-6 elevations may pre-dispose SCI patients to develop depression with subsequent (physical or non-physical) stressors. In the acute phase of SCI, when pro-inflammatory cytokines are upregulated, people with SCI experince significantly more stressors than members of the uninjured population (Arango-Lasprilla et al., 2011; Fann et al., 2011; Migliorini et al., 2009). Everything from navigating daily tasks, to socializing or maintaining economic stability introduces greater stress for a person with SCI than the average healthy person. This increased stress also extends into the chronic phase of injury, when is could synergize with infection-induced inflammation. The intriguing possibility that heightened IL-6 increases susceptibility to depression, when paired with a stressor post injury, needs further investigation in the animal model.

At the supraspinal level, both depression and IL-6 were associated with reduced BDNF levels in the brain. This finding is in keeping with extant literature (Jehn et al., 2015; Mondelli et al., 2011.; Shirayama et al., 2002). BDNF has been closely associated with depression: elevating it or it's receptor, TrkB, reduces depression-like behaviors (Quesseveur et al., 2013; Shirayama et al., 2002). Rat models of chronic stress, which result in depression-like behavior, exhibit elevated IL-6 and BDNF (You et al., 2011), Interestingly, there is also negative relationship between IL-6 production and BDNF in human patients. Jehn et al. (2015) found that IL-6 predicted BDNF levels in cancer patients, and that IL-6 and BDNF were strongly associated with depression and cognition. Further, patients experiencing first-time psychosis exhibit higher levels of inflammatory

cytokines (including IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ ) and lower BDNF, which are predicted by recent psychosocial stressors (Mondelli et al., 2011).

Strangely, in the current experiment, we did not see an effect of depression on serotonin. This is unusual, because decreased serotonin is commonly associated with depression, and because we observed a reduction in serotonin in the frontal cortex in the previous experiment (Chapter III). It is possible that the stratification of the groups simply obscured the results (there is a trend for the depressed group to have lower serotonin in the frontal cortex), but it is also possible that other factors influenced serotonin production instead. The majority of research investigating the effect of spinal cord injury on serotonin primarily involves the serotonergic projections necessary for motor movement. Our results suggest that spinal cord injury *per se* causes reductions in supraspinal serotonin levels, which may be why further reductions associated with depression are harder to isolate.

Finally, while the incidence of depression was increased in the moderate-dose IL-6 group, it was not significantly increased in the high-dose IL-6 group. Similarly, IL-6 expression was elevated in the moderate-dose IL-6 group after administration but was not in the high-dose group. While it seems odd that the high-dose group had lower levels of serum IL-6 after administration than the moderate-dose group, it may be that the higher dose of IL-6 initiated anti-inflammatory reactions that reduced total IL-6 levels. IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine that influences a number of systems and mediates both pro- and anti-inflammatory mechanisms (Scheller et al., 2011). IL-6 levels concomitant with those caused by a strenuous workout can increase IL-10 and IL-1ra, both anti-inflammatory cytokines, in plasma in humans (Steensberg et al., 2003). IL-10 acts as a swift and potent

inhibitor of pro-inflammatory cytokine production, including IL-6 (Wang et al., 1994). If our introduction of large quantities of IL-6 quickly initiated production of IL-10, it is possible that IL-10 reduced IL-6 levels to baseline by the time serum was collected. This would explain the differences we see between the cytokine levels in the dose groups and their behavior: if IL-6 has to be within a certain range to elicit its negative effects, then the high dose group, which initiated counterintuitive suppression of IL-6, would be the least affected. Another, more direct, pathway by which high levels of IL-6 can regulate themselves is through the JAK/STAT pathway. This pathway ultimately leads to the modulation of transcription of many cytokines and other signaling molecules. One class of these signals, suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins, inhibits IL-6, completing a negative feedback loop. Excessive IL-6 should trigger SOCS activity, which would in turn reduce IL-6 activity (Alexander and Hilton, 2004). Future studies would benefit from a more detailed investigation of IL-6 activity, outlining its production throughout the body and its routes of activity. In the presence of tissue damage or infection, monocytes, macrophages, and microglia (in the CNS) are the primary producers of IL-6 (Tanaka et al., 2014). However, in IL-6 is also produced by fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and mesenchymal cells (Tanaka et al., 2014). Further, IL-6 action is mediated by method of activation, dose, and duration, all of which should be taken into account when investigating its impact on recovery outcomes after SCI.

Overall, though, IL-6's role in depression symptomology after SCI is clearly connected to a myriad of other processes. Understanding the role that IL-6 plays in the

susceptibility to stress may be crucial to our understanding depression that occurs after extreme stressors such as SCI.

#### CHAPTER V

## STRESS BEFORE SCI AND THE GLUCOCORTICOID RESPONSE

#### Introduction

The previous chapters have shown that pre-existing inflammation, specifically elevated IL-6, increases the incidence of depression after SCI. Others have also shown that the IL-6 response is heightened in individuals susceptible to stress (Hodes et al., 2014), but the reason for this response is unknown. I propose that pre-existing inflammation works with the glucocorticoid system to move the HPA axis into a state of hyperexcitability. Typically, the HPA axis reduces stress response and inflammation via glucocorticoid (cortisol in humans, corticosterone in rats) release. In response to stress the hypothalamus produces corticotropin releasing hormone, which causes the pituitary gland to produce adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH). ACTH then stimulates the synthesis of cortisol in the adrenal glands, which release cortisol into circulation. Cortisol can have direct effects on the hypothalamus, as well as travel to targets throughout the body, where it binds to the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) in the cell cytoplasm. Once cortisol binds to it, the GR translocates into the cell nucleus, where it dimerizes and acts as a transcription factor for many regulatory genes, modulating neural input into the hypothalamus and reducing ACTH production. However, when the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) is dysfunctional, glucocorticoids fail to initiate negative feedback, and cortisol builds up, causing hyperactivity of the HPA axis (also referred to as glucocorticoid resistance), depression, and inflammation.

Glucocorticoid receptor dysfunction has been seen ubiquitously in humans experiencing depression and in rodents exhibiting depression-like symptoms (Pariante, 2017). In a popular test of GR functionality, the exogenous glucocorticoid dexamethasone is administered, and the time it takes for it to clear from circulation is measured. Depressed patients have significantly higher dexamethasone levels in these tests, and they take longer than healthy controls to metabolize and remove the glucocorticoid from circulation (Heuser et al., 1994; Pariante, 2017). These results have been linked to dysfunctions of the glucocorticoid receptor itself. For example, Bet et al. (2009) found that GR gene polymorphisms, combined with childhood adversity, put people at risk for developing depression as adults. Additionally, both people and rodents expressing lower levels of functional GR are more likely to develop depression (Bet et al., 2009; Chiba et al., 2012; Pariante, 2017; Ridder et al., 2005). Two isoforms of the GR have been identified in humans and rats: GR $\alpha$  and GR $\beta$ . The GR $\beta$  isoform is inactive and is more prevalent in depressed individuals, leading to decreased GR functionality (Carvalho et al., 2014; DuBois et al., 2013). These data indicate that GR expression and function are good indicators of depression susceptibility.

Glucocorticoid receptor sensitivity is easily altered by inflammation, stress, or illness, all characteristics of spinal cord injury (Maldonado Bouchard and Hook, 2014). Pro-inflammatory cytokines prompt cascades that interact with the GR and prevent it from initiating an anti-inflammatory feedback response. For example, IL-1 activates the p38 MAPK pathway, which prevents GR translocation into the cell nucleus via phosphorylation (Pariante et al., 1999), as shown in Figure 3. Another common inflammatory marker, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), activates the JNK pathway, which inhibits GR function via protein-protein interactions (Pace et al., 2007). Pre-existing inflammation may cause low-grade glucocorticoid resistance that magnifies when a physical or psychological stressor is introduced into the system.

Chronic stress also contributes to glucocorticoid resistance, which, in turn, promotes inflammation and increases susceptibility to illness (Cohen et al., 2012). People with SCI are already at a high risk for chronic stress and inflammation, making them more likely to experience disrupted GR function. Surprisingly, little research has been conducted on glucocorticoid receptor function after SCI, despite the fact that acute glucocorticoid steroid administration has been used as an emergency therapy for decades (Xu et al., 1998; Young et al., 1994). In a rat model of SCI, elevated GR expression has been seen for up to 1 day post-injury, but there have been no studies on the long-term effects of SCI on GR expression (Yan et al., 1999). It is likely that chronic stress and the immune activation from SCI work synergistically to inhibit GR function, as has been seen in other illness models.

Based on the connection between GR function and depression, and on the findings that pre-existing inflammation predicts depression, I hypothesize that animals that have high glucocorticoid levels after a mild stressor will be more likely to develop depression after SCI. I also hypothesize that animals that develop depression after SCI will have lower GR expression, higher pre-existing inflammation, and higher corticosterone levels than those that do not. To test these hypotheses, serum corticosterone levels were measured in rats before and after a stressor as well as after SCI. These rats were evaluated for depression using an array of behavioral tests, and their inflammatory responses were assayed.

## Methods and results

Rats were given a moderate contusion injury (n=30) and assessed with tests of depression-like behavior, motor function, and pain reactivity as described in Chapter II (General Methodology). To assess the basal stress response, half of the subjects underwent a mild stressor, in the form of a 10-min forced swim test, two days before injury. This mild stressor has been shown in other models to cause a temporary stress (glucocorticoid) response (Gong et al., 2015). Serum was collected 40 min after the forced swim stress, as described in General Methodology.

Serum corticosterone and cytokine levels were measured before and after injury; depression-like behavior and sensory reactivity were assessed before injury and for 30 days post-injury, as generally described in Figure 4. Thirty-two days after SCI, subjects were humanely euthanized with pentobarbital (100 mg/kg, i.p.), and fresh brain tissue was collected postmortem, as described in Chapter II (General Methodology). The frontal cortex and hippocampus were dissected out of the brain and snap frozen separately in liquid nitrogen. The frozen tissue was stored at -80°C until it was processed for rtPCR or ELISAs, as described in Chapter II (General Methodology).

Statistics were conducted as described previously (General Methodology). Three subjects were removed from analyses for BBB scores greater than or equal to 8 on Day 1 post-injury, and one was excluded for failure to achieve 75% sucrose preference by baseline testing.

#### Depression occurred in 50% of contused animals regardless of stressors

Hierarchical cluster analysis was conducted using the depression scores averaged across, the last two testing periods. Two animals had very high forced swim scores, driving any cluster that included the forced swim test. Additionally, the previous experiment showed that velocity tends to drive clustering toward recovery of function rather than depression behavior *per se*. Therefore, both the forced swim test and velocity were removed from the cluster analysis. Sucrose preference, social activity, and burrowing were used to determine the clusters. The resulting analysis produced two clusters, one of which exhibited distinct reductions in sucrose preference and social activity across the recovery period (sucrose preference: Day 19, t(24)=3.46, p=0.002; Day 29, t(24)=4.40, p<0.001; social activity: Day 19, t(24)=3.51, p=0.002; Day 29, t(24)=2.57, p=0.017, Fig. 23).

Forty-two percent of the group that underwent forced swim stress before SCI, and 58% the group that did not, displayed depression-like behaviors after SCI. T-tests revealed no differences between the stressed and unstressed groups on the depression tests following SCI, indicating that this mild stressor did not produce lasting behavioral effects.

# Glucocorticoid response in depressed animals

Serum corticosterone levels increased 40 minutes after forced swim stress in the stressed group compared to the unstressed group, indicating that the forced swim was an effective mild stressor. Repeated measures tests revealed main effects of time and stress (F(2,48)=6.41, p=0.003; F(1,24)=18.79, p<0.001, respectively, Fig. 24). Corticosterone in



#### Figure 23. Depression behavior after SCI.

Throughout recovery, animals that clustered together as depressed had lower sucrose preference than not-depressed or sham animals (A). They also engaged in less social activity than the not-depressed group (B). There were no differences in burrowing, open field activity, time spent in the center of the open field arena, or locomotor recovery (C-F). All behaviors are presented as change-from-baseline. \* p<0.05



#### Figure 24. Stress increases corticosterone.

Rats' corticosterone levels increased 40 min. after a forced swim stress test, and rats stressed before injury released more corticosterone 1 day after SCI than unstressed subjects (A). \* p<0.05

the stressed group was also elevated 24 hours after SC1 (3 days after forced swim stress) compared to the unstressed group.

Serum corticosterone and hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor (GR) expression levels were also compared between depressed and not-depressed animals. High post-stress corticosterone levels did not predict depression, but the animals that exhibited depressionlike behavior had slightly higher corticosterone at baseline (*before* the forced swim stress), compared to the not-depressed group. They also had lower change-from-baseline corticosterone levels post-injury compared to the not depressed group (t(24)=1.99, p=0.05, Fig. 25), possibly indicating that they released less corticosterone following SCI than their not-depressed counterparts.

Contrary to my hypothesis, there were no statistically significant differences in glucocorticoid receptor mRNA expression between depressed groups, although the depressed group tended to have lower receptor expression across both the alpha and beta



**Figure 25.** Corticosterone in depressed rats. Depressed rats' serum corticosterone decreased on day 1 post injury compared to the not-depressed group (A). \* p<0.05

receptor isoforms (Fig. 26). There was also no significant correlation between corticosterone levels and GR expression and no differences in the GR $\alpha$ :GR $\beta$  ratio between the depressed and not depressed groups.

# Depressed rats exhibit less BDNF

BDNF and serotonin were assayed in the hippocampus and frontal cortex of depressed and not-depressed rats using ELISAs. The depressed subjects had lower hippocampal BDNF than the not-depressed subjects (t(24)=2.16, p=0.041, Fig. 27). There were no differences in serotonin levels in the hippocampus or frontal cortex. Interestingly, hippocampal BDNF positively correlated with hippocampal serotonin (r=0.439, p=0.025, Fig. 27). Hippocampal serotonin, in turn, positively correlated with baseline serum corticosterone (r=0.413, p=0.036, Fig. 27).



Figure 26. BDNF and serotonin in depressed rats.

BDNF levels were lower in the hippocampi of depressed animals compared to not depressed (A). No changes were seen in serotonin levels (B). Hippocampal BDNF was positively correlated with hippocampal serotonin (C). Additionally, hippocampal serotonin was positively correlation with baseline corticosterone (D). \* p<0.05



Figure 27. Glucocorticoid receptor expression in depressed rats.

Depressed rats exhibited slightly lower negative delta CT scores, a measure of mRNA levels, across the alpha and beta isoforms of the glucocorticoid receptor.

## Elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines in depression

Cytokines levels from serum collected before stress, after stress, and 10 days after SCI were measured using 9-plex magnetic bead assays (RECYTMAG-65K, EMD Millipore). Depressed subjects displayed elevated IL-6, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-10, and IL-4 *before* injury (t(24)= -2.51, p=0.019; t(24)= -2.23, p=0.035; t(24)= -2.02, p=0.05; t(24)= -2.77, p=0.011; t(24)= -2.19, p=0.04, Fig. 28), replicating our previous experiments, but there were no differences between the groups by ten days post-injury. Repeated measures tests showed a significant effect of time for all cytokines, but, intriguingly, only IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  were elevated in response to SCI at ten days post-injury (Fig. 28B, D). Additionally, TNF- $\alpha$  levels from Day 10 negatively correlated with glucocorticoid receptor expression at the end of the experiment (Fig. 29). Linear regression showed that elevated TNF- $\alpha$  predicted decreased glucocorticoid receptor expression (r<sup>2</sup>=0.324, p=0.043).

# Sensory reactivity

Pain and sensory reactivity tests were conducted for four weeks following SCI. There was a trend for at-level pain, measured with the girdle test, to increase three weeks following injury, but it did not differ between depressed and not-depressed groups (Fig. 30). There were also no differences between groups on latency to flick their tails away from a hot light or reactivity to Von Frey filaments, but there was an effect of time: both groups increased motor reactivity to mechanical stimulation across time, responding to



**Figure 28. Depressed subjects exhibit higher inflammation before SCI.** Serum cytokines were elevated in depressed subjects at baseline (BL), *before* SCI and the development of depression-like behaviors (A-E) TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\alpha$  were also elevated in response to injury (B, F). \* p<0.05



Figure 29. TNF correlates with glucocorticoid expression. Serum TNF- $\alpha$  at 10 days post-injury negatively correlated with hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor expression. R<sup>2</sup>=0.324, p=0.043



Figure 30. Sensory reactivity in depressed rats. Serum TNF- $\alpha$  at 10 days post-injury negatively correlated with hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor expression. R<sup>2</sup>=0.324, p=0.043

lower force stimulations, but vocal reactivity decreased (F(3,72)=4.8, p=0.004; F(3,72)=7.7, p=0.001, respectively, Fig. 30).

## Discussion

Contrary to my hypothesis, higher corticosterone did not predict future depression, indicating that the immediate stress response (or at least corticosterone release) is not an indicator of susceptibility to depression. However, the 10-minute forced swim stress successfully elevated corticosterone levels, and the stressed group had elevated corticosterone compared to the unstressed group at least one day after SCI (3 days after the stress test). Nonetheless, the distribution of depression was similar across the stressed and unstressed groups.

In fact, a high number of the subjects in this experiment were susceptible to depression. Nearly 50% of all subjects clustered in the depressed group, exhibiting signs of anhedonia (reduced sucrose preference and social activity). This is a larger percentage than we have seen in most of our depression studies (Brakel et al., 2019; Luedtke et al., 2014), but it is not unprecedented in this model of depression after SCI. Using the same hierarchical cluster model of depression analysis, Maldonado et al. (2016) found three behavioral phenotypes (healthy, depressed, and depressed/anxious) after SCI, and the two depressed groups made up 57% of the total population. Similarly, Farrell et al. (2019) found that 58% of their rats developed a depression phenotype after SCI. Those rats were female, however, which may influence the depression incidence. Women are more likely to develop depression in the human population, and unpublished data from our own lab has shown sex differences affect the development of depression in our rat model of SCI.
What is apparent in the current study is that the higher incidence of depression was not due to pre-injury stress. The incidence of depression was actually slightly lower in the group exposed to stress, with 43% of the group displaying depression-like behavior, compared with 54% in the unstressed group. This indicates that the stressor was either not large enough to work synergistically with the SCI, or that it may have even been somewhat protective. There is some evidence that cortisol pre-treatment may protect against negative affect after stress test in healthy humans (Het and Wolf, 2007), but the majority of research shows that stressors and elevated glucocorticoids contribute to depression in humans and animals (Bet et al., 2009; Chiba et al., 2012; Fleshner et al., 1995; Malisch et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2008). The two-hit hypothesis of psychiatric illnesses posits that an adverse event during development prepares (genetically, physiologically, and/or psychologically) an individual to be susceptible to a later stressor in adulthood. This hypothesis has been widely applied to schizophrenia and moderately investigated in regard to depression. Early adversity in people or rodents predisposes to develop depression after another stressor later in life. This experiment applied the two-hit hypothesis to adult stress, but we found that a mild stressor did not produce a meaningful impact even when combined with SCI. Stressors in adulthood may also predispose individuals to developing depression after a second, stronger "hit," but this hypothesis will need to be more completely explored.

Intriguingly, depressed subjects produced less corticosterone on the day after injury, compared to their baseline production (before stress), than the not-depressed subjects. The significance of this change-from-baseline measurement was partially driven by slightly higher corticosterone production from depressed subjects at baseline and slightly lower production at Day 1 (Fig. 25B). Nevertheless, it is interesting, because depression is often associated with *elevated* corticosterone production. However, spinal cord injury has also been shown to disrupt the diurnal glucocorticoid cycle, which may be affecting our results (Gaudet et al., 2018). This combination of depression-related corticosterone elevations and SCI-associated disruptions likely accounts for the variability across days in the glucocorticoid levels in these subjects. Depression is generally paired with elevated glucocorticoid levels, in both humans and animals. Higher cortisol levels have been detected in currently depressed patients and in patients who have relapsed after anti-depressant treatment (Appelhof et al., 2006; Keller et al., 2017). In rodents, administration of corticosterone are more likely to exhibit depression-like behaviors (Malisch et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2008). It is clear that corticosterone is associated with the onset of depression; it is also possible that elevated baseline corticosterone levels could predict susceptibility to depression, independent of pre-injury stress.

In addition to slightly elevated baseline corticosterone in the depressed subjects, we also saw slightly lowered glucocorticoid receptor (GR) expression. While the differences between the depressed and not-depressed groups were not statistically significant, they do align with what others have reported. Human studies tend to find lowered GR in depressed patients, though some have found no differences (Pariante and Miller, 2001). In animal models, researchers have seen a causal link between decreased GR and depression-like behavior. Mice bred to express low GR are more susceptible to stress tests (Ridder et al., 2005), and rats subjected to chronic restraint stress exhibit more

depressive behaviors and much lower GR production (Chiba et al., 2012). Additionally, people experiencing depression exhibit a lower ratio of the active  $\alpha$  form of the GR to the inactive  $\beta$  form, which may account for their glucocorticoid resistance. We did not see differences in  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  ratios among our depressed and not-depressed animals. It is possible that greater distinction of the  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  ratios were obscured by the many cell types in the hippocampus homogenate from which the GR was measured. GR expression has been repeatedly demonstrated in neurons, microglia, and astrocytes, but it seems that the isoform ratios in all of these cell types have not been explored (Liposits and Bohn, 1993; Tanaka et al., 1997; Unemura et al., 2012). Higher  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  ratios have been seen in circulating monocytes of depressed patients with elevated inflammation, so it is likely that individual cell types in the brain would also render more specific results (Carvalho et al., 2014). Sorting neurons, microglia, and astrocytes before extracting GR RNA may produce clearer and more meaningful results in the future.

Interestingly, post-injury TNF- $\alpha$  expression negatively correlated with overall GR expression after SCI. TNF- $\alpha$  is an inflammatory cytokine involved in the acute inflammatory response and also responsible for activating multiple pathways that suppress the GR during glucocorticoid resistance. This cytokine not only elevates with depression and SCI (Liu et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2002), but administration of exogenous glucocorticoids reduces TNF- $\alpha$  expression after SCI (Xu et al., 1998). As discussed in the Chapter I (Fig. 3), TNF- $\alpha$  activates NF- $\kappa$ B, which inhibits the GR, resulting in higher cytokine expression and further activation of the stress response. The correlation between high TNF- $\alpha$  and low GR in our subjects suggests that inflammation is, indeed, impacting

GR response. This has also been seen in human depression studies, where TNF mRNA expression negatively correlates with GR- $\alpha$  mRNA expression in depressed patients (Carvalho et al., 2014). Looking at our cytokine data, in this experiment, TNF- $\alpha$  was one of the few inflammatory factors that was elevated both after stress and after SCI. Because it is related to SCI, stress, and depression, it could very well be a key player in SCI-induced depression. Farrell and Houle (2019) investigated this relationship in female rats. They administered a TNF inhibitor to rats after SCI in an effort to reduce TNF activity and thus reduce depression (Farrell and Houle, 2019). Counterintuitively, animals that received the inhibitor exhibited more depression-like behaviors (Farrell and Houle, 2019). Given that there are known differences between male and female inflammatory responses (Klein and Flanagan, 2016; Rainville et al., 2018), it is possible that TNF's impact on depression would be different in male rats. This molecule, and its interaction with the HPA axis after SCI, is worth exploring further in male and female models of SCI.

In addition to TNF- $\alpha$ , a number of other serum cytokines were elevated at baseline in the depressed subjects, replicating the results from Chapter III. As seen previously, we demonstrated that IL-6 and IL-1 $\alpha$  were elevated at baseline in the depressed subjects. This replication underscores the assertion that inflammation before SCI predicts subsequent depression-like behaviors. As mentioned previously, others have found that pre-existing inflammation predicts susceptibility to depression following a stressor (Gimeno et al., 2009; Hodes et al., 2014; Zalli et al., 2016). Our data strongly support the published studies. Contrary to our expectations, though, we did not see that SCI greatly increased inflammation. While TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\alpha$  did increase e after SCI, neither IL-6 nor IL-1 $\beta$  were elevated at 10 days post-SCI. As discussed in Chapter 3, it is likely that SCI-induced inflammation has subsided by Day 10 post injury and earlier assessment of cytokine levels may be more informative of an interactive relationship between inflammation and depression after SCI. However, it is also possible that, while IL-6 is predictive of depression susceptibility, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\alpha$  are more associated with the inflammatory response after SCI. Investigating this relationship may provide insight into inflammation's interaction with depression after SCI.

Finally, as in previous experiments, BDNF was decreased in the brains of depressed subjects. As discussed in Chapter IV, this finding supports our phenotypic categorization of depression based on behavior and is consistent with the extant literature. Lower BDNF has been observed in the hippocampus and plasma of both rodents and humans exhibiting signs of depression (Jehn et al., 2015; Martinowich et al., 2007; Mondelli et al., 2011; Quesseveur et al., 2013; Shimizu et al., 2003). Interestingly, BDNF was also positively correlated with serotonin, even though serotonin itself was not associated with depression in this experiment. There is an abundance of evidence showing that BDNF and serotonin reciprocally regulate each other (Martinowich and Lu, 2008). Among other things, BDNF promotes the development and function of serotonergic neurons. In turn, serotonin upregulation promotes CREB phosphorylation, which positively regulates BDNF transcription (Martinowich and Lu, 2008). BDNF and serotonin are both also controlled by inflammation through the kynurenine pathway (discussed in Chapter I), which diverts tryptophan away from serotonin production and produces neurotoxic quinolinic acid (Fig. 2). However, BDNF's regulation of serotonin predominantly relies on neurogenesis, so BDNF's influence on serotonin availability would likely have a delayed biological effect. Thus, BDNF-related differences in serotonin expression may be a chronic, rather than acute, feature of depression, and changes in serotonin may emerge at later timepoints than those assessed in the current study.

Overall, mild stress before SCI did not increase susceptibility to depression or help identify subjects that were prone to developing depression, but baseline inflammation and corticosterone were again elevated in depressed subjects. Pre-existing individual differences clearly play a role in susceptibility to the development of depression after SCI.

#### CHAPTER VI

### DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

In these experiments, I used behavioral and molecular measures to determine the effects of inflammation on depression after spinal cord injury. Commensurate with previous studies from our laboratory, I found that SCI increases the incidence of depression relative to non-SCI rats (Brakel et al., 2019). Additionally, across experiments, I saw that depression after SCI was associated with elevated serum cytokines, including IL-6 and IL-1 $\alpha$ , before injury. With further investigation, I found that exogenous IL-6, administered before SCI, predisposed individuals to develop depression after SCI. How IL-6 predisposes a subject to depression remains unknown. I proposed that pre-existing inflammation may lead to glucocorticoid resistance, leading to dysregulation of the immune response after injury, and subsequently to depression. Refuting this hypothesis, I found that subjects with pre-existing inflammation did not have higher corticosterone levels post-injury, although they did have elevated depression-like behaviors. In the following sections, I will discuss the effects of inflammation on the development of depression and show that a physical and emotional stressor such as SCI puts patients at greater risk for impaired psychological health.

# **Depression in a rodent model of SCI**

The results from each of my experiments showed that a subset of rats developed depression-like behaviors after SCI, further validating our model of SCI-induced depression. Hierarchical clustering based on an array of depression tests is a unique method of determining depression in a rat model of SCI, because it takes into account many aspects of behavior. In my experiments, we identified depression through increased immobility on the forced swim test and decreased social activity, sucrose preference, burrowing, and open field activity. Hierarchical clustering identified approximately 33-50% of untreated animals as depressed, replicating our previous studies of depression in a rat model of SCI (Brakel et al., 2019; Luedtke et al., 2014; Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016).

Notably, we saw markers of depression not only at the behavioral level, but also at the neurotransmitter level. Supraspinal serotonin was downregulated in the depressed subjects in the first experiment (Chapter III), and BDNF was downregulated in the depressed subjects in the other two experiments (Chapters IV and V). These data are meaningful for validation of this rodent model of SCI because they are concomitant with changes found in the human population. Decreased BDNF and serotonin are associated with major depressive disorder (Fakhoury, 2016; Kambeitz and Howes, 2015; Mahar et al., 2014; Martinowich and Lu, 2008; Martinowich et al., 2007; Mondelli et al., 2011; Shimizu et al., 2003). Serotonin is one of the most commonly known neurotransmitters associated with depression. Its depletion results in depressive symptoms, and some of the most effective antidepressants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), work by inhibiting pre-synaptic reuptake of serotonin, increasing its availability for post-synaptic receptors. BDNF, which can modulate serotonin, is also downregulated in depression. When BDNF levels are low, neurogenesis is inhibited, resulting in a loss of brain plasticity (Kempermann and Kronenberg, 2003; Taliaz et al., 2010). Supporting this, in Chapter III, we found reduced hippocampal neurogenesis in the depressed subjects. These data are similar to those of Taliaz et al. (2010), who saw both increased depression-like behaviors and decreased neurogenesis in mice with knocked down hippocampal BDNF. Together, these data highlight the importance of molecular measures in any animal model of depression.

Importantly, the behavioral and molecular changes that develop in the depressed subset of subjects after SCI are independent of locomotor recovery, lesion size, or pain. Across experiments, we saw no differences in locomotor recovery in the depressed and not-depressed groups. Spinal cord lesion analysis in Chapter III confirmed that there were no differences in injury severity between the depression groups. Each of the experiments also showed that depression in this rat model was not associated with the development of neuropathic pain. However, as shown in Chapter IV, locomotor function and pain response are altered considerably in SCI compared to sham injury. By assessing depression in SCI subjects only, rather than comparing them with shams, we control for these injury-specific, confounding factors. In doing so, we have created a model that is capable of differentiating individual differences among animals after injury.

This is meaningful because, despite the fact that all SCI rats have injuries that impact their performance on behavioral tasks, a subset of these subjects develop definable depression-like behaviors. This indicates that there is something unique about these animals' responses to spinal cord injury, which lead to depression. I originally thought that diverse inflammatory responses to SCI led to the differences in depression behavior after injury. That hypothesis was proved incorrect when cytokine profiles of the SCI rats showed little chronic inflammation after SCI and when inflammatory markers in the depressed subjects were not consistently upregulated during that time. Interestingly, the inflammatory data instead indicated that the immune profile before injury may play a crucial role in the predisposition towards depression.

#### Inflammation and depression

There is growing evidence that inflammation is associated with depression. In animal models of depression, IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  are elevated after four weeks of chronic mild stress (Zhu et al., 2006). Administration of antibodies against inflammatory molecules also decrease both inflammation and stress-induced depression behaviors (Hodes et al., 2014). Similarly, in humans, individuals with depression tend to have higher inflammatory cytokines and immune responses (Lindqvist et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012; Maes et al., 1997), and administration of inflammatory cytokines increases the incidence of depression in the clinical population. For example, interferon-alpha therapeutically administered to cancer patients significantly increases their depression symptoms (Capuron et al., 2002; Capuron and Ravaud, 1999). Conversely, IL-6 neutralizing antibodies have entered clinical trials for treatment of depression in patients with inflammatory diseases, and they have successfully attenuated depressive symptoms (Sun et al., 2017).

Surprisingly, our data indicate that inflammation following SCI may not be the proximate cause of depression. In Chapter III we saw that inflammation was elevated in the depressed subjects compared to the not-depressed after SCI, but this finding was not replicated in Chapter V. Additionally, we saw little inflammation in response to SCI itself.

In both Chapters III and V, few inflammatory cytokines or chemokines rose higher than their baselines by 10 days post-injury. If chronic SCI-induced inflammation were responsible for the maintenance of depression, the subjects from these experiments would have had greater cytokine production after injury compared to their baseline levels. The literature also shows mixed results regarding inflammation after rodent SCI. Popovich et al. (1999) evaluated inflammatory cells surrounding the lesion site for weeks after SCI, and they found activated microglia and macrophages up to 28 days post injury. They did not, however, evaluate peripheral inflammation. In fact, surprisingly few people have measured peripheral cytokine levels after rodent SCI. Yang et al. (2018) observed that peripheral IL-6 levels rose quickly after SCI and returned to baseline levels by 7 days postinjury. Similarly, Maldonado et al. (2016) found elevated serum cytokines at Day 1 postinjury in depressed SCI rodents, compared to not-depressed and uninjured animals, but there was little effect of SCI per se. By Day 24 post-injury, nearly all serum cytokine levels had returned to baseline levels (Maldonado-Bouchard et al., 2016). These data indicate that measuring serum cytokines at Day 10 post-injury in our studies was likely too late to see meaningful differences associated with SCI. Immediate changes in inflammation are most obvious in the hours to days after SCI.

To further explore the relationship between SCI-induced inflammation and depression, we could evaluate depression and inflammation at a much later period (6 months or more). In humans, inflammation and depression are seen months to years after injury (Arango-Lasprilla et al., 2011; Davies et al., 2007; Dryden et al., 2005). Chronic SCI may alter an individual's physiology through long-term changes such as gut dysbiosis

or neurogenesis. These changes may take months to fully manifest themselves, and they may explain why depression and inflammation are harder to detect in the weeks following SCI. Additionally, our method of detecting depression using hierarchical clustering may give inconsistent clusters. Eliminating one behavior from the clustering model can sometimes drastically change the results. This is not ideal, because, occasionally, baseline differences or outliers within one behavioral test necessitate that test's removal from the cluster analysis. This is one of the reasons that molecular confirmations, such as BDNF, serotonin, and cytokine levels are important; they provide secondary levels of validation to the behavioral phenotype. However, in the future, it may be more convenient to create a quantitative measure of depression. This is possible through a discriminant function analysis, in which each behavioral test is weighted and inserted into an equation (Luedtke et al., 2014). Each animal would then receive a quantitative "depression score" that could be used as continuous measurement in statistical analyses. A depression "cut off" would be established based on the scores of animals already identified as depressed. This would provide a more quantitative and objective method of determining depression, possibly emulating depression questionnaires administered in clinical settings.

Even without a quantitative measure, I was able to successfully identify depression after SCI and associate it with molecular markers of depression, including markers of inflammation before injury. While others have identified depression after SCI, they have yet to associate it with baseline molecular predictors for susceptibility.

# Inflammation's influence before injury

In my experiments I found that inflammation before injury was predictive of susceptibility to depression after injury. In experiments 1 and 3 (Chapters III and V), subjects that developed depression-like behaviors a month after injury also had elevated IL-6 levels prior to injury. As discussed previously in those chapters, these results are commensurate with findings in other animal models of depression and the clinical population. Hodes et al. (2014) reported greater IL-6 produced, before a stressor, from the leukocytes of animals that were later susceptible to repeated social stress. In humans, an increasingly large number of studies have reported a longitudinal relationship between elevated IL-6 and the subsequent development of depression, even when IL-6 was not related to depression cross-sectionally (Baune et al., 2012; Gimeno et al., 2009; Khandaker et al., 2014; Lamers et al., 2019; Zalli et al., 2016). Further, pre-existing IL-6 levels can predict the success of antidepressant treatments. IL-6 levels are higher in depressed patients resistant to SSRI treatment, but electroconvulsive therapy is more effective in treatment resistant patients with higher IL-6 levels before the therapy (Kruse et al., 2018; Yoshimura et al., 2009).

The pre-existing IL-6 differences observed in these studies are interesting, given that they were observed in genetically similar rats raised, housed, and handled under similar conditions. Humans experience incredible genetic and environmental diversity, which easily explain the predictive inflammatory differences seen in many large, longitudinal studies. The reduced diversity in my rat studies indicates that even small differences my have a larger inflammatory impact. Firstly, the Sprague Dawley strain is outbred, so there will be some genetic differences among individuals. Some of the subjects may have had polymorphisms that contribute to glucocorticoid receptor dysfunction or other inflammatory processes. Additionally, prenatal and neonatal stressors may have impacted adult inflammation, causing the baseline differences we observed. Neonatal stressors can impact inflammation in adulthood (Kentner et al., 2010). For example, in rodents, maternal separation has been shown to increase susceptibility to parasitic and viral infections, disrupt hippocampal development, and activate inflammatory microglia (Barreau et al., 2006; Meagher et al., 2010; Roque et al., 2016). Any inadvertent stressors introduced during development, before we received the rats or conducted our experiments, could have caused long-lasting immune changes and elevated serum cytokines.

In Chapter IV, I saw that administering IL-6 systemically before injury resulted in a greater incidence of depression-like behaviors after injury. This finding was especially important because it shows that inflammation before injury in not just associated with depression, it may be causal to depression. Hodes et al. (2014) also saw a causal effect of peripheral IL-6 on the development of depression-like behaviors. Systemic administration of an IL-6 monoclonal antibody significantly reduced depression-like behaviors in mice exposed to repeated social defeat stress (Hodes et al., 2014). Further, IL-6 knockout mice display greater resilience to both social defeat stress and witnessed social defeat than wildtype mice (Hodes et al., 2014). Together, these experiments provide compelling evidence that inflammation, and specifically IL-6, plays an important role in predisposing individuals to the development of depression.

### Mechanisms of pre-existing inflammation-associated depression

There has been much research investigating the role that inflammation may play in causing depression, but there has been little regarding the mechanisms of inflammationrelated *predisposition* to depression. The strongest theory for the relationship between depression and pre-existing inflammation is that the inflammation works on the HPA axis to make it vulnerable to major stressors. IL-6 is related to many processes, and it is not surprising that it has also been found to impact the HPA axis and the glucocorticoid system, both of which are driving forces behind depression. IL-6 has been associated with reduced expression of glucocorticoid-inducible genes and reduced hippocampal volume in depressed patients, compared to healthy controls (Frodl et al., 2012). IL-1a, another inflammatory cytokine upregulated both before and after SCI in our depressed subjects, also influences the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) (Pariante et al., 1999). It reduces GR translocation into the cell nucleus and promotes cytosolic GR binding, preventing the GR from enacting its typical transcriptional effects (Pariante et al., 1999). TNF- $\alpha$  also modulates the HPA axis via multiple pathways that inhibit GR function. Through one of its pathways, TNF- $\alpha$  activates NF- $\kappa$ B, which binds to the GR in the cell nucleus. NF- $\kappa$ B then inhibits the GR's trascriptional activity, preventing the transcription of genes necessary for downregulating the stress response (Pace et al., 2007). If an inflammatory mileu such as this were present, it could generate a perpetually hyperactive HPA axis. This would create glucocorticoid resistance (a common trait in depressed patients). When a major stressor, such as SCI, was introduced to the system, it would then initiate a major

glucocorticoid response, which, if unchecked, would produce a number of negative psychological effects, including depression.

# **Clinical significance**

Knowing that basal inflammation can affect mood after SCI is useful for controlled, animal studies, but it is difficult to apply directly to SCI patients. Very rarely do we have serum or plasma samples from patients before they receive an injury. However, pre-existing inflammation may explain why depression incidence is much higher among the SCI population. We and others have repeatedly shown that inflammation before a stressor predicts depression after a stressor. It may be that elevated inflammation from the SCI combines with elevated physical and emotional stressors after the SCI to create the conditions needed to induce depression. If this is the case, clinicians may be able to identify high-risk patients through their serum cytokine levels immediately postinjury and intervene before exposure to ongoing stressors.

Additionally, clinicians may be able to use knowledge of pro-inflammatory profiles to influence their choices for antidepressant treatment. We already know patients with higher levels of circulating cytokines are more likely to be treatment-resistant (Maes et al., 1997). We also know that IL-6 and other cytokines are associated with resistance and responsiveness to specific antidepressants (Raison et al., 2013; Uher et al., 2014; Yoshimura et al., 2009). Given these findings, I would propose that we produce individualized therapies for SCI patients. For example, patients with high inflammation may be able to go on anti-inflammatory medications in conjunction with standard antidepressants.

Non-pharmaceutical methods of reducing inflammation are also available. Diet and exercise greatly influence inflammation, corticosterone, and BDNF in the brain and may help reduce susceptibility to depression. Maintaining a healthy diet and sufficient exercise are challenges that the SCI community already face. Many people with SCI have to be careful about what they eat and when, because they experience autonomic dysreflexia or gut disruptions. Exercise can also be a challenge, even for patients with mild SCI. Paralysis, low blood pressure, and autonomic dysfunction are obvious disruptions to normal exercise, but patients with even a mild SCI may find that pain or exhaustion inhibits their ability to exercise. Any antidepressant regimen for people with SCI would do well to incorporate many methods of inflammation reduction, including healthy lifestyle changes.

## Conclusion

Here, I proposed that inflammation during, and even before, SCI increases the likelihood of developing depression after SCI. I found that this was, indeed, the case, and that inflammation is also related to glucocorticoid receptor function and hippocampal changes in the brain. Elevated inflammatory cytokines are a predictor of future depression and should be a target for depression therapy. Overall, these experiments underscore the importance of a deeper understanding of the relationship between stress, inflammation, and how pre-existing differences should influence psychiatric health care.

#### REFERENCES

Abbasi, S.-H., Hosseini, F., Modabbernia, A., Ashrafi, M., Akhondzadeh, S., 2012. Effect of celecoxib add-on treatment on symptoms and serum IL-6 concentrations in patients with major depressive disorder: randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. Journal of affective disorders 141, 308-314.

Abrantes-Pais, F.d.N., Friedman, J.K., Lovallo, W.R., Ross, E.D., 2007. Psychological or physiological: Why are tetraplegic patients content? Neurology 69, 261-267.

Aeberli, D., Yamana, J., Yang, Y., Morand, E., 2006. Modulation of glucocorticoid sensitivity by MIF via MAP kinase phosphatase-1 is dependent on p53, Arthritis and Rheumatism. Wiley-Liss Div John Wiley & Sons Inc, 111 River St, Hoboken, NJ 07030 USA, pp. S94-S94.

Akhondzadeh, S., Jafari, S., Raisi, F., Nasehi, A.A., Ghoreishi, A., Salehi, B., Mohebbi-Rasa, S., Raznahan, M., Kamalipour, A., 2009. Clinical trial of adjunctive celecoxib treatment in patients with major depression: a double blind and placebo controlled trial. Depression and anxiety 26, 607-611.

Alexander, W.S., Hilton, D.J., 2004. The Role of Suppressors of Cytokine Signaling (SOCS) Proteins in Regulation of the Immune Response. Annual Review of Immunology 22, 503-529.

Allison, D., Ditor, D., 2015a. Immune dysfunction and chronic inflammation following spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 53, 14.

Allison, D.J., Ditor, D.S., 2015b. Targeting inflammation to influence mood following spinal cord injury: a randomized clinical trial. Journal of neuroinflammation 12, 204.

Alt, S.R., Turner, J.D., Klok, M.D., Meijer, O.C., Lakke, E.A., DeRijk, R.H., Muller, C.P., 2010. Differential expression of glucocorticoid receptor transcripts in major depressive disorder is not epigenetically programmed. Psychoneuroendocrinology 35, 544-556.

Altinors, N., 2009. Analysis of serum pro-inflammatory cytokine levels after rat spinal cord ischemia/reperfusion injury and correlation with tissue damage. Turkish neurosurgery 19, 353-359.

Anacker, C., Zunszain, P.A., Cattaneo, A., Carvalho, L.A., Garabedian, M.J., Thuret, S.,
Price, J., Pariante, C.M., 2011. Antidepressants increase human hippocampal neurogenesis by activating the glucocorticoid receptor. Molecular psychiatry 16, 738-750.
Andersson, U., Wang, H., Palmblad, K., Aveberger, A.-C., Bloom, O., Erlandsson-Harris,
H., Janson, A., Kokkola, R., Zhang, M., Yang, H., 2000. High mobility group 1 protein (HMG-1) stimulates proinflammatory cytokine synthesis in human monocytes. Journal of Experimental Medicine 192, 565-570.

Anisman, H., 2009. Cascading effects of stressors and inflammatory immune system activation: implications for major depressive disorder. Journal of psychiatry & neuroscience.

Anisman, H., Merali, Z., 2003. Cytokines, stress and depressive illness: brain-immune interactions. Annals of medicine 35, 2-11.

Anisman, H., Merali, Z., Poulter, M.O., Hayley, S., 2005. Cytokines as a precipitant of depressive illness: animal and human studies. Current pharmaceutical design 11, 963-972.
Appelhof, B.C., Huyser, J., Verweij, M., Brouwer, J.P., van Dyck, R., Fliers, E., Hoogendijk, W.J., Tijssen, J.G., Wiersinga, W.M., Schene, A.H., 2006. Glucocorticoids

and relapse of major depression (dexamethasone/corticotropin-releasing hormone test in relation to relapse of major depression). Biological psychiatry 59, 696-701.

Arango-Lasprilla, J.C., Ketchum, J.M., Starkweather, A., Nicholls, E., Wilk, A.R., 2011. Factors predicting depression among persons with spinal cord injury 1 to 5 years post injury. NeuroRehabilitation 29, 9-21.

Audet, M.-C., Anisman, H., 2013. Interplay between pro-inflammatory cytokines and growth factors in depressive illnesses. Frontiers in cellular neuroscience 7, 68.

Bank, M., Stein, A., Sison, C., Glazer, A., Jassal, N., McCarthy, D., Shatzer, M., Hahn, B., Chugh, R., Davies, P., 2015. Elevated circulating levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokine macrophage migration inhibitory factor in individuals with acute spinal cord injury. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 96, 633-644.

Barreau, F., de Lahitte, J.D., Ferrier, L., Frexinos, J., Bueno, L., Fioramonti, J., 2006. Neonatal maternal deprivation promotes Nippostrongylus brasiliensis infection in adult rats. Brain, behavior, and immunity 20, 254-260.

Basso, D., Beattie, M., Bresnahan, J., 1995. A new sensitive locomotor rating scale for locomotor recovery after spinal cord contusion injuries in rats. J. Neurotrauma 12, 1-21.

Bathina, S., Das, U.N., 2015. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its clinical implications. Archives of medical science: AMS 11, 1164.

Baune, B.T., Smith, E., Reppermund, S., Air, T., Samaras, K., Lux, O., Brodaty, H., Sachdev, P., Trollor, J.N., 2012. Inflammatory biomarkers predict depressive, but not anxiety symptoms during aging: the prospective Sydney Memory and Aging Study. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37, 1521-1530.

Bay-Richter, C., Janelidze, S., Sauro, A., Bucala, R., Lipton, J., Deierborg, T., Brundin, L., 2015. Behavioural and neurobiological consequences of macrophage migration inhibitory factor gene deletion in mice. Journal of neuroinflammation 12, 163.

Beattie, M.S., 1992. Anatomic and behavioral outcome after spinal cord injury produced by a displacement controlled impact device. Journal of neurotrauma 9, 157-160.

Becattini, S., Taur, Y., Pamer, E.G., 2016. Antibiotic-induced changes in the intestinal microbiota and disease. Trends in molecular medicine 22, 458-478.

Bet, P.M., Penninx, B.W., Bochdanovits, Z., Uitterlinden, A.G., Beekman, A.T., van Schoor, N.M., Deeg, D.J., Hoogendijk, W.J., 2009. Glucocorticoid receptor gene polymorphisms and childhood adversity are associated with depression: new evidence for a gene–environment interaction. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics 150, 660-669.

Beumer, W., Gibney, S.M., Drexhage, R.C., Pont-Lezica, L., Doorduin, J., Klein, H.C., Steiner, J., Connor, T.J., Harkin, A., Versnel, M.A., Drexhage, H.A., 2012. The immune theory of psychiatric diseases: a key role for activated microglia and circulating monocytes. J Leukoc Biol 92, 959-975.

Blandino Jr, P., Barnum, C.J., Solomon, L.G., Larish, Y., Lankow, B.S., Deak, T., 2009. Gene expression changes in the hypothalamus provide evidence for regionally-selective changes in IL-1 and microglial markers after acute stress. Brain, behavior, and immunity 23, 958-968.

Boadas-Vaello, P., Homs, J., Portero-Tresserra, M., Álvarez-Pérez, B., Deulofeu, M., Verdú, E., 2018. Graded photochemical spinal cord injury results in chronic hyperalgesia and depression-like behaviour but no anxiety exacerbation in female BALB/c mice. Neuroscience letters 664, 98-106.

Bombardier, C.H., Kalpakjian, C.Z., Graves, D.E., Dyer, J.R., Tate, D.G., Fann, J.R., 2012. Validity of the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 in assessing major depressive disorder during inpatient spinal cord injury rehabilitation. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 93, 1838-1845.

Brakel, K., Aceves, A.R., Aceves, M., Hierholzer, A., Nguyen, Q.-N., Hook, M.A., 2019. Depression-like behavior corresponds with cardiac changes in a rodent model of spinal cord injury. Experimental neurology 320, 112969.

Brezun, J., Daszuta, A., 1999. Depletion in serotonin decreases neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus and the subventricular zone of adult rats. Neuroscience 89, 999-1002.

Brody, D.J., Pratt, L.A., Hughes, J.P., 2018. Prevalence of Depression Among Adults Aged 20 and Over: United States, 2013-2016. NCHS data brief, 1-8.

Brunello, N., Alboni, S., Capone, G., Benatti, C., Blom, J.M., Tascedda, F., Kriwin, P., Mendlewicz, J., 2006. Acetylsalicylic acid accelerates the antidepressant effect of fluoxetine in the chronic escape deficit model of depression. International clinical psychopharmacology 21, 219-225.

Bryleva, E.Y., Brundin, L., 2016. Suicidality and activation of the kynurenine pathway of tryptophan metabolism, Inflammation-Associated Depression: Evidence, Mechanisms and Implications. Springer, pp. 269-284.

Burke, N.N., Kerr, D.M., Moriarty, O., Finn, D.P., Roche, M., 2014. Minocycline modulates neuropathic pain behaviour and cortical M1–M2 microglial gene expression in a rat model of depression. Brain, behavior, and immunity 42, 147-156.

Busillo, J.M., Azzam, K.M., Cidlowski, J.A., 2011. Glucocorticoids sensitize the innate immune system through regulation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. Journal of Biological Chemistry 286, 38703-38713.

Cairns, K.E., Yap, M.B.H., Pilkington, P.D., Jorm, A.F., 2014. Risk and protective factors for depression that adolescents can modify: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Journal of affective disorders 169, 61-75.

Calandra, T., Bernhagen, J., Metz, C.N., Spiegel, L.A., Bacher, M., Donnelly, T., Cerami, A., Bucala, R., 1995. MIF as a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production. Nature 377, 68.

Calandra, T., Roger, T., 2003. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a regulator of innate immunity. Nature reviews immunology 3, 791.

Camargos, Q.M., Silva, B.C., Silva, D.G., de Brito Toscano, E.C., da Silva Oliveira, B., Bellozi, P.M.Q., de Oliveira Jardim, B.L., Vieira, É.L.M., de Oliveira, A.C.P., Sousa, L.P., 2020. Minocycline treatment prevents depression and anxiety-like behaviors and promotes neuroprotection after experimental ischemic stroke. Brain research bulletin 155, 1-10.

Campagnolo, D.I., Bartlett, J.A., Chatterton Jr, R., Keller, S.E., 1999. Adrenal And Pituitary Hormone Patterns After Spinal Cord Injury1. American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation 78, 361-366.

Cao, Y., Massaro, J.F., Krause, J.S., Chen, Y., Devivo, M.J., 2014. Suicide mortality after spinal cord injury in the United States: injury cohorts analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 95, 230-235.

Capuron, L., Fornwalt, F.B., Knight, B.T., Harvey, P.D., Ninan, P.T., Miller, A.H., 2009. Does cytokine-induced depression differ from idiopathic major depression in medically healthy individuals? Journal of Affective Disorders 119, 181-185.

Capuron, L., Gumnick, J.F., Musselman, D.L., Lawson, D.H., Reemsnyder, A., Nemeroff,
C.B., Miller, A.H., 2002. Neurobehavioral effects of interferon-α in cancer patients:
phenomenology and paroxetine responsiveness of symptom dimensions.
Neuropsychopharmacology 26, 643-652.

Capuron, L., Ravaud, A., 1999. Prediction of the depressive effects of interferon alfa therapy by the patient's initial affective state. New England Journal of Medicine 340, 1370-1370.

Carroll, J.E., Low, C.A., Prather, A.A., Cohen, S., Fury, J.M., Ross, D.C., Marsland, A.L., 2011. Negative affective responses to a speech task predict changes in interleukin (IL)-6. Brain, behavior, and immunity 25, 232-238.

Carvalho, L., Bergink, V., Sumaski, L., Wijkhuijs, J., Hoogendijk, W., Birkenhager, T., Drexhage, H., 2014. Inflammatory activation is associated with a reduced glucocorticoid receptor alpha/beta expression ratio in monocytes of inpatients with melancholic major depressive disorder. Translational psychiatry 4, e344. Catalano, D., Chan, F., Wilson, L., Chiu, C.-Y., Muller, V.R., 2011. The buffering effect of resilience on depression among individuals with spinal cord injury: A structural equation model. Rehabilitation psychology 56, 200.

Charlifue, S., Apple, D., Burns, S.P., Chen, D., Cuthbert, J.P., Donovan, W.H., Lammertse, D.P., Meade, M.A., Pretz, C.R., 2011. Mechanical ventilation, health, and quality of life following spinal cord injury. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 92, 457-463.

Chen, K.-B., Uchida, K., Nakajima, H., Yayama, T., Hirai, T., Guerrero, A.R., Kobayashi, S., Ma, W.-Y., Liu, S.-Y., Zhu, P., 2011. High-mobility group box-1 and its receptors contribute to proinflammatory response in the acute phase of spinal cord injury in rats. Spine 36, 2122-2129.

Chiba, S., Numakawa, T., Ninomiya, M., Richards, M.C., Wakabayashi, C., Kunugi, H., 2012. Chronic restraint stress causes anxiety-and depression-like behaviors, downregulates glucocorticoid receptor expression, and attenuates glutamate release induced by brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the prefrontal cortex. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 39, 112-119.

Cho, D.C., Cheong, J.H., Yang, M.S., Hwang, S.J., Kim, J.M., Kim, C.H., 2011. The effect of minocycline on motor neuron recovery and neuropathic pain in a rat model of spinal cord injury. Journal of Korean Neurosurgical Society 49, 83.

Cohen, S., Janicki-Deverts, D., Doyle, W.J., Miller, G.E., Frank, E., Rabin, B.S., Turner, R.B., 2012. Chronic stress, glucocorticoid receptor resistance, inflammation, and disease risk. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 5995-5999.

Connor, T.J., Starr, N., O'Sullivan, J.B., Harkin, A., 2008. Induction of indolamine 2, 3dioxygenase and kynurenine 3-monooxygenase in rat brain following a systemic inflammatory challenge: a role for IFN- $\gamma$ ? Neuroscience letters 441, 29-34.

Coppen, A., Doogan, D., 1988. Serotonin and its place in the pathogenesis of depression. The Journal of clinical psychiatry.

Corona, A.W., Huang, Y., O'Connor, J.C., Dantzer, R., Kelley, K.W., Popovich, P.G., Godbout, J.P., 2010. Fractalkine receptor (CX 3 CR1) deficiency sensitizes mice to the behavioral changes induced by lipopolysaccharide. Journal of neuroinflammation 7, 93. Craig, A., Perry, K.N., Guest, R., Tran, Y., Dezarnaulds, A., Hales, A., Ephraums, C., Middleton, J., 2015. Prospective study of the occurrence of psychological disorders and comorbidities after spinal cord injury. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 96, 1426-1434.

Cruse, J., Lewis, R., Roe, D., Dilioglou, S., Blaine, M., Wallace, W., Chen, R., 2000. Facilitation of immune function, healing of pressure ulcers, and nutritional status in spinal cord injury patients. Experimental and molecular pathology 68, 38-54.

Czéh, B., Welt, T., Fischer, A.K., Erhardt, A., Schmitt, W., Müller, M.B., Toschi, N., Fuchs, E., Keck, M.E., 2002. Chronic psychosocial stress and concomitant repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: effects on stress hormone levels and adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Biological psychiatry 52, 1057-1065.

Davies, A.L., Hayes, K.C., Dekaban, G.A., 2007. Clinical correlates of elevated serum concentrations of cytokines and autoantibodies in patients with spinal cord injury. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 88, 1384-1393.

De Kloet, E.R., Vreugdenhil, E., Oitzl, M.S., Joels, M., 1998. Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. Endocrine reviews 19, 269-301.

de la Vega, R., Molton, I.R., Miró, J., Smith, A.E., Jensen, M.P., 2018. Changes in perceived social support predict changes in depressive symptoms in adults with physical disability. Disability and health journal.

DeVivo, M.J., Black, K., Richards, J.S., Stover, S., 1991. Suicide following spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 29, 620.

Dinkel, K., Ogle, W.O., Sapolsky, R.M., 2002. Glucocorticoids and central nervous system inflammation. Journal of neurovirology 8, 513-528.

do Espírito Santo, C.C., da Silva Fiorin, F., Ilha, J., Duarte, M.M.M.F., Duarte, T., Santos, A.R.S., 2019a. Spinal cord injury by clip-compression induces anxiety and depressionlike behaviours in female rats: The role of the inflammatory response. Brain, behavior, and immunity.

do Espírito Santo, C.C., da Silva Fiorin, F., Ilha, J., Duarte, M.M.M.F., Duarte, T., Santos, A.R.S., 2019b. Spinal cord injury by clip-compression induces anxiety and depressionlike behaviours in female rats: The role of the inflammatory response. Brain, behavior, and immunity 78, 91-104.

Dodd, Z., Driver, S., Warren, A., Riggs, S., Clark, M., 2015. Effects of adult romantic attachment and social support on resilience and depression in individuals with spinal cord injuries. Topics in spinal cord injury rehabilitation 21, 156-165.

Dorstyn, D., Mathias, J., Denson, L., 2010. Psychological intervention during spinal rehabilitation: a preliminary study. Spinal Cord 48, 756.

Dryden, D.M., Saunders, L.D., Rowe, B.H., May, L.A., Yiannakoulias, N., Svenson, L.W., Schopflocher, D.P., Voaklander, D.C., 2005. Depression following traumatic spinal cord injury. Neuroepidemiology 25, 55-61.

DuBois, D.C., Sukumaran, S., Jusko, W.J., Almon, R.R., 2013. Evidence for a glucocorticoid receptor beta splice variant in the rat and its physiological regulation in liver. Steroids 78, 312-320.

Dwivedi, Y., Rizavi, H.S., Conley, R.R., Roberts, R.C., Tamminga, C.A., Pandey, G.N., 2003. Altered gene expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and receptor tyrosine kinase B in postmortem brain of suicide subjects. Archives of general psychiatry 60, 804-815.

Edwards, K.M., Bosch, J.A., Engeland, C.G., Cacioppo, J.T., Marucha, P.T., 2010. Elevated macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is associated with depressive symptoms, blunted cortisol reactivity to acute stress, and lowered morning cortisol. Brain, behavior, and immunity 24, 1202-1208.

Elbasiouny, S.M., Moroz, D., Bakr, M.M., Mushahwar, V.K., 2010. Management of spasticity after spinal cord injury: current techniques and future directions. Neurorehabilitation and neural repair 24, 23-33.

Elewa, H.F., Hilali, H., Hess, D.C., Machado, L.S., Fagan, S.C., 2006. Minocycline for short-term neuroprotection. Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy 26, 515-521.

Elliott, T.R., Frank, R.G., 1996. Depression following spinal cord injury. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 77, 816-823.

Elliott, T.R., Kennedy, P., 2004. Treatment of depression following spinal cord injury: an evidence-based review. Rehabilitation Psychology 49, 134.

Fakhoury, M., 2016. Revisiting the serotonin hypothesis: implications for major depressive disorders. Molecular neurobiology 53, 2778-2786.

Fann, J.R., Bombardier, C.H., Richards, J.S., Tate, D.G., Wilson, C.S., Temkin, N., Investigators, P., 2011. Depression after spinal cord injury: comorbidities, mental health service use, and adequacy of treatment. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 92, 352-360.

Fann, J.R., Bombardier, C.H., Richards, J.S., Wilson, C.S., Heinemann, A.W., Warren, A.M., Brooks, L., McCullumsmith, C.B., Temkin, N.R., Warms, C., 2015. Venlafaxine extended-release for depression following spinal cord injury: a randomized clinical trial. Jama psychiatry 72, 247-258.

Farrell, K., Houle, J.D., 2019. Systemic inhibition of soluble TNF with XPro1595 exacerbates a post-spinal cord injury depressive phenotype in female rats. Journal of neurotrauma.

Fekete, C., Siegrist, J., Reinhardt, J.D., Brinkhof, M.W., Group, S.S., 2014. Is financial hardship associated with reduced health in disability? The case of spinal cord injury in Switzerland. PLoS One 9, e90130.

Ferguson, A.R., Hook, M.A., Garcia, G., Bresnahan, J.C., Beattie, M.S., Grau, J.W., 2004. A simple post hoc transformation that improves the metric properties of the BBB scale for rats with moderate to severe spinal cord injury. Journal of neurotrauma 21, 1601-1613.

Fleshner, M., Deak, T., Spencer, R.L., Laudenslager, M.L., Watkins, L.R., Maier, S.F., 1995. A long-term increase in basal levels of corticosterone and a decrease in

corticosteroid-binding globulin after acute stressor exposure. Endocrinology 136, 5336-5342.

Frank, M.G., Miguel, Z.D., Watkins, L.R., Maier, S.F., 2010. Prior exposure to glucocorticoids sensitizes the neuroinflammatory and peripheral inflammatory responses to E. coli lipopolysaccharide. Brain, behavior, and immunity 24, 19-30.

Frank, M.G., Thompson, B.M., Watkins, L.R., Maier, S.F., 2012. Glucocorticoids mediate stress-induced priming of microglial pro-inflammatory responses. Brain, behavior, and immunity 26, 337-345.

Frank, M.G., Watkins, L.R., Maier, S.F., 2011. Stress-and glucocorticoid-induced priming of neuroinflammatory responses: potential mechanisms of stress-induced vulnerability to drugs of abuse. Brain, behavior, and immunity 25, S21-S28.

Frodl, T., Carballedo, A., Hughes, M., Saleh, K., Fagan, A., Skokauskas, N., McLoughlin,
D., Meaney, J., O'keane, V., Connor, T., 2012. Reduced expression of glucocorticoidinducible genes GILZ and SGK-1: high IL-6 levels are associated with reduced hippocampal volumes in major depressive disorder. Translational psychiatry 2, e88-e88.
Fuhrer, M.J., Rintala, D.H., Hart, K.A., Clearman, R., Young, M.E., 1993. Depressive symptomatology in persons with spinal cord injury who reside in the community. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 74, 255-260.

Fumagalli, F., Madaschi, L., Caffino, L., Marfia, G., Di Giulio, A., Racagni, G., Gorio, A., 2009. Acute spinal cord injury reduces brain derived neurotrohic factor expression in rat hippocampus. Neuroscience 159, 936-939.

Fyffe, D., Botticello, A., Myaskovsky, L., 2011. Vulnerable groups living with spinal cord injury. Topics in spinal cord injury rehabilitation 17, 1-9.

Gardner, K.L., Hale, M.W., Lightman, S.L., Plotsky, P.M., Lowry, C.A., 2009. Adverse early life experience and social stress during adulthood interact to increase serotonin transporter mRNA expression. Brain research 1305, 47-63.

Garraway, S.M., Turtle, J.D., Huie, J.R., Lee, K.H., Hook, M.A., Woller, S.A., Grau, J.W., 2011. Intermittent noxious stimulation following spinal cord contusion injury impairs locomotor recovery and reduces spinal brain-derived neurotrophic factor–tropomyosin-receptor kinase signaling in adult rats. Neuroscience 199, 86-102.

Garrido-Mesa, N., Zarzuelo, A., Galvez, J., 2013. What is behind the non-antibiotic properties of minocycline? Pharmacological research 67, 18-30.

Gaudet, A.D., Fonken, L.K., Ayala, M.T., Bateman, E.M., Schleicher, W.E., Smith, E.J.,

D'angelo, H.M., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., 2018. Spinal cord injury in rats disrupts the circadian system. eNeuro 5.

Gezici, A.R., Ergun, R., Karakas, A., Gunduz, B., 2009. Serum leptin levels following acute experimental spinal cord injury. The journal of spinal cord medicine 32, 416-421.

Gimeno, D., Kivimäki, M., Brunner, E.J., Elovainio, M., De Vogli, R., Steptoe, A., Kumari, M., Lowe, G.D., Rumley, A., Marmot, M.G., 2009. Associations of C-reactive protein and interleukin-6 with cognitive symptoms of depression: 12-year follow-up of the Whitehall II study. Psychological medicine 39, 413-423.

Gold, P., Whitfield, H., Kling, M., Demitrack, M., Brandt, H., Chrousos, G., Schatzberg, A., Nemeroff, C., 1988. The relevance of corticotropin releasing hormone to normal

physiology and to pathophysiologic alterations in hypothalamic-pituitary adrenal function.

The Hypothalamk—Pituitary—Adrenal-Axis: Physiology Pathophysiology, and Psychiatric Implications, 101-114.

Gong, S., Miao, Y.-L., Jiao, G.-Z., Sun, M.-J., Li, H., Lin, J., Luo, M.-J., Tan, J.-H., 2015. Dynamics and correlation of serum cortisol and corticosterone under different physiological or stressful conditions in mice. PloS one 10.

Gonzalez-Pena, D., Nixon, S.E., O'Connor, J.C., Southey, B.R., Lawson, M.A., McCusker, R.H., Borras, T., Machuca, D., Hernandez, A.G., Dantzer, R., 2016. Microglia transcriptome changes in a model of depressive behavior after immune challenge. PLoS One 11, e0150858.

Green, L.A., Nebiolo, J.C., Smith, C.J., 2019. Microglia exit the CNS in spinal root avulsion. PLoS biology 17, e3000159.

Guillemin, G.J., 2012. Quinolinic acid, the inescapable neurotoxin. The FEBS journal 279, 1356-1365.

Guillemin, G.J., Smith, D.G., Smythe, G.A., Armati, P.J., Brew, G.J., 2003. Expression of the kynurenine pathway enzymes in human microglia and macrophages, Developments in Tryptophan and Serotonin Metabolism. Springer, pp. 105-112.

Hajebrahimi, Z., Mowla, S.J., Movahedin, M., Tavallaei, M., 2008. Gene expression alterations of neurotrophins, their receptors and prohormone convertases in a rat model of spinal cord contusion. Neuroscience letters 441, 261-266.

Hammel, J., Magasi, S., Heinemann, A., Gray, D.B., Stark, S., Kisala, P., Carlozzi, N.E., Tulsky, D., Garcia, S.F., Hahn, E.A., 2015. Environmental barriers and supports to everyday participation: a qualitative insider perspective from people with disabilities. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 96, 578-588.

Harrison, N.A., Brydon, L., Walker, C., Gray, M.A., Steptoe, A., Critchley, H.D., 2009. Inflammation causes mood changes through alterations in subgenual cingulate activity and mesolimbic connectivity. Biological psychiatry 66, 407-414.

Harvey, P.J., Li, X., Li, Y., Bennett, D.J., 2006. 5-HT2 receptor activation facilitates a persistent sodium current and repetitive firing in spinal motoneurons of rats with and without chronic spinal cord injury. Journal of neurophysiology 96, 1158-1170.

Hayes, K., Hull, T., Delaney, G., Potter, P., Sequeira, K., Campbell, K., Popovich, P., 2002. Elevated serum titers of proinflammatory cytokines and CNS autoantibodies in patients with chronic spinal cord injury. Journal of neurotrauma 19, 753-761.

He, Q., You, H., Li, X.-M., Liu, T.-H., Wang, P., Wang, B.-E., 2012. HMGB1 promotes the synthesis of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 by activation of p38 MAPK and NF- $\kappa$ B through receptors for advanced glycation end-products in macrophages. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention 13, 1365-1370.

Hermoso, M.A., Matsuguchi, T., Smoak, K., Cidlowski, J.A., 2004. Glucocorticoids and tumor necrosis factor alpha cooperatively regulate toll-like receptor 2 gene expression. Molecular and cellular biology 24, 4743-4756.

Herrick, S.M., Elliott, T.R., Crow, F., 1994. Social support and the prediction of health complications among persons with spinal cord injuries. Rehabilitation Psychology 39, 231.

Het, S., Wolf, O.T., 2007. Mood changes in response to psychosocial stress in healthy young women: effects of pretreatment with cortisol. Behavioral neuroscience 121, 11. Heuser, I., Yassouridis, A., Holsboer, F., 1994. The combined dexamethasone/CRH test: a refined laboratory test for psychiatric disorders. Journal of psychiatric research 28, 341-356.

Heyes, M., Saito, K., Crowley, J., Davis, L., Demitrack, M., Der, M., Dilling, L., Elia, J., Kruesi, M., Lackner, A., 1992. Quinolinic acid and kynurenine pathway metabolism in inflammatory and non-inflammatory neurological disease. Brain 115, 1249-1273.

Heyes, M.P., Brew, B.J., Martin, A., Price, R.W., Salazar, A.M., Sidtis, J.J., Yergey, J.A., Mouradian, M.M., Sadler, A.E., Keilp, J., 1991. Quinolinic acid in cerebrospinal fluid and serum in HIV-1 infection: relationship to clinical and neurological status. Annals of neurology 29, 202-209.

Hinwood, M., Morandini, J., Day, T., Walker, F., 2012. Evidence that microglia mediate the neurobiological effects of chronic psychological stress on the medial prefrontal cortex. Cerebral cortex 22, 1442-1454.

Hinwood, M., Tynan, R.J., Charnley, J.L., Beynon, S.B., Day, T.A., Walker, F.R., 2013. Chronic stress induced remodeling of the prefrontal cortex: structural re-organization of microglia and the inhibitory effect of minocycline. Cerebral cortex 23, 1784-1797.

Hodes, G.E., Pfau, M.L., Leboeuf, M., Golden, S.A., Christoffel, D.J., Bregman, D., Rebusi, N., Heshmati, M., Aleyasin, H., Warren, B.L., 2014. Individual differences in the peripheral immune system promote resilience versus susceptibility to social stress. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 16136-16141. Holsboer, F., Barden, N., 1996. Antidepressants and hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical regulation. Endocrine reviews 17, 187-205.

Horowitz, M.A., Zunszain, P.A., 2015. Neuroimmune and neuroendocrine abnormalities in depression: two sides of the same coin. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1351, 68-79.

Huang, M., Su, S., Goldberg, J., Miller, A.H., Levantsevych, O.M., Shallenberger, L., Pimple, P., Pearce, B., Bremner, J.D., Vaccarino, V., 2019. Longitudinal association of inflammation with depressive symptoms: A 7-year cross-lagged twin difference study. Brain, behavior, and immunity 75, 200-207.

Huang, T.-L., Lee, C.-T., Liu, Y.-L., 2008. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in patients with major depression: effects of antidepressants. Journal of psychiatric research 42, 521-525.

Jehn, C., Becker, B., Flath, B., Nogai, H., Vuong, L., Schmid, P., Lüftner, D., 2015. Neurocognitive function, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and IL-6 levels in cancer patients with depression. Journal of neuroimmunology 287, 88-92.

Jensen, P., Ahlehoff, O., Egeberg, A., Gislason, G., Hansen, P.R., Skov, L., 2016. Psoriasis and new-onset depression: a Danish nationwide cohort study. Acta dermatovenereologica 96, 39-42.

Jiang, W., Zhang, Y., Xiao, L., Van Cleemput, J., Ji, S.-P., Bai, G., Zhang, X., 2005. Cannabinoids promote embryonic and adult hippocampus neurogenesis and produce anxiolytic-and antidepressant-like effects. The Journal of clinical investigation 115, 3104-3116. Johansson, D., Falk, A., Marcus, M.M., Svensson, T.H., 2012. Celecoxib enhances the effect of reboxetine and fluoxetine on cortical noradrenaline and serotonin output in the rat. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 39, 143-148.

Jure, I., Pietranera, L., De Nicola, A.F., Labombarda, F., 2017. Spinal cord injury impairs neurogenesis and induces glial reactivity in the hippocampus. Neurochemical research 42, 2178-2190.

Kambeitz, J.P., Howes, O.D., 2015. The serotonin transporter in depression: Metaanalysis of in vivo and post mortem findings and implications for understanding and treating depression. Journal of affective disorders 186, 358-366.

Keller, J., Gomez, R., Williams, G., Lembke, A., Lazzeroni, L., Murphy, G.M., Schatzberg, A.F., 2017. HPA axis in major depression: cortisol, clinical symptomatology and genetic variation predict cognition. Molecular psychiatry 22, 527-536.

Kelly, K.A., Michalovicz, L.T., Miller, J.V., Castranova, V., Miller, D.B., O'Callaghan, J.P., 2018. Prior exposure to corticosterone markedly enhances and prolongs the neuroinflammatory response to systemic challenge with LPS. PloS one 13, e0190546.

Kempermann, G., Kronenberg, G., 2003. Depressed new neurons?—Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and a cellular plasticity hypothesis of major depression. Biological psychiatry 54, 499-503.

Kentner, A., McLeod, S., Field, E., Pittman, Q., 2010. Sex-dependent effects of neonatal inflammation on adult inflammatory markers and behavior. Endocrinology 151, 2689-2699.
Khandaker, G.M., Pearson, R.M., Zammit, S., Lewis, G., Jones, P.B., 2014. Association of serum interleukin 6 and C-reactive protein in childhood with depression and psychosis in young adult life: a population-based longitudinal study. JAMA psychiatry 71, 1121-1128.

Kiecolt-Glaser, J.K., Heffner, K.L., Glaser, R., Malarkey, W.B., Porter, K., Atkinson, C., Laskowski, B., Lemeshow, S., Marshall, G.D., 2009. How stress and anxiety can alter immediate and late phase skin test responses in allergic rhinitis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34, 670-680.

Kigerl, K.A., Hall, J.C., Wang, L., Mo, X., Yu, Z., Popovich, P.G., 2016. Gut dysbiosis impairs recovery after spinal cord injury. Journal of Experimental Medicine, jem. 20151345.

Kigerl, K.A., Lai, W., Wallace, L.M., Yang, H., Popovich, P.G., 2018. High mobility group box-1 (HMGB1) is increased in injured mouse spinal cord and can elicit neurotoxic inflammation. Brain, behavior, and immunity 72, 22-33.

Kim, Y.-K., Na, K.-S., Myint, A.-M., Leonard, B.E., 2016. The role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in neuroinflammation, neurogenesis and the neuroendocrine system in major depression. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 64, 277-284.

King, V., Bradbury, E., McMahon, S., Priestley, J., 2000. Changes in truncated trkB and p75 receptor expression in the rat spinal cord following spinal cord hemisection and spinal cord hemisection plus neurotrophin treatment. Experimental neurology 165, 327-341.

Klein, S.L., Flanagan, K.L., 2016. Sex differences in immune responses. Nature Reviews Immunology 16, 626.

Klempin, F., Babu, H., De Pietri Tonel, D., Alarcon, E., Fabel, K., Kempermann, G., 2010. Oppositional effects of serotonin receptors 5-HT1a, 2, and 2c in the regulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Frontiers in molecular neuroscience 3, 14.

Kloppenburg, M., Brinkman, B., de Rooij-Dijk, H., Miltenburg, A., Daha, M.R., Breedveld, F.C., Dijkmans, B., Verweij, C., 1996. The tetracycline derivative minocycline differentially affects cytokine production by monocytes and T lymphocytes. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 40, 934-940.

Koda, M., Nishio, Y., Hashimoto, M., Kamada, T., Koshizuka, S., Yoshinaga, K., Onodera, S., Nishihira, J., Moriya, H., Yamazaki, M., 2004. Up-regulation of macrophage migration-inhibitory factor expression after compression-induced spinal cord injury in rats. Acta neuropathologica 108, 31-36.

Kohman, R.A., Bhattacharya, T.K., Kilby, C., Bucko, P., Rhodes, J.S., 2013. Effects of minocycline on spatial learning, hippocampal neurogenesis and microglia in aged and adult mice. Behavioural brain research 242, 17-24.

Koo, J.W., Russo, S.J., Ferguson, D., Nestler, E.J., Duman, R.S., 2010. Nuclear factor-κB is a critical mediator of stress-impaired neurogenesis and depressive behavior. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 2669-2674.

Kraft, R., Dorstyn, D., 2015. Psychosocial correlates of depression following spinal injury: A systematic review. The journal of spinal cord medicine 38, 571-583. Krause, J.S., Broderick, L., 2004. Outcomes after spinal cord injury: comparisons as a function of gender and race and ethnicity. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 85, 355-362.

Krause, J.S., Kemp, B., Coker, J., 2000. Depression after spinal cord injury: relation to gender, ethnicity, aging, and socioeconomic indicators. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 81, 1099-1109.

Krause, J.S., Pickelsimer, E., 2008. Relationship of perceived barriers to employment and return to work five years later: A pilot study among 343 participants with spinal cord injury. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin 51, 118-121.

Krause, J.S., Saunders, L.L., 2009. Risk of hospitalizations after spinal cord injury: relationship with biographical, injury, educational, and behavioral factors. Spinal Cord 47, 692.

Krause, J.S., Terza, J.V., 2006. Injury and demographic factors predictive of disparities in earnings after spinal cord injury. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 87, 1318-1326.

Kruse, J.L., Congdon, E., Olmstead, R., Njau, S., Breen, E.C., Narr, K.L., Espinoza, R., Irwin, M.R., 2018. Inflammation and improvement of depression following electroconvulsive therapy in treatment resistant depression. The Journal of clinical psychiatry 79.

Lamers, F., Milaneschi, Y., Smit, J.H., Schoevers, R.A., Wittenberg, G., Penninx, B.W., 2019. Longitudinal association between depression and inflammatory markers: results from the Netherlands study of depression and anxiety. Biological psychiatry 85, 829-837.

Laumet, G., Zhou, W., Dantzer, R., Edralin, J.D., Huo, X., Budac, D.P., O'Connor, J.C., Lee, A.W., Heijnen, C.J., Kavelaars, A., 2017. Upregulation of neuronal kynurenine 3monooxygenase mediates depression-like behavior in a mouse model of neuropathic pain. Brain, behavior, and immunity 66, 94-102.

Leduc, B.E., Lepage, Y., 2002. Health-related quality of life after spinal cord injury. Disability and rehabilitation 24, 196-202.

Lepack, A.E., Fuchikami, M., Dwyer, J.M., Banasr, M., Duman, R.S., 2014. BDNF release is required for the behavioral actions of ketamine. International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology 18, pyu033.

Li, X.-m., Meng, J., tao Li, L., Guo, T., Yang, L.-k., Shi, Q.-x., Li, X.-b., Chen, Y., Yang, Q., Zhao, J.-n., 2017. Effect of ZBD-2 on chronic pain, depressive-like behaviors, and recovery of motor function following spinal cord injury in mice. Behavioural brain research 322, 92-99.

Li, Z., Wei, H., Piirainen, S., Chen, Z., Kalso, E., Pertovaara, A., Tian, L., 2016. Spinal versus brain microglial and macrophage activation traits determine the differential neuroinflammatory responses and analgesic effect of minocycline in chronic neuropathic pain. Brain Behav Immun 58, 107-117.

Liebl, D.J., Huang, W., Young, W., Parada, L.F., 2001. Regulation of Trk receptors following contusion of the rat spinal cord. Experimental neurology 167, 15-26.

Lim, S.-W., Shiue, Y.-L., Ho, C.-H., Yu, S.-C., Kao, P.-H., Wang, J.-J., Kuo, J.-R., 2017. Anxiety and depression in patients with traumatic spinal cord injury: a nationwide population-based cohort study. PloS one 12, e0169623. Lindqvist, D., Janelidze, S., Hagell, P., Erhardt, S., Samuelsson, M., Minthon, L., Hansson, O., Björkqvist, M., Träskman-Bendz, L., Brundin, L., 2009. Interleukin-6 is elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid of suicide attempters and related to symptom severity. Biological psychiatry 66, 287-292.

Liposits, Z., Bohn, M., 1993. Association of glucocorticoid receptor immunoreactivity with cell membrane and transport vesicles in hippocampal and hypothalamic neurons of the rat. Journal of neuroscience research 35, 14-19.

Liu, M.-Y., Yin, C.-Y., Zhu, L.-J., Zhu, X.-H., Xu, C., Luo, C.-X., Chen, H., Zhu, D.-Y., Zhou, Q.-G., 2018. Sucrose preference test for measurement of stress-induced anhedonia in mice. Nature protocols 13, 1686.

Liu, Y., Ho, R.C.-M., Mak, A., 2012. Interleukin (IL)-6, tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and soluble interleukin-2 receptors (sIL-2R) are elevated in patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Journal of affective disorders 139, 230-239.

Loftis, J.M., Huckans, M., Morasco, B.J., 2010. Neuroimmune mechanisms of cytokineinduced depression: current theories and novel treatment strategies. Neurobiology of disease 37, 519-533.

Lucin, K.M., Sanders, V.M., Jones, T.B., Malarkey, W.B., Popovich, P.G., 2007. Impaired antibody synthesis after spinal cord injury is level dependent and is due to sympathetic nervous system dysregulation. Experimental neurology 207, 75-84.

Luedtke, K., Bouchard, S.M., Woller, S.A., Funk, M.K., Aceves, M., Hook, M.A., 2014. Assessment of depression in a rodent model of spinal cord injury. Journal of neurotrauma 31, 1107-1121.

Maciel, I.S., Silva, R.B., Morrone, F.B., Calixto, J.B., Campos, M.M., 2013. Synergistic effects of celecoxib and bupropion in a model of chronic inflammation-related depression in mice. PLoS One 8, e77227.

Maddock, C., Pariante, C.M., 2001. How does stress affect you? An overview of stress, immunity, depression and disease. Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences 10, 153-162. Maes, M., Bosmans, E., De Jongh, R., Kenis, G., Vandoolaeghe, E., Neels, H., 1997. Increased serum IL-6 and IL-1 receptor antagonist concentrations in major depression and treatment resistant depression. Cytokine 9, 853-858.

Maes, M., Leonard, B., Myint, A., Kubera, M., Verkerk, R., 2011. The new '5-HT'hypothesis of depression: cell-mediated immune activation induces indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase, which leads to lower plasma tryptophan and an increased synthesis of detrimental tryptophan catabolites (TRYCATs), both of which contribute to the onset of depression. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 35, 702-721.

Maes, M., Meltzer, H.Y., Bosmans, E., Bergmans, R., Vandoolaeghe, E., Ranjan, R., Desnyder, R., 1995. Increased plasma concentrations of interleukin-6, soluble interleukin-6, soluble interleukin-2 and transferrin receptor in major depression. Journal of affective disorders 34, 301-309. Maes, M., Scharpé, S., Meltzer, H.Y., Bosmans, E., Suy, E., Calabrese, J., Cosyns, P., 1993. Relationships between interleukin-6 activity, acute phase proteins, and function of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in severe depression. Psychiatry research 49, 11-27.

Maes, M., Song, C., Lin, A., De Jongh, R., Van Gastel, A., Kenis, G., Bosmans, E., De Meester, I., Benoy, I., Neels, H., 1998. The effects of psychological stress on humans: increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and Th1-like response in stress-induced anxiety. Cytokine 10, 313-318.

Mahar, I., Bambico, F.R., Mechawar, N., Nobrega, J.N., 2014. Stress, serotonin, and hippocampal neurogenesis in relation to depression and antidepressant effects. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 38, 173-192.

Makunts, T., Cohen, I.V., Lee, K.C., Abagyan, R., 2018. Population scale retrospective analysis reveals distinctive antidepressant and anxiolytic effects of diclofenac, ketoprofen and naproxen in patients with pain. PloS one 13, e0195521.

Malberg, J.E., Duman, R.S., 2003. Cell proliferation in adult hippocampus is decreased by inescapable stress: reversal by fluoxetine treatment. Neuropsychopharmacology 28, 1562-1571.

Maldonado-Bouchard, S., Peters, K., Woller, S.A., Madahian, B., Faghihi, U., Patel, S., Bake, S., Hook, M.A., 2016. Inflammation is increased with anxiety-and depression-like signs in a rat model of spinal cord injury. Brain, behavior, and immunity 51, 176-195. Maldonado Bouchard, S., Hook, M.A., 2014. Psychological stress as a modulator of functional recovery following spinal cord injury. Frontiers in neurology 5, 44. Malisch, J.L., Breuner, C.W., Kolb, E.M., Wada, H., Hannon, R.M., Chappell, M.A., Middleton, K.M., Garland, T., 2009. Behavioral despair and home-cage activity in mice with chronically elevated baseline corticosterone concentrations. Behavior genetics 39, 192-201.

Marchand, F., Tsantoulas, C., Singh, D., Grist, J., Clark, A.K., Bradbury, E.J., McMahon, S.B., 2009. Effects of Etanercept and Minocycline in a rat model of spinal cord injury. European Journal of Pain 13, 673-681.

Marrie, R.A., Walld, R., Bolton, J.M., Sareen, J., Walker, J.R., Patten, S.B., Singer, A., Lix, L.M., Hitchon, C.A., El-Gabalawy, R., 2017. Increased incidence of psychiatric disorders in immune-mediated inflammatory disease. Journal of psychosomatic research 101, 17-23.

Martinowich, K., Lu, B., 2008. Interaction between BDNF and serotonin: role in mood disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 33, 73-83.

Martinowich, K., Manji, H., Lu, B., 2007. New insights into BDNF function in depression and anxiety. Nature neuroscience 10, 1089-1093.

Meagher, M., Sieve, A., Johnson, R., Satterlee, D., Belyavskyi, M., Mi, W., Prentice, T., Welsh, T., Welsh, C., 2010. Neonatal maternal separation alters immune, endocrine, and behavioral responses to acute Theiler's virus infection in adult mice. Behavior genetics 40, 233-249.

Mehta, S., Orenczuk, S., Hansen, K.T., Aubut, J.-A.L., Hitzig, S.L., Legassic, M., Teasell, R.W., 2011. An evidence-based review of the effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy for psychosocial issues post-spinal cord injury. Rehabilitation psychology 56, 15.

Mejia, R.O.S., Ona, V.O., Li, M., Friedlander, R.M., 2001. Minocycline reduces traumatic brain injury-mediated caspase-1 activation, tissue damage, and neurological dysfunction. Neurosurgery 48, 1393-1401.

Menard, C., Pfau, M.L., Hodes, G.E., Kana, V., Wang, V.X., Bouchard, S., Takahashi, A., Flanigan, M.E., Aleyasin, H., LeClair, K.B., 2017. Social stress induces neurovascular pathology promoting depression. Nature neuroscience 20, 1752.

Merali, Z., Brennan, K., Brau, P., Anisman, H., 2003. Dissociating anorexia and anhedonia elicited by interleukin-1 $\beta$ : antidepressant and gender effects on responding for" free chow" and" earned" sucrose intake. Psychopharmacology 165, 413-418.

Migliorini, C., New, P., Tonge, B., 2009. Comparison of depression, anxiety and stress in persons with traumatic and non-traumatic post-acute spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 47, 783.

Miller, A.H., Pariante, C.M., Pearce, B.D., 1999. Effects of cytokines on glucocorticoid receptor expression and function, Cytokines, stress, and depression. Springer, pp. 107-116.

Miller, A.H., Raison, C.L., 2016. The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. Nature reviews immunology 16, 22. Min, J.-A., Lee, C.-U., Hwang, S.-I., Shin, J.-I., Lee, B.-S., Han, S.-H., Ju, H.-I., Lee, C.-Y., Lee, C., Chae, J.-H., 2014. The moderation of resilience on the negative effect of pain on depression and post-traumatic growth in individuals with spinal cord injury. Disability and rehabilitation 36, 1196-1202.

Molina-Hernández, M., Tellez-Alcántara, N.P., Pérez-García, J., Olivera-Lopez, J.I., Jaramillo-Jaimes, M.T., 2008. Antidepressant-like actions of minocycline combined with several glutamate antagonists. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 32, 380-386.

Mondelli, V., Cattaneo, A., Murri, M.B., Di Forti, M., Handley, R., Hepgul, N., Miorelli, A., Navari, S., Papadopoulos, A.S., Aitchison, K.J., 2011. Stress and inflammation reduce BDNF expression in first-episode psychosis: a pathway to smaller hippocampal volume. The Journal of clinical psychiatry 72, 1677.

Monje, F.J., Cabatic, M., Divisch, I., Kim, E.-J., Herkner, K.R., Binder, B.R., Pollak, D.D., 2011. Constant darkness induces IL-6-dependent depression-like behavior through the NF-κB signaling pathway. Journal of Neuroscience 31, 9075-9083.

Monje, M.L., Toda, H., Palmer, T.D., 2003. Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science 302, 1760-1765.

Moreau, M., André, C., O'Connor, J.C., Dumich, S.A., Woods, J.A., Kelley, K.W., Dantzer, R., Lestage, J., Castanon, N., 2008. Inoculation of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin to mice induces an acute episode of sickness behavior followed by chronic depressive-like behavior. Brain, behavior, and immunity 22, 1087-1095.

Müller, N., 2016. Anti-Inflammatory and Immune-Modulatory Therapeutic Approaches in Major Depression, Systems Neuroscience in Depression. Elsevier, pp. 115-141.

Müller, R., Cieza, A., Geyh, S., 2012. Rasch analysis of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale in spinal cord injury. Rehabilitation psychology 57, 214.

Munhoz, C.D., Lepsch, L.B., Kawamoto, E.M., Malta, M.B., de Sá Lima, L., Avellar, M.C.W., Sapolsky, R.M., Scavone, C., 2006. Chronic unpredictable stress exacerbates lipopolysaccharide-induced activation of nuclear factor-κB in the frontal cortex and hippocampus via glucocorticoid secretion. Journal of Neuroscience 26, 3813-3820.

Murray, K.C., Nakae, A., Stephens, M.J., Rank, M., D'amico, J., Harvey, P.J., Li, X., Harris, R.L.W., Ballou, E.W., Anelli, R., 2010. Recovery of motoneuron and locomotor function after spinal cord injury depends on constitutive activity in 5-HT 2C receptors. Nature medicine 16, 694.

Murrough, J.W., 2012. Ketamine as a novel antidepressant: from synapse to behavior. Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics 91, 303-309.

Musil, R., Schwarz, M., Riedel, M., Dehning, S., Cerovecki, A., Spellmann, I., Arolt, V., Müller, N., 2011. Elevated macrophage migration inhibitory factor and decreased transforming growth factor-beta levels in major depression—no influence of celecoxib treatment. Journal of Affective Disorders 134, 217-225.

Myers, S.A., Gobejishvili, L., Ohri, S.S., Wilson, C.G., Andres, K.R., Riegler, A.S., Donde, H., Joshi-Barve, S., Barve, S., Whittemore, S.R., 2019. Following spinal cord injury, PDE4B drives an acute, local inflammatory response and a chronic, systemic response exacerbated by gut dysbiosis and endotoxemia. Neurobiology of disease 124, 353-363.

Myint, A.-M., Leonard, B.E., Steinbusch, H.W., Kim, Y.-K., 2005. Th1, Th2, and Th3 cytokine alterations in major depression. Journal of affective disorders 88, 167-173.

Nemeroff, C.B., Vale, W.W., 2005. The neurobiology of depression: inroads to treatment and new drug discovery. The Journal of clinical psychiatry 66, 5-13.

Newton, R., Holden, N.S., Catley, M.C., Oyelusi, W., Leigh, R., Proud, D., Barnes, P.J., 2007. Repression of inflammatory gene expression in human pulmonary epithelial cells by small-molecule IkB kinase inhibitors. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 321, 734-742.

Nishino, T., Bernhagen, J., Shiiki, H., Calandra, T., Dohi, K., Bucala, R., 1995. Localization of macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) to secretory granules within the corticotrophic and thyrotrophic cells of the pituitary gland. Molecular Medicine 1, 781-788.

O'connor, J., Lawson, M., Andre, C., Moreau, M., Lestage, J., Castanon, N., Kelley, K., Dantzer, R., 2009. Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase activation in mice. Molecular psychiatry 14, 511-522.

Olivier, C., Robert, P.D., Daihung, D., Urbá, G., Catalin, M.P., Hywel, W., Kurd, S.K., Troxel, A.B., Crits-Christoph, P., Gelfand, J.M., 2010. The risk of depression, anxiety, and suicidality in patients with psoriasis: a population-based cohort study. Archives of dermatology 146, 891-895.

Oshio, A., Taku, K., Hirano, M., Saeed, G., 2018. Resilience and Big Five personality traits: A meta-analysis. Personality and Individual Differences 127, 54-60.

Pace, T.W., Hu, F., Miller, A.H., 2007. Cytokine-effects on glucocorticoid receptor function: relevance to glucocorticoid resistance and the pathophysiology and treatment of major depression. Brain, behavior, and immunity 21, 9-19.

Pandey, G.N., Rizavi, H.S., Ren, X., Fareed, J., Hoppensteadt, D.A., Roberts, R.C., Conley, R.R., Dwivedi, Y., 2012. Proinflammatory cytokines in the prefrontal cortex of teenage suicide victims. Journal of psychiatric research 46, 57-63.

Papatheodorou, A., Stein, A., Bank, M., Sison, C.P., Gibbs, K., Davies, P., Bloom, O., 2017. High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) is elevated systemically in persons with acute or chronic traumatic spinal cord injury. Journal of neurotrauma 34, 746-754.

Pariante, C.M., 2017. Why are depressed patients inflamed? A reflection on 20 years of research on depression, glucocorticoid resistance and inflammation. European neuropsychopharmacology 27, 554-559.

Pariante, C.M., Miller, A.H., 2001. Glucocorticoid receptors in major depression: relevance to pathophysiology and treatment. Biological psychiatry 49, 391-404.

Pariante, C.M., Pearce, B.D., Pisell, T.L., Sanchez, C.I., Po, C., Su, C., Miller, A.H., 1999. The proinflammatory cytokine, interleukin-1α, reduces glucocorticoid receptor translocation and function. Endocrinology 140, 4359-4366.

Park, M.J., Pilla, R., Panta, A., Pandey, S., Sarawichitr, B., Suchodolski, J., Sohrabji, F., 2019. Reproductive Senescence and Ischemic Stroke Remodel the Gut Microbiome and Modulate the Effects of Estrogen Treatment in Female Rats. Translational Stroke Research, 1-19.

Parrott, J., Redus, L., Santana-Coelho, D., Morales, J., Gao, X., O'connor, J., 2016a. Neurotoxic kynurenine metabolism is increased in the dorsal hippocampus and drives distinct depressive behaviors during inflammation. Translational psychiatry 6, e918. Parrott, J.M., Redus, L., O'Connor, J.C., 2016b. Kynurenine metabolic balance is disrupted in the hippocampus following peripheral lipopolysaccharide challenge. Journal of neuroinflammation 13, 124.

Paul, C., Derrett, S., McAllister, S., Herbison, P., Beaver, C., Sullivan, M., 2013. Socioeconomic outcomes following spinal cord injury and the role of no-fault compensation: longitudinal study. Spinal cord 51, 919.

Pearson, S.D., Trissel, L.A., 1993. Stability and compatibility of minocycline hydrochloride and rifampin in intravenous solutions at various temperatures. American journal of hospital pharmacy 50, 698-702.

Peng, Q., Masuda, N., Jiang, M., Li, Q., Zhao, M., Ross, C.A., Duan, W., 2008. The antidepressant sertraline improves the phenotype, promotes neurogenesis and increases BDNF levels in the R6/2 Huntington's disease mouse model. Experimental neurology 210, 154-163.

Perkes, S.J., Bowman, J., Penkala, S., 2014. Psychological therapies for the management of co-morbid depression following a spinal cord injury: a systematic review. Journal of health psychology 19, 1597-1612.

Pham, K., Nacher, J., Hof, P.R., McEwen, B.S., 2003. Repeated restraint stress suppresses neurogenesis and induces biphasic PSA-NCAM expression in the adult rat dentate gyrus. European Journal of Neuroscience 17, 879-886.

Popovich, P.G., Stuckman, S., Gienapp, I.E., Whitacre, C.C., 2001. Alterations in immune cell phenotype and function after experimental spinal cord injury. Journal of neurotrauma 18, 957-966.

Popovich, P.G., Wei, P., Stokes, B.T., 1997. Cellular inflammatory response after spinal cord injury in Sprague-Dawley and Lewis rats. J Comp Neurol 377, 443-464.

Quesseveur, G., David, D., Gaillard, M., Pla, P., Wu, M., Nguyen, H., Nicolas, V., Auregan, G., David, I., Dranovsky, A., 2013. BDNF overexpression in mouse hippocampal astrocytes promotes local neurogenesis and elicits anxiolytic-like activities. Translational psychiatry 3, e253-e253.

Rainville, J.R., Tsyglakova, M., Hodes, G.E., 2018. Deciphering sex differences in the immune system and depression. Frontiers in neuroendocrinology 50, 67-90.

Raison, C.L., Dantzer, R., Kelley, K.W., Lawson, M.A., Woolwine, B.J., Vogt, G., Spivey, J.R., Saito, K., Miller, A.H., 2010. CSF concentrations of brain tryptophan and kynurenines during immune stimulation with IFN- $\alpha$ : relationship to CNS immune responses and depression. Molecular psychiatry 15, 393.

Raison, C.L., Rutherford, R.E., Woolwine, B.J., Shuo, C., Schettler, P., Drake, D.F., Haroon, E., Miller, A.H., 2013. A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA psychiatry 70, 31-41.

Ridder, S., Chourbaji, S., Hellweg, R., Urani, A., Zacher, C., Schmid, W., Zink, M., Hörtnagl, H., Flor, H., Henn, F.A., 2005. Mice with genetically altered glucocorticoid receptor expression show altered sensitivity for stress-induced depressive reactions. Journal of Neuroscience 25, 6243-6250. Riolli, L., Savicki, V., Cepani, A., 2002. Resilience in the face of catastrophe: Optimism, personality, and coping in the Kosovo crisis. Journal of applied social psychology 32, 1604-1627.

Rizzo, S.S., Neal, S., Hughes, Z., Beyna, M., Rosenzweig-Lipson, S., Moss, S., Brandon, N., 2012. Evidence for sustained elevation of IL-6 in the CNS as a key contributor of depressive-like phenotypes. Translational psychiatry 2, e199-e199.

Roque, A., Ochoa-Zarzosa, A., Torner, L., 2016. Maternal separation activates microglial cells and induces an inflammatory response in the hippocampus of male rat pups, independently of hypothalamic and peripheral cytokine levels. Brain, behavior, and immunity 55, 39-48.

Salazar, A., Gonzalez-Rivera, B.L., Redus, L., Parrott, J.M., O'Connor, J.C., 2012. Indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase mediates anhedonia and anxiety-like behaviors caused by peripheral lipopolysaccharide immune challenge. Hormones and behavior 62, 202-209.

Santana-Martínez, R.A., León-Contreras, J.C., Barrera-Oviedo, D., Pedraza-Chaverri, J., Hernández-Pando, R., Maldonado, P.D., 2018. Sustained activation of JNK induced by quinolinic acid alters the BDNF/TrkB axis in the rat striatum. Neuroscience.

Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., Weisstaub, N., Lee, J., Duman, R., Arancio, O., 2003. Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. science 301, 805-809.

Scheller, J., Chalaris, A., Schmidt-Arras, D., Rose-John, S., 2011. The pro-and antiinflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research 1813, 878-888. Schmidt, E., Aguilera, G., Binnekade, R., Tilders, F., 2003. Single administration of interleukin-1 increased corticotropin releasing hormone and corticotropin releasing hormone-receptor mRNA in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus which paralleled long-lasting (weeks) sensitization to emotional stressors. Neuroscience 116, 275-283.

Schwarcz, R., Stone, T.W., 2017. The kynurenine pathway and the brain: challenges, controversies and promises. Neuropharmacology 112, 237-247.

Schwarcz, R., Whetsell, W.O., Mangano, R.M., 1983. Quinolinic acid: an endogenous metabolite that produces axon-sparing lesions in rat brain. Science 219, 316-318.

Sen, S., Duman, R., Sanacora, G., 2008. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor, depression, and antidepressant medications: meta-analyses and implications. Biological psychiatry 64, 527-532.

Shimizu, E., Hashimoto, K., Okamura, N., Koike, K., Komatsu, N., Kumakiri, C., Nakazato, M., Watanabe, H., Shinoda, N., Okada, S.-i., 2003. Alterations of serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in depressed patients with or without antidepressants. Biological psychiatry 54, 70-75.

Shirayama, Y., Chen, A.C.-H., Nakagawa, S., Russell, D.S., Duman, R.S., 2002. Brainderived neurotrophic factor produces antidepressant effects in behavioral models of depression. Journal of Neuroscience 22, 3251-3261.

Siegert, R., Abernethy, D., 2005. Depression in multiple sclerosis: a review. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry 76, 469-475.

Slattery, D.A., Cryan, J.F., 2012. Using the rat forced swim test to assess antidepressantlike activity in rodents. Nature protocols 7, 1009. Smyth, G.P., Stapleton, P.P., Freeman, T.A., Concannon, E.M., Mestre, J.R., Duff, M., Maddali, S., Daly, J.M., 2004. Glucocorticoid pretreatment induces cytokine overexpression and nuclear factor-κB activation in macrophages. Journal of Surgical Research 116, 253-261.

Soden, R., Walsh, J., Middleton, J., Craven, M., Rutkowski, S., Yeo, J., 2000. Causes of death after spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 38, 604.

Song, N.-N., Jia, Y.-F., Zhang, L., Zhang, Q., Huang, Y., Liu, X.-Z., Hu, L., Lan, W., Chen, L., Lesch, K.-P., 2016. Reducing central serotonin in adulthood promotes hippocampal neurogenesis. Scientific reports 6, 20338.

Sorrells, S.F., Caso, J.R., Munhoz, C.D., Hu, C.K., Tran, K.V., Miguel, Z.D., Chien, B.Y., Sapolsky, R.M., 2013. Glucocorticoid signaling in myeloid cells worsens acute CNS injury and inflammation. Journal of Neuroscience 33, 7877-7889.

Steensberg, A., Fischer, C.P., Keller, C., Møller, K., Pedersen, B.K., 2003. IL-6 enhances plasma IL-1ra, IL-10, and cortisol in humans. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism 285, E433-E437.

Stein, A., Panjwani, A., Sison, C., Rosen, L., Chugh, R., Metz, C., Bank, M., Bloom, O., 2013. Pilot study: elevated circulating levels of the proinflammatory cytokine macrophage migration inhibitory factor in patients with chronic spinal cord injury. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 94, 1498-1507.

Steiner, J., Walter, M., Gos, T., Guillemin, G.J., Bernstein, H.-G., Sarnyai, Z., Mawrin, C., Brisch, R., Bielau, H., zu Schwabedissen, L.M., 2011. Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus:

evidence for an immune-modulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? Journal of neuroinflammation 8, 94.

Stolp-Smith, K.A., Wainberg, M.C., 1999. Antidepressant exacerbation of spasticity. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 80, 339-342.

Su, Y., Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., Zhu, Z., Zhang, Q., Zhang, X., Wang, W., Gu, X., Guo, A., Wang, Y., 2017. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor activates inflammatory responses of astrocytes through interaction with CD74 receptor. Oncotarget 8, 2719.

Sun, X., Jones, Z.B., Chen, X.-m., Zhou, L., So, K.-F., Ren, Y., 2016. Multiple organ dysfunction and systemic inflammation after spinal cord injury: a complex relationship. Journal of neuroinflammation 13, 260.

Sun, Y., Wang, D., Salvadore, G., Hsu, B., Curran, M., Casper, C., Vermeulen, J., Kent, J.M., Singh, J., Drevets, W.C., 2017. The effects of interleukin-6 neutralizing antibodies on symptoms of depressed mood and anhedonia in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and multicentric Castleman's disease. Brain, behavior, and immunity 66, 156-164.

Takeuchi, H., 2010. Neurotoxicity by microglia: mechanisms and potential therapeutic strategy. Clinical and Experimental Neuroimmunology 1, 12-21.

Taliaz, D., Stall, N., Dar, D., Zangen, A., 2010. Knockdown of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in specific brain sites precipitates behaviors associated with depression and reduces neurogenesis. Molecular psychiatry 15, 80-92.

Tanaka, J., Fujita, H., Matsuda, S., Toku, K., Sakanaka, M., Maeda, N., 1997. Glucocorticoid-and mineralocorticoid receptors in microglial cells: the two receptors mediate differential effects of corticosteroids. Glia 20, 23-37. Tanaka, T., Narazaki, M., Kishimoto, T., 2014. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology 6, a016295.

Tang, D., Kang, R., Van Houten, B., Zeh, H.J., Billiar, T.R., Lotze, M.T., 2014. High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) phenotypic role revealed with stress. Molecular Medicine 20, 359-362.

Tierney, T., Patel, R., Stead, C.A., Leng, L., Bucala, R., Buckingham, J.C., 2005. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor is released from pituitary folliculo-stellate-like cells by endotoxin and dexamethasone and attenuates the steroid-induced inhibition of interleukin 6 release. Endocrinology 146, 35-43.

Todd, J.L., Worell, J., 2000. Resilience in low-income, employed, African American women. Psychology of Women Quarterly 24, 119-128.

Tough, H., Siegrist, J., Fekete, C., 2017. Social relationships, mental health and wellbeing in physical disability: a systematic review. BMC public health 17, 414.

Tramonti, F., Gerini, A., Stampacchia, G., 2014. Individualised and health-related quality of life of persons with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 52, 231.

Tsai, I.-H., Graves, D.E., Chan, W., Darkoh, C., Lee, M.-S., Pompeii, L.A., 2017. Environmental barriers and social participation in individuals with spinal cord injury. Rehabilitation psychology 62, 36.

Uher, R., Tansey, K.E., Dew, T., Maier, W., Mors, O., Hauser, J., Dernovsek, M.Z., Henigsberg, N., Souery, D., Farmer, A., 2014. An inflammatory biomarker as a differential predictor of outcome of depression treatment with escitalopram and nortriptyline. American Journal of Psychiatry 171, 1278-1286.

Ulndreaj, A., Badner, A., Fehlings, M.G., 2017. Promising neuroprotective strategies for traumatic spinal cord injury with a focus on the differential effects among anatomical levels of injury. F1000Research 6.

Unemura, K., Kume, T., Kondo, M., Maeda, Y., Izumi, Y., Akaike, A., 2012. Glucocorticoids decrease astrocyte numbers by reducing glucocorticoid receptor expression in vitro and in vivo. Journal of pharmacological sciences 119, 30-39.

Waeber, G., Calandra, T., Bonny, C., Bucala, R., 1999. A role for the endocrine and proinflammatory mediator MIF in the control of insulin secretion during stress. Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews 15, 47-54.

Wang, C.X., Reece, C., Wrathall, J.R., Shuaib, A., Olschowka, J.A., Hao, C., 2002. Expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha and its mRNA in the spinal cord following a weight-drop injury. Neuroreport 13, 1391-1393.

Wang, P., Wu, P., Siegel, M.I., Egan, R.W., Billah, M.M., 1994. IL-10 inhibits transcription of cytokine genes in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. The Journal of Immunology 153, 811-816.

Wang, S.-Y., Duan, K.-M., Tan, X.-F., Yin, J.-Y., Mao, X.-Y., Zheng, W., Wang, C.-Y., Yang, M., Peng, C., Zhou, H.-H., 2017. Genetic variants of the kynurenine-3monooxygenase and postpartum depressive symptoms after cesarean section in Chinese women. Journal of Affective Disorders 215, 94-101.

Waterhouse, E.G., An, J.J., Orefice, L.L., Baydyuk, M., Liao, G.-Y., Zheng, K., Lu, B., Xu, B., 2012. BDNF promotes differentiation and maturation of adult-born neurons through GABAergic transmission. Journal of Neuroscience 32, 14318-14330.

Weber, M.D., Frank, M.G., Sobesky, J.L., Watkins, L.R., Maier, S.F., 2013. Blocking tolllike receptor 2 and 4 signaling during a stressor prevents stress-induced priming of neuroinflammatory responses to a subsequent immune challenge. Brain, behavior, and immunity 32, 112-121.

Williams, R., Murray, A., 2015. Prevalence of depression after spinal cord injury: a metaanalysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 96, 133-140.

Wood, S.K., Wood, C.S., Lombard, C.M., Lee, C.S., Zhang, X.-Y., Finnell, J.E., Valentino, R.J., 2015. Inflammatory factors mediate vulnerability to a social stressinduced depressive-like phenotype in passive coping rats. Biological psychiatry 78, 38-48.

Wu, J., Stoica, B.A., Luo, T., Sabirzhanov, B., Zhao, Z., Guanciale, K., Nayar, S.K., Foss, C.A., Pomper, M.G., Faden, A.I., 2014a. Isolated spinal cord contusion in rats induces chronic brain neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration, and cognitive impairment: Involvement of cell cycle activation. Cell cycle 13, 2446-2458.

Wu, J., Zhao, Z., Sabirzhanov, B., Stoica, B.A., Kumar, A., Luo, T., Skovira, J., Faden, A.I., 2014b. Spinal cord injury causes brain inflammation associated with cognitive and affective changes: role of cell cycle pathways. Journal of Neuroscience 34, 10989-11006. Xu, J., Fan, G., Chen, S., Wu, Y., Xu, X.M., Hsu, C.Y., 1998. Methylprednisolone inhibition of TNF-α expression and NF-kB activation after spinal cord injury in rats. Molecular brain research 59, 135-142.

Xu, T., Pu, S., Ni, Y., Gao, M., Li, X., Zeng, X., 2018. Elevated plasma macrophage migration inhibitor factor as a risk factor for the development of post-stroke depression in ischemic stroke. Journal of neuroimmunology 320, 58-63.

Yan, P., Xu, J., Li, Q., Chen, S., Kim, G.-M., Hsu, C.Y., Xu, X.M., 1999. Glucocorticoid receptor expression in the spinal cord after traumatic injury in adult rats. Journal of Neuroscience 19, 9355-9363.

Yang, L., Jones, N.R., Blumbergs, P.C., Van Den Heuvel, C., Moore, E.J., Manavis, J., Sarvestani, G.T., Ghabriel, M.N., 2005. Severity-dependent expression of proinflammatory cytokines in traumatic spinal cord injury in the rat. Journal of clinical neuroscience 12, 276-284.

Yang, Z., Bramlett, H.M., Moghieb, A., Yu, D., Wang, P., Lin, F., Bauer, C., Selig, T.M., Jaalouk, E., Weissman, A.S., 2018. Temporal profile and severity correlation of a panel of rat spinal cord injury protein biomarkers. Molecular neurobiology 55, 2174-2184.

Yoshimura, R., Hori, H., Ikenouchi-Sugita, A., Umene-Nakano, W., Ueda, N., Nakamura, J., 2009. Higher plasma interleukin-6 (IL-6) level is associated with SSRI-or SNRI-refractory depression. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 33, 722-726.

You, Z., Luo, C., Zhang, W., Chen, Y., He, J., Zhao, Q., Zuo, R., Wu, Y., 2011. Pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines expression in rat's brain and spleen exposed to chronic mild stress: involvement in depression. Behavioural brain research 225, 135-141.

Young, W., KUME-KICK, J., Constantini, S., 1994. Glucocorticoid Therapy of Spinal Cord Injury a. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 743, 241-263. Zalli, A., Jovanova, O., Hoogendijk, W., Tiemeier, H., Carvalho, L., 2016. Low-grade inflammation predicts persistence of depressive symptoms. Psychopharmacology 233, 1669-1678.

Zhang, C., Zhang, W., Zhang, J., Jing, Y., Yang, M., Du, L., Gao, F., Gong, H., Chen, L., Li, J., 2018. Gut microbiota dysbiosis in male patients with chronic traumatic complete spinal cord injury. Journal of translational medicine 16, 353.

Zhao, Y., Ma, R., Shen, J., Su, H., Xing, D., Du, L., 2008. A mouse model of depression induced by repeated corticosterone injections. European journal of pharmacology 581, 113-120.

Zhu, C.-B., Blakely, R.D., Hewlett, W.A., 2006. The proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha activate serotonin transporters. Neuropsychopharmacology 31, 2121.

Zhu, C.-B., Lindler, K.M., Owens, A.W., Daws, L.C., Blakely, R.D., Hewlett, W.A., 2010. Interleukin-1 receptor activation by systemic lipopolysaccharide induces behavioral despair linked to MAPK regulation of CNS serotonin transporters. Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 2510.

Zürcher, C., Tough, H., Fekete, C., Group, S.S., 2019. Mental health in individuals with spinal cord injury: The role of socioeconomic conditions and social relationships. PloS one 14, e0206069.